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the lynas vision is to become the leader 
in Rare earths for a sustainable future.

this vision lives through our people 
and the way we do business.

Shared values and a culture which 
unlocks the potential of our people 
are fundamental to our success.

this is the Lynas Way. 
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care1 /ke (r)/ handle with care: responsibility; guardianship; 
supervision; protection; carefulness; heed; heedfulness; attention; 
attentiveness; judiciousness; forethought; thought; regard; 
mindfulness; accuracy; precision; consideration; regard; solicitous; 
serious attention or thought; be responsible for; look after.

Safety is the basis of how we care for 
our people and our communities. We 
think, talk and act safely. Lynas cares 
by protecting our environment and 
building sustainable relationships with our 
communities. We succeed by encouraging 
our people to reach their full potential.

CARE

2.

1.

3.

1. Plants near the Mount 
Weld Concentration 
Plant in Laverton, WA

2. Safety signs at the Mount 
Weld Concentration Plant, WA

3. Students from the Akademi Menara 
Gading Balok at a workshop 
conducted by Lynas representatives 
on protecting the environment
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1. Lynas Malaysia staff participate 
in a community clean-up

2. Members of the Lynas management 
team: Pol Le-Roux, VP Sales & 
Marketing; Gill Kidson, GM IT; 
Eric Noyrez, President & COO

3. WA Premier, The Hon. Colin Barnett 
MLA and Lynas Executive Chairman, 
Nicholas Curtis at the Concentration 
Plant opening ceremony

4. Members of the Mount Weld 
Concentration Plant team on-site

respect1 /ri’spekt/ they respected our privacy: have regard for; 
observe; be mindful of; be heedful of; consideration; attention; 
treat with consideration; to hold in esteem or honour; to show 
regard or consideration for; to respect someone’s rights; to refrain 
from intruding upon or interfering with.

Respect is central to how we conduct 
our business and relate to each other. 
At Lynas we value our differences and take 
pride in making things happen. We respect 
our history and celebrate our success. 
We do what we say we will do.

RESPECT

3.

4.

2.

1.
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relationships1 /ri-ley-shuhn-ship/ ConneCtIon: 
association; link; correlation; correspondence; parallel; alliance; 
bond; interrelation; interconnection; a connection, association, or 
involvement; connection between persons; an emotional or other 
connection between people.

Relationships underpin our success. At 
Lynas we recognise that teamwork drives 
our performance and that teams thrive on 
inspiring leadership. We care for and support 
each other and are focussed on delivering 
outcomes for our customers.

RELATIONSHIPS

1.

2..

3. 4.

1. Sojitz and Lynas sign a 
Strategic Alliance Agreement

2. Lynas Director Liam Forde 
with Wongatha Elder Mr Aubrey 
Lynch at the Concentration 
Plant opening ceremony

3. Lynas staff and community 
representatives at a Lynas 
event in Malaysia

4. Lynas staff members 
at an annual lunch
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integrity1 /in-teg-ri-tee/ I never doubted his integrity: honesty, 
probity, rectitude, honour, good character, principle(s), ethics, morals, 
righteousness, morality, virtue, decency, fairness, scrupulousness, 
sincerity, truthfulness, trustworthiness. The integrity of the federation: 
unity, unification, coherence, cohesion, togetherness, solidarity. 
The structural integrity of the aircraft: soundness, strength, sturdiness, 
solidity, durability, stability, stoutness, toughness.

We hold integrity as a core commitment. At 
Lynas we communicate openly and honestly 
with each other and our communities. We 
trust each other and admit and learn from our 
mistakes. Our stand for integrity is what allows us 
to be truly innovative in the pursuit of our vision.

INTEGRITY

1. 2.

3.

4.

1. Lynas SHEC GM, Tony Duhne, 
at a workshop with students 
from the Akademi Menara 
Gading Balok

2. Mount Weld Concentration 
Plant at night

3. Rotary kiln (cracking) 
section of the LAMP

4. Laboratory analyst preparing 
fusion beads for Rare Earth analysis 
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courage /kur-ij/ BRAVeRY: the quality of mind or spirit that 
enables a person to face difficulty, danger, pain, etc., without fear; 
bravery; courageousness, valour, fearlessness, intrepidity, nerve, 
daring, boldness, grit, true grit, hardihood, heroism, gallantry.

We are passionate about what we do and 
boldly find new ways to succeed. At Lynas we 
embrace breakthrough thinking and imagine 
our future. We aspire to great things and have 
the courage to succeed in building a global 
Rare Earths business.

COURAGE

1.

2.

3.

1. Lynas Directors Liam Forde and 
Nicholas Curtis with Company 
Secretary Andrew Arnold 
during a Board meeting

2. Lynas Malaysia Managing 
Director Dato’ Mashal Ahmad 
at a community briefing

3. Leaching, Up and Downstream 
Separation, and Product 
Finishing Workshops at the LAMP
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the lynas values of care, respect, relationships, 
integrity and courage guide our decision 
making every day. they provide certainty for 
our people and give us a shared understanding 
about expectations. these values have been 
developed over the last two years and reflect 
who we are and what we stand for. 

Shared values, ONE VISION.
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executive Chairman’s Report

We are close to realising the world’s first new integrated supply 
source of Rare Earths outside of China. We are fully funded, not 
only to first revenue in early 2012, but also for a doubling of plant 
capacity to 22,000 tonnes per annum by calendar year 2013. 

Importantly, we have commenced production at Mount Weld with 
the successful commissioning of the Concentration Plant near 
Laverton in Western Australia in May, 2011. The Plant was officially 
opened on 4 August, 2011 by the Hon. Colin Barnett, Premier of 
Western Australia, with traditional land owners, local community 
members, employees and customers sharing in this significant 
milestone. The Plant is performing above expectations and will 
provide Rare Earths concentrate for processing and separation 
at the Lynas Advanced Materials Plant (LAMP) in Malaysia. 

Meanwhile, we have established our credentials with major 
industrial end users of Rare Earths and developed key, strategic 
alliances to ensure that long term distribution and sales of 
forthcoming offtake are assured. Our customer contract portfolio 
was strengthened through the Strategic Alliance Agreement with 
Sojitz Corporation and other major customer agreements signed 
during the course of the year. These agreements are a source of 
clear competitive advantage. We will continue to engage with 
our customers to ensure that we are in a position to secure their 
future needs in the supply of high quality Rare Earth elements, 
so they may confidently develop the technologies of the future. 
We well understand our customers’ needs for the safe, reliable and 
sustainable supply of Rare Earth elements, and we are most grateful 
for their confidence and ongoing support of our operations. 

Our products form the foundation elements for numerous 
new, green technologies – from wind turbines, hybrid cars and 
automotive catalytic converters, to LED touch screens and compact 
fluorescent light bulbs. We play a pivotal role in assuring technology 
developers and manufacturers of reliable and secure long-term 
supply of Rare Earths into the future. By investing in an integrated 
supply chain, and partnering with customers in sustainable practices, 
we will grow our share of the global Rare Earths market. 

At the same time, we are always seeking to expand the quality 
of our resource base. Over the past year, Lynas completed the 
acquisition of the fully-permitted Kangankunde Rare Earths 
resource in Malawi, Africa and increased the estimated resource 
size of Mount Weld by 19.4%, including the Duncan deposit. 
Mount Weld remains the world’s richest source of Rare Earths, 
with over 1.4 million tonnes of Rare Earths Oxide (REO) at a grade 
of 8.1%. Subsequent to year-end, we also announced important 
drilling results at Mount Weld that highlight we have the high 
grade resource to be a crucial and valued supplier of Rare Earths 
globally long into the future. 

During the year we actively engaged with our stakeholders 
and communities, listening carefully and seeking to develop 
meaningful and informed dialogue on the facts about Rare Earths 
and the impact of our operations. We have faced substantial 
challenges. In Malaysia, the community expressed deep concern 

over the perceived hazard and environmental risk of the LAMP, 
located in the Gebeng Industrial Estate in the eastern state of 
Pahang. Concerns about the project escalated quickly following 
the tragic events of Fukushima, Japan in March 2011. This gave 
rise to a deep misunderstanding and misperceptions about the 
nature of our raw material and processing operations, including 
the potential for contamination to air and water. 

Responding appropriately to these concerns, the Malaysian 
Government requested the International Atomic Energy Agency 
(IAEA) form an independent expert mission to review the project. 

On 30 June, 2011 the IAEA completed its mission and released 
its report, confirming that the LAMP is safe and fully compliant 
with international standards. 

Lynas will always put community and 
operational safety first in everything we do.
Not only does the IAEA report confirm our compliance with all 
international standards, but importantly, that we have acted in 
accordance with our own values. 

The IAEA report specifically identified that in the face of 
unnecessary fears about public health and safety, Lynas 
should intensify its communication efforts to a broad range 
of constituencies. We acknowledge that notwithstanding early 
community outreach in 2009, we had not done enough to 
build community confidence. We moved swiftly to correct 
this, reaching out to more than 3500 local residents, villagers, 
community leaders and their families. We are now engaging in 
a long term conversation with the residents of Kuantan that will 
continue for the life of our plant. Together with our corporate 
social responsibility initiatives and exploring areas of shared value, 
this forms part of our overall social licence to operate. 

The Company’s current financial position at the end of the 
reporting period is sound. Finalisation of the Sojitz Alliance 
provides for US$225 million debt financing and a US$25 million 
equity placement for the acceleration of the Phase 2 expansion 
of the LAMP. Our pathway to growth is clear and exciting. 

Despite an uncertain economic outlook, the past year has seen 
unprecedented developments in the global market for Rare 
Earths. In July 2010, China announced a significant reduction in 
its export quota and a crackdown on illegal mining of Rare Earths. 
We believe this reflects China’s desire to bring to an end the era 
of unsustainable Rare Earths production. That era, characterised 
by low costs of production and low prices, comes at a huge cost 
in terms of long-lasting environmental damage, especially in the 
northern and southern regions of China. We believe we are moving 
into a world of sustainably higher Rare Earths prices both inside 
and outside China, and we are in an excellent position to leverage 
that position as we move into production in the coming months. 

There has been a structural change in our industry, and this 
change will underpin the outlook for Lynas for years to come. 

Over the past year we have made significant 
progress in our journey to become the global 
leader in Rare Earths for a sustainable future.

8



None of this will be achieved without the hard work, conviction and dedication of our people. During 
the year there have been times when our employees have performed under considerable pressure 
and the Board is most grateful for their efforts. In particular, we recognise that our Kuantan-based 
employees have come under intense personal pressure in the face of misinformation and misperceptions 
about our plant.

I want to sincerely thank our people for their continued commitment 
and belief in our journey together. 
I would also like to thank the whole team at Lynas for their efforts during this eventful year and I 
particularly extend my gratitude to my fellow Board members for their ongoing counsel and guidance. 
They provide a resource of wisdom and experience essential in these challenging and sometimes 
difficult times. 

Our journey to this point has been more than 10 years in the making. In that time, Lynas has built up 
considerable expertise, processes, knowledge and assets leaving us in an enviable position as we cross 
the threshold from development to production of Rare Earths in the near future. We have remained 
true to our vision and values and continue to strive to ensure long-term value for our shareholders.

 
Nicholas Curtis AM 
Executive Chairman
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EMPLOYEES

96

11 10

270

Up 181% 
from last year

ALLIANCES

 Rhodia Group – a Technical Cooperation 
Agreement signed with Rhodia to support 
operational planning, commissioning and ramp-up 
of the Advanced Material plant.

 Sojitz Corporation – a Strategic Alliance 
Agreement signed with Sojitz to secure additional 
supply of Rare earths products for the Japanese 
market by accelerating the expansion of the lynas 
Rare earths project.

 Siemens Drive Technologies Division 
– a Letter of Intent signed with Siemens to 
establish a joint venture company to secure 
a long-term and sustainable end-to-end supply 
chain from mine to magnet to end application.

Lynas
At A GlAnCe

CUSTOMER AGREEMENTS1

 Supply Contract signed with Rhodia 
long-term; for multiple applications

 Supply Contract 
 long-term; for magnets

 Supply Contract with BASF 
long-term; for FCC

 Letter of Intent  
long-term; for niMH batteries

 Supply Contract 
long-term; for polishing powders

 Supply Contract 
long-term; for multiple applications

 Supply Contract 
Multi-year; for auto-catalyts

 Supply Contract 
long-term; for auto-catalysts

 Letter of Intent 
long-term; for magnets

MINERAL  
RESOURCE
Total Mt Weld 
estimate increased 
to 17,490kt at 8.1% 
– a new contained 
REO of 1,416kt

AVERAGE  
BASKET PRICE
For Mt Weld was 
US$173.20/kg 
REO, FOB China, 
as at Q2 2011

1. As at 30 June 2011.
2. As announced on 30 September 2011.10



WESTERN 
AUSTRALIA SYDNEY

MALAWI

KUANTAN

13

37

167

52

BEIjINg
1

WHAT ARE RARE EARTHS?
Rare earths are a unique group of 15 chemical 
elements in the periodic table known as the 
lanthanide series, plus yttrium. their versatile 
yet specific metallurgical, chemical, catalytic, 
electrical, magnetic and optical properties 
have given them a level of technological, 
environmental and economic importance.

Nd

Gd Ho

Yb

Ce Sm

Tb

Er Lu

Pr

Eu Dy

Tm Y

LaLOST TIME 
INJURY FREE
5 million hours 
LTI free achieved 
for construction of 
the LAMP2

DEBT & EQUITY 
FUNDING 
PACKAGE
US$250m received 
to be used to fund 
phase 2 of LAMP 
expansion

MAP KEY

 Customer Agreements

 Alliances

 Employees by location
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the Year in Review

This past year marks a number exceptional 
milestones for the Company with the signing 
of a Strategic Alliance with Sojitz Corporation; 
the completion of settlement formalities for the 
purchase of the Kangankunde Rare Earths Deposit 
(KGK) in Malawi; the successful commissioning and 
operational commencement of the Concentration 
Plant at Mount Weld; and the signing of a Letter 
of Intent (LOI) with Siemens Drive Technologies 
Division, to establish a Joint Venture (JV) company 
for the sustainable production of neodymium 
based Rare Earths magnets. 

Construction of the Lynas Advanced Materials 
Plant (LAMP) in Malaysia is nearing completion, 
and an independent panel of international experts 
from the International Atomic Energy Agency 
(IAEA) confirmed that the LAMP is expected to 
be safe and fully compliant with international 
standards. 

Implementation of recommendations in the 
IAEA report provides a conclusive pathway 
towards regulatory approvals for the LAMP 
pre-operating license. 

IAEA INDEPENDENT ExPERT REVIEW 
In response to community concerns, the 
Malaysian Minister of International Trade and 
Industry appointed the IAEA to conduct a review 
of the health, safety and environmental aspects 
of the LAMP. 

The review panel visited Malaysia from late May 
to early June 2011 and its report was officially 
released by Malaysian Government on 30 June 
2011. The IAEA report confirmed the LAMP is 
expected to be safe and fully compliant with 
international standards. 

A full copy of the report was released to the 
public and is available on the IAEA’s website. 

The pre-operational license for the LAMP remains 
subject to final regulatory approval; however 
there is now a conclusive path forward following 
the release of the report and the Malaysian 
Government’s clear announcement of its intent 
to implement, in full, the 11 recommendations 
contained within the report. 

Lynas fully supports the Malaysian Government’s 
decision to implement this important review 
and its recommendations. 

A status update on implementation of the 
IAEA recommendations is contained in the 
Sustainability section of this report. 

SOJITz – JOGMEC TRANSACTION 
During the year, Lynas was pleased to conclude 
the Strategic Alliance with Sojitz Corporation 
(Sojitz) to secure additional supply of rare earths 
product for the Japanese market by accelerating 
the expansion of the capacity of the LAMP to 
22,000 tonnes of Rare Earths Oxide (REO) per 
annum by calendar year 2013. 

Sojitz and Lynas executed binding financing, 
distribution, agency and availability agreements 
on 30 March 2011. The agreements with Sojitz 
specifically provide for: 

•	 The allocation of a minimum of 8,500 tonnes 
(+/-) 500 tonnes) per annum of Rare Earths 
products to the Japanese market over a period 
of 10 years; 

•	 The joint marketing and distribution of a 
minimum of 8,500 tonnes (+/- 500 tonnes) 
of Rare Earths products in Japan; 

•	 The provision of a loan facility (the SPC Loan 
Facility) for US$225 million to be provided 
by a special purpose company established 
by Sojitz and the Japan Oil, Gas and Metals 
National Corporation (JOGMEC); and 

•	 The subscription by the SPC for US$25 million 
of new fully paid ordinary shares in Lynas at a 
price of A$2.12 per share (the SPC Placement). 

Lynas is using proceeds from the SPC Loan 
facility and the SPC Placement to fund Phase 2 
of the project. Proceeds of a fully underwritten 
Institutional Placement of new shares, and an 
underwritten share purchase plan will fund any 
additional expenditures which may arise. 

The Lynas strategy is to create a reliable, fully 
integrated source of Rare Earths from mine through to 
market and to become the benchmark for the security 
of supply and environmental standards in the global 
Rare Earths industry.

SAFE & FULLY 
COMPLIANT
the IAeA confirms 
lAMp meets with 
International 
standards

SIEMENS 
JOINT 
VENTURE
For sustainable 
production of 
nd magnets

SOJITZ 
ALLIANCE
Confirms funding 
for lAMp phase 2

KEY  
HIGHLIGHTS:
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SIEMENS MAGNET JOINT VENTURE 
Shortly after the end of the financial year, Lynas announced the signing of a letter of Intent (LOI) with Siemens Drive 
Technologies Division, the world’s leading supplier of entire drive trains with electrical and mechanical components, 
to establish a Joint Venture (JV) company for the sustainable production of neodymium based Rare Earths magnets. 

The JV will be led by Siemens with the planned shareholding of the JV to be 55% Siemens and 45% Lynas. Lynas 
anticipates that it will provide raw materials, predominantly a combined neodymium/praseodymium metal, through 
a long term supply contract. The JV magnets will serve Siemens’ production requirements for energy efficient 
applications, mainly for wind turbine generators. 

Siemens and Lynas are now working towards incorporation of the JV by the end of 2011 with initial production targeted 
for 2013, enabling the JV company to provide a secure, long-term and sustainable supply chain for the growth of new 
end market applications.

WESTERN AUSTRALIA OPERATIONS 
This year marked an exceptional milestone for Lynas with the successful commissioning and operational start up of 
the Mount Weld Concentration Plant. Rare Earths concentrate, the first step in our production process, is now being 
produced at Mount Weld in accordance with REO grade and recovery design specifications. 

The final phase of plant construction, commissioning, ore crushing and a near pit exploration program at Mount Weld 
were all achieved with an excellent safety performance. 

Mount Weld remains a lost time injury free site. 

Concurrent with the final phase of construction, a crushing contractor was engaged to crush and screen sufficient 
ore to allow 12 months of plant operations. Meanwhile, ore from the mine has been stockpiled separately according 
to grade, and the plant now has the utmost capability to optimise the feed blend of ore required to achieve the 
desired grade of concentrate. 

1.

3.

2.

1. Aerial view of the Mount Weld Concentration Plant
2. At the signing of the Lynas-Sojitz Strategic Alliance Agreement
3. Japan’s Ambassador to Australia, His Excellency Shigekazu Sato,  

at the Mount Weld Concentration Plant opening ceremony
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The Mount Weld facility is the first Rare Earths 
Concentration Plant in Australia, and we have 
resourced the operation with a highly capable and 
skilled operations and maintenance workforce, 
adequately prepared to operate this kind of plant. 

First feed of ore to the ball mill commenced on 
14 May 2011. The initial operating strategy for 
the plant is to run on a continuous basis for eight 
days followed by a six-day shut-down. As a result, 
Lynas has two operating shifts of 12 hours each, 
and maintenance and plant improvement works 
are conducted during planned shut-down periods. 

This strategy enables the operating team to 
quickly implement required improvements and 
enhance efficiency of the circuit. At the end of 
the financial year, three production cycles of 
eight days were successfully completed. 

As at September 2011, plant output levels 
exceeded plan and Rare Earths Oxide (REO) 
recovery rates were tracking approximately 
three months ahead of expectation. 

Rare Earths concentrate is currently being 
stockpiled at Mount Weld ready for export. 

Concentration Plant production rates are being 
closely monitored to ensure recruitment of the 
remaining workforce is complete and ready to 
support two additional processing shifts required 
for continuous plant operations. This will ensure 
sufficient quantities of concentrate are available 
to supply to the LAMP in both its initial and 
future throughput requirements. 

A detailed feasibility study for the expansion of 
the Concentration Plant to double its capacity 
has been prepared. The tender for engineering, 
procurement, construction (EPC) contract 
services at Mount Weld is expected to be 
finalised before the end of 2011. 

Lynas aims to have expanded concentrate 
production on stream by the end of 2012. Work 
for the required regulatory approvals associated 
with the plant expansion has commenced. 

In June 2011, Lynas completed an extension 
drilling campaign at Mount Weld with the 
purpose of extending the in-situ resource. A total 
of 154 holes, representing a total of 9,561 metres, 
were drilled as part of this campaign. 

Sampling of drill holes was completed in July 
2011, and early assay results were received 
for the southern-most holes. The results 
were encouraging; all holes to date have had 
intersections above 2.5% REO with better 
intersections including 60 metres at 12.36% 
REO, 43.5 metres at 11.3% REO, 44 metres at 
10.3% REO, and 67 metres at 9.07% REO. Within 
these intervals are a number of shorter intervals 
above 15% REO. 

A full interpretation of the drill results and an 
update on the Lynas ore reserve will be provided 
to the market in late 2011. 

MALAySIA OPERATIONS 
The Malaysian Operations team grew 
significantly in the past year and the total 
number of staff at the end of the financial 
year stood at 167. All key positions across 
the different business units have been filled, 
and the staff turnover rate over the past year 
was a commendable low of 2%. 

The Lynas Malaysian team has retained and 
attracted skilled and experienced staff despite 
negative publicity at the LAMP. Our policy is 
to recruit from within the local communities 
in which we operate where possible and create 
a fully Malaysian team. The local community 
has responded warmly to employment 
opportunities. 

All commissioning and start-up activities 
have advanced well in preparation for 
the commissioning of the LAMP. Progress 
of these activities is tracked through the 
Ready for Start-up (RFSU) program. All 
RFSU projects are tracking in accordance 
with the intended schedule. 

As at the end of June 2011, 64 RFSU projects were 
complete and 66 were in progress for delivery. 

All operating procedures and manuals have been 
completed in line with industry best practice. 
A team of highly experienced local and expatriate 
employees have been engaged to complete these 
materials, which are used in training personnel 
who will be involved in the commissioning and 
start-up of the plant. 

All sourcing arrangements for chemicals 
and reagents are in place. 

the Year in Review continued

SUCCESSFUL 
START UP
of Australia’s 
first Rare earths 
Concentration 
plant 

LOST TIME 
INJURY FREE
Mount Weld 
maintains 
its excellent 
safety record

KEY  
MILESTONES: 
WESTERN 
AUSTRALIA 
OPERATIONS

LAMP 
PHASE 2
Work commences 
for expansion to 
22,000t Reo

5 MILLION 
HOURS LTI 
FREE
Achieved at the  
lynas Advanced 
Materials plant

KEY  
MILESTONES: 
MALAYSIA 
OPERATIONS

READY FOR 
START UP
All RFSu 
projects tracking 
to schedule
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The sourcing of Rare Earth carbonates and oxides for pre-loading is complete and these feedstocks are awaiting 
delivery to site as of the end of the financial year. 

Sourcing of Personal Protective Equipment (PPE), commissioning tools and the handover of the radio system to site 
personnel is complete. 

Lynas has finalised arrangements with Rhodia Group to bring highly skilled and experienced technical staff on site 
in support of commissioning and start-up of the LAMP. It is envisaged that their valuable assistance in start-up and 
pre-loading will assist Lynas to achieve greater efficiency in plant stabilisation and timely production of on-spec 
product for customers. 

Site contractor personnel have provided support to the LAMP project team in areas of authority approvals, resolution 
of engineering issues, quality assurance and control, inspection, testing, pre-commissioning and other areas of their 
expertise. The Process Control System (PCS) detailed design and factory testing has been successfully completed. 
Key members of the Malaysian Operations team are now stationed at the construction site office to participate 
directly in site activities.

The Finance module of the Enterprise Resource Planning (PRONTO) system was successfully implemented during 
the year, with other modules including the Maintenance, Production, and Supply Chain Management set to follow 
by the end of 2011. 

Mandatory staff training was conducted by the Department of Environment, Department of Safety and Health 
and the Atomic Energy Licensing Board during the year. 

1. 2.

3.

1. Aerial view of the LAMP
2. The start of the extension for Phase 2 of the LAMP
3. Blantyre (Lynas Africa) Office Manager, Chikondi Phiri
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Operations Overview continued

The Company acquired the PI Process Historian 
system to ensure that all operating data will 
be thoroughly documented. In addition to 
keeping a comprehensive data set of the plant 
parameters, this system will also facilitate process 
monitoring, trouble shooting and optimization 
initiatives of the LAMP. The Lab Management 
System (LIMS) was also acquired to manage 
laboratory analysis, which is paramount to 
ensuring quality and on-spec products are 
delivered to the customers’ requirements. 

With the commencement of activities for Phase 2 
expansion of the LAMP, the Malaysian Operations 
team is providing the necessary technical support 
to the project team and undertook the review of 
the Basic Engineering Design (BED) and Detailed 
Engineering Design (DED). The ongoing, intensive 
interface between site personnel and the project 
team will ensure successful business and physical 
asset integration to the current phase. 

In response to the IAEA review, the Malaysian 
Operations team has taken the necessary steps 
to comply with review recommendations and 
has been working closely with the authorities 
and other stakeholders to ensure the timely 
issuance of the pre-operating license by the 
Malaysian Atomic Energy Licensing Board (AELB). 

To further reinforce public confidence in the 
LAMP, two units of Aerosol Measuring System 
(AMS-02) were purchased and will be used to 
monitor the air quality around the plant and 
surrounding areas. 

The Malaysian Operations team has been 
actively involved in public communication to 
address the environmental and safety concerns 
of the community. Immediately following the 
announcement of the IAEA review findings, 
the team commenced a series of briefings 
for surrounding local communities. The team 
also engaged in positive dialogue with various 
organisations such as the Engineers Institute 
of Malaysia, Malaysia Academy of Science, 
Pahang Medical Association and the Malaysian 
Ministry of Health. 

In addition to international media briefings and 
an active presence in social media via Facebook, 
Twitter and YouTube, Lynas Malaysia Managing 
Director, Dato Haji Mashal Bin Ahmad made 
three appearances on prime television news 
in Malaysia, to specifically address misleading 
information and misperceptions about the LAMP. 

The LAMP project has been the subject of an 
extensive prime time special television series in 
Malaysia, compiled by internationally recognized 
environmental reporter Karam Singh Walia. 
This series interrogated the facts about Lynas, 
and provided positive news coverage on the 
radiological safety of the Lynas raw material 
and the LAMP. 

MALAWI OPErATIOnS 
Work has commenced on the Kangankunde 
project in Malawi. The site has been cleared and 
the on-site accommodation has been repaired 
and refurbished. An office in Blantyre has been 
established. 

Satellite photography and mapping were carried 
out over the concession area and environmental 
baseline data has been collected. 

An extensive drill program has been planned, 
aimed at not only confirming the existing 
resource estimate, but also to investigate the 
potential of expanding the resource, both along 
strike and at depth. 

Historical technical work has been consolidated 
and reviewed. A sample of the ore has been 
dispatched to the Malawi Department of Mines 
laboratory in Lilongwe for preliminary testing 
and production of bulk concentrate samples 
to allow the undertaking of cracking and solvent 
extraction test work. In addition, a metallurgical 
test work program has been finalized to 
confirm the viability of the previously defined 
concentration flow sheet. 

Planned work for the balance of 2011/2012 
includes completion of the roads required for 
drill access to site; commencement of the 6000 
metre drilling program; reopening of the old adit 
under the deposit to allow sample collection and 
mapping, as well as refurbishment of the on-site 
office and construction of a workshop.

KANGANKUNDE 
PURCHASE
Successfully 
completed 

KEY  
MILESTONE: 
MALAWI 
OPERATIONS

DRILL 
PROGRAM
To confirm the 
drill program is 
in preparation 

Kangankunde, Malawi

KGK
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Sustainability

The team at Lynas shares a strong set of 
values that include operating in a safe and 
environmentally responsible manner and 
to always respect and contribute to the 
communities in which we live and work. 

We are dedicated to zero Harm. Care and 
wellbeing of our people, our business partners, 
the environment and the communities in which 
we operate are our top priorities. 

During the year, our activities primarily focussed 
on the safe commissioning of the Mount Weld 
Concentration Plant in Western Australia and 
the construction of the LAMP in Kuantan, 
Malaysia. 

The safety and environmental performance of our 
contractors, who as a pre-requisite for working 
with Lynas share our commitment to zero harm 
and contributing towards sustainable development, 
was commendable. Together we achieved zero 
lost time injuries (LTI) and had no significant 
environmental incidents during the year. 

In May 2011, both the Western Australian 
Department of Mines and Petroleum and the 
Western Australian Department of Environment and 
Conservation issued licences for Lynas to commence 
operations at the Mount Weld Concentration Plant. 
The Mount Weld Operations Team maintains its 
zero LTI safety record. A number of minor injuries, 
hazards and near miss incidents were reported, 
confirming a mature safety culture exists on site 
and provides the team with valuable opportunities 
to share lessons learned and prevent the occurrence 
of similar incidents in future. 

In September 2011, the LAMP project achieved 
5 million hours worked, lost time injury free. 
This is a significant safety milestone given the 
location and scale of activities on site. 

RISK MANAGEMENT
The Lynas Risk Management and Safety, Health, 
Environment and Community (SHEC) Committee 
met on two occasions in December, 2010 and June, 
2011, ensuring appropriate governance over the 
Company’s construction activities and adequate 
preparation for the safe and environmentally 
responsible start-up of our operations. 

Non-Executive Director, Dr ziggy Switkowski was 
appointed the Chairman of the Risk Management 
and SHEC Committee in May, 2011. 

Risk Management activities include the 
establishment of risk registers to capture and 
monitor the assessment, treatment and review 
of risks in Western Australia and Malaysia. 
In addition, a strategic register focussing 
on organisation-wide risks with a two to 
five year time horizon was established and 
regularly reviewed by the Lynas Leadership Team. 

Crisis response plans to minimise the adverse 
consequences of any incident to our people, 
our neighbours, the environment and the 
community were developed and rolled out across 
the business. Crisis simulations and exercises 
were conducted to ensure an effective response 
capability exists at a Corporate and site level. 
An internal standard, based on international 
standards for Process Hazard Analysis was 
also developed during the past financial year. 

BUSINESS ExCELLENCE
Lynas has recruited a number of qualified and 
experienced personnel in the areas of operational 
and industrial excellence, including safety, health 
and environmental management in recognition 
of their enduring role in helping to realise our 
vision and creating a culture of shared value. 

The Lynas Industrial Management Framework 
(MInd) was implemented during the year. This 
framework aims to convert the Lynas strategic 
vision to be the global leader in Rare Earths 
for a sustainable future into clear, accountable 
operational plans. To measure the success of these 
plans, a number of key performance indicators 
have been determined to ensure continuous 
improvement in our safety, environmental and 
operational performance over time. Internal 
management system standards were also reviewed 
to ensure close alignment with the requirements of 
international standards such as OSHAS 18001:2007 
Occupational Health and Safety Management 
Systems and ISO 14001:2004 Environmental 
Management Systems. We aim to have the Mount 
Weld Concentration Plant and the LAMP externally 
accredited to these international standards following 
a period of operation at full steady-state capacity. 

Lynas has embraced a strategic objective 
of creating shared value and contributing 
towards a sustainable future. 

ZERO HARM 
lynas will continually 
strive to achieve our 
goal of Zero Harm, 
focused on three 
key areas – Caring 
leadership, Safe 
Behaviour and the 
Continuous 
Improvement 
of Management 
Systems.

SUSTAINABLE 
DEVELOPMENT
lynas is committed 
to Sustainable 
Development. through 
our commitment, 
expertise and capacity 
for innovation we 
will continually 
explore and improve 
our contribution 
to Sustainable 
Development 
outcomes.
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Ce

Enhancing environmental protection...

Filters and reduces harmful 
car exhaust emissions.

Rare Earths used:
Cerium (CeO2)

AUTOMOTIVE
CATALYTIC
CONVERTER

Sustainability continued

Students from the Balok Ivory Tower Academic Programme

COMMUNITy SUPPORT
Lynas continues its sponsorship of the Balok Ivory Tower Academic Programme in Malaysia which 
assists local Kuantan students from underprivileged backgrounds gain placement at local universities. 
Representatives from the Company met with the students a number of times during the year to discuss 
environmental protection and ways to stay safe at home and at school. One outcome of these sessions is a 
commitment by students to implement a paper, plastic and aluminium recycling program in their classroom. 
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Nd
Uses natural wind energy 
to generate green zero 
emission electricity. 

WIND
TURBINE

Rare Earths used:
Neodymium (Nd2O3), Praseodymium (Pr6O11),  
Terbium (Tb4O7), Dysprosium (Dy2O3)

The Mount Weld Concentration Plant’s support of Laverton 
Community includes donations of clothing and toys to 
community organisations, and support for the local school 
in construction of a shade sail. Lynas facilitated a visit by 
inspirational, indigenous footballer David Wirrpanda to meet with 
local school students. A number of Lynas staff also assisted the 
local community during the Laverton floods of February 2011. 

Lynas made a sizeable donation to the Premier’s Disaster Relief 
Appeal to assist victims of the Queensland floods in January 2011. 
Lynas also matched employee donations to this appeal. 

IAEA RECOMMENDATIONS
Lynas fully supports the Malaysian Government in its decision to 
call on the International Atomic Energy Agency (IAEA) to conduct 
an independent review of the LAMP. The IAEA report, released on 
30 June 2011, confirms the LAMP, once completed later this year, is 
expected to be safe and fully compliant with international standards. 

The IAEA report made a number of additional recommendations. 
Some of these recommendations relate to Lynas actions, while 
others relate to Malaysian Government or regulatory body actions. 

Lynas is implementing, in full, the recommendations of the IAEA review. 

Lynas was required to submit to the Malaysian Atomic Energy 
Licensing Board (AELB) a plan setting out its intended approach 
to long term waste management, together with a safety case in 
support of such plan; a plan for managing the waste from the 
decommissioning and dismantling of the plant at the end of its 
life; and an updated Radiation Impact Assessment (RIA). 

The required plans and updated RIA were submitted to the AELB 
on 18 July, 2011 and the safety case submitted in September, 
2011. These submissions are a requirement of the pending award 
of a pre-operating license. The pre-operating license will enable 
Lynas to start and operate the LAMP to nameplate capacity. 

An additional recommendation of the IAEA urges Lynas to 
intensify its communications with interested and affected parties in 
order to demonstrate how it will ensure the radiological safety of the 
public and the environment, specifically noting that lack of information 
had caused members of the public to conduct their own searches 
for information, leading to misunderstanding and misperceptions 
as well as unnecessary fears for public health and safety. 

This represents a comprehensive and ongoing program 
of communications activities and outreach to a broad 
range of local, national and international stakeholders, 
constituencies and interests. 

As a priority, Lynas commenced its outreach and communications 
program with a briefing and site visit to the LAMP for 300 
residents of the Balok community, led by Dato Haji Mashal 
Ahmad, Director of Lynas Malaysia. This session was attended 
by Independent Director, Mr Liam Forde, together with Lynas 
Executive Vice President – People and Culture, Mr Glenn Barr. 

For the period up to and including 30 August, 2011, Lynas conducted 
face-to-face briefings, meetings and site visits with over 3500 local 
residents, villagers, community leaders and their families. 

In addition to the IAEA recommendations, the AELB and Lynas 
have agreed to complete a baseline health study for the Balok 
community in Gebeng. The baseline health study, in addition to the 
standard practice monitoring of the Lynas operational workforce, 
may be used by the local community in the future to reaffirm the 
LAMP shall not affect the health of employees or the community. 

RECyCLE AND REUSE
To ensure the long-term sustainability of the LAMP, Lynas is 
committed to convert by-products of its production – Synthetic 
Gypsum, Magnesium Rich Gypsum and Iron Phospho Gypsum – 
into safe, saleable industrial products. Research and development 
activities continued during the year with successful progress being 
reported to the Malaysian Atomic Energy Licencing Board and the 
Malaysian Department of Environment. 

As the world searches for a solution to the looming crisis of short 
supply in vital Rare Earth Elements, Lynas is setting new industry 
benchmarks in safety, environmental performance and shared 
value across the supply chain for a sustainable future. We will 
lead by example. We have the talent within, and skills to effect a 
significant change to the environmental performance of the Rare 
Earths industry. Our executive management and site operations 
teams comprise people with long-standing, global expertise in 
Rare Earths and industrial chemical processing, operating in a 
safe, sustainable and environmentally-aware culture. 

We are determined to re-shape the standards and perceptions 
of our industry.
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Cuts fuel use and captures 
energy from braking. Neo-magnets 
reduce vehicle weight and cut 
energy consumption.

HYBRID 
VEHICLE

Rare Earths used:
Lanthanum (La2O3), Neodymium (Nd2O3), Praseodymium 
(Pr6O11), Terbium (Tb4O7), Dysprosium (Dy2O3)

Improving energy efficiency...

Global Market Activity

Rare Earths prices have increased strongly in 
response to the sharp rebound in global demand 
following the global financial crisis. China enforced 
its restructuring plan addressing environmental 
issues, smuggling and illegal mining leading to 
an overall decrease of Rare Earths availability 
and further restrictions on its Rare Earths exports. 
This put pressure on non-Chinese Rare Earths 
consumers to find new sources of supply to 
meet growing end product demand. 

GLOBAL DEMAND 
The chemical properties of Rare Earths differ 
from the main group of elements in the 
periodic table due to their unique electron 
configuration. These properties are critical to the 
many applications that utilise Rare Earths and are 
the reason why there are no substitutes for these 
elements for most applications. 

Catalytic Properties 
Environmental catalysts are primarily used to 
control pollutant emissions from automotive 
engines. Tougher emissions legislation around 
the world has driven demand growth by 10% per 
annum in recent years. This is expected to continue 
as the impending legislation continues to grow 
the auto-catalyst market beyond normal vehicle 
growth. In addition, the legislative umbrella is 

covering an increasingly wide selection of vehicles, 
such as trucks, buses and non-road machinery, 
all of which will add to future growth. Cerium is 
the main Rare Earth element used in auto-catalysts. 
Cerium balances the oxygen environment within 
the catalyst for optimal performance and also 
provides high temperature stability which allows 
the auto-catalyst to operate more efficiently. 

The main petroleum catalyst for the production 
of fuels and other petroleum derivatives is used 
in a process known as Fluid Catalytic Cracking 
(FCC). Due to strong demand from the gasoline 
and petrochemical market, petroleum catalysts are 
forecast to grow at 4% per annum through to 2020. 
Lanthanum stabilises the molecular sieve used in the 
FCC process which increases the life of the catalyst 
and increases oil refinery yields by approximately 
7% per annum. To put a 7% yield benefit into 
perspective, US$500 million of lanthanum sales into 
the FCC application creates approximately US$150 
billion in yield benefit for the refineries globally. 

Magnetic Properties 
The neodymium Rare Earths magnets market 
is forecast to grow rapidly at 10% per annum 
through to 2020. Rare Earths magnets are 
used in most computer hard disk drives, audio 
speakers, air conditioning compressors, electric 
motors and generators. Electric motors which 

Lynas is set to become the first new source of 
supply of Rare Earths outside China from 2012.

RARE EARTHS 
DIRECT
our Rare earths 
products will be 
sold under the Rare 
earths Direct (ReD) 
brand. We are set 
to make the brand 
a global benchmark 
for quality and 
demonstrated 
continuity of supply.
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Cuts energy use by up to 75% 
and lasts up to 7 years longer 
than incandescent bulbs.

COMPACT 
FLUORESCENT 
LIGHT

Rare Earths used:  
Yittrium (Y2O3), Europium (Eu2O3), Terbium (Tb4O7)

use Rare Earths magnets are smaller, lighter and more energy 
efficient than comparable electric motors with other magnets. 

One of the main growth applications for magnets is the hybrid 
and electrical cars, where the motors and generators using Rare 
Earth magnets allow for the miniaturisation of the batteries, 
hence substantially reducing the cost and weight of the car. 
Approximately two to three kilograms of Rare Earths are used in 
high strength Rare Earths magnets in a hybrid car. Analysts predict 
approximately an additional 10 million hybrid and electrical vehicles 
per annum will be produced by 2020, which would account for 
approximately 12% growth of the total magnet market. 

The new ‘Direct Drive’ technology of wind turbines is another 
key growth application for Rare Earths. This technology provides 
better yields particularly at low RPM (i.e. in light wind conditions), 
higher utilisation rates and lower maintenance costs compared 
to traditional technology using a gear box. Approximately two 
tonnes of Rare Earths are used in each wind turbine. This market 
segment is expected to account for approximately 30% of the 
total magnet growth from 2010 to 2020. 

Optical Properties 
Legislation around the world is being implemented to phase out 
the energy inefficient incandescent light bulb, replacing it with 
more energy efficient lighting systems, such as Trichromatic lamps. 
This market is forecast to grow at a rate of 7% per annum until 
2020. This technology is dependent upon a number of Rare Earths, 
especially europium, terbium, yttrium, lanthanum and cerium. 

Lanthanum is also used to improve glass refractive index, an 
important property for camera lens, which is a segment that 
experiences a very strong growth driven by digital cameras. 

Cerium addition in glass allows a strong reduction in UV 
transmission – an important property particularly for the 
automotive market as it reduces the heat from entering 
the automobile, hence allowing for better air conditioning. 

Metallurgical Properties 
Nickel Metal Hydride (NiMH) technology is used extensively in 
consumer electronics, the power tool market and hybrid vehicles. 

A state-of-the-art NiMH battery for a hybrid vehicle with the size 
and performance of the Toyota Prius, for example, uses between 
12 and 20 kilograms of Rare Earths, primarily lanthanum, cerium 
neodymium and praseodymium. 

Its proven reliability, cost advantage as well as safety issues 
regarding Lithium batteries, should secure strong growth for NiMH 
batteries until at least 2018 especially for the hybrid vehicles market. 

GLOBAL MARKET SIzE 
While the overall Rare Earths market recovered strongly after the 
global downturn in 2009, the sharp price rises generated by this 
sudden demand increase have triggered the implementation of 
some productivity improvements (mainly in Polishing and Magnet 
applications), reducing the demand for “fresh” Rare Earths by 
around 20 kilotonnes (kt). As a result, while the total demand 
for Rare Earths in 2011 is approximately 140kt, the demand for 
“fresh” Rare Earths is 120kt, which is slightly higher than before 
the global financial crisis. With these productivity improvements 
now fully deployed, the global demand is expected to continue to 
grow 5 to 10% per year through to 2020 to approximately 200kt. 

The Lynas market forecasts are derived by assembling the 
customer demand estimates within each application for the 
market outside China, combined with the data published by the 
China Rare Earths Information Centre for the market inside China. 
The market outside China currently represents around 42% (or 
50kt) of the total end demand, but is suffering from the current 
restriction on Chinese exports. Lynas however estimates that 
it could increase to up to 80-90kt by 2020 if quickly supported 
by a non-Chinese Rare Earths supply. 
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Miniaturisation of digital technology...

Rare Earths are used in the 
mechanisms for image stabilisation 
functions and also mounted in the 
actuators used for zoom functions.

Rare Earths used:
Neodymium (Nd2O3), Praseodymium (Pr6O11),  
Terbium (Tb4O7), Dysprosium (Dy2O3)

DIGITAL  
CAMERA

Global Market Activity continued
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GLOBAL SUPPLy 
Chinese companies continued to dominate global supply with 
over 90% of Rare Earths production. The main mine in China 
is the Bayun Obo mine near Baotou in Inner Mongolia. This 
is controlled by a large State-owned Enterprise (SOE), Baotou 
Iron and Steel, and produces approximately 55kt Rare Earths 
Oxide (REO) per annum. A second region is located in Sichuan 
province and is less consolidated. The Sichuan region has lower 
value resources and mining is now underground, as opposed 
to open pit mining. Sichuan has an estimated capacity of up 
to 20kt REO. The third Rare Earths producing region within 
China mines ‘ionic clay’ deposits. This region is known as 
the southern region as it comprises of Jiangxi, Guangdong, 
Hu’nan and Fujian provinces, and is where most of the “heavy” 
Rare Earths are produced. Europium, terbium, dysprosium 
and yttrium are the key heavy Rare Earths in demand 
today. Accurate production figures are unavailable due to 
the artisanal mining in this region; however it is estimated 
at approximately 40kt REO. 

PRODUCTION REGULATIONS IN CHINA 
The Chinese Government is striving to improve the 
environmental performance of the Chinese Rare Earths 
industry, which has received international media coverage for 
the environmental damage caused by illegal practices in China, 
particularly in the south of China. In May 2009, the government 
suspended applications for Rare Earths exploration and mining 
licenses until June 2011. This suspension has continued. In 2011, 
China’s Ministry of Land and Resources issued Rare Earths 
production quotas of 93.8kt on a REO basis (80.4kt of Light 
Rare Earths, 13.4kt of Heavy Rare Earths), which represents an 
increase of 5% from 2010 (4.4% for Light Rare Earths and 9.8% 
for Heavy Rare Earths). However, this official production target 
is significantly below the estimated market demand for 2011, 
with most of the gap being fulfilled by illegal mining. There are 
signs that the Chinese government intends to strengthen its 
control over the Chinese Rare Earths industry. 

In May 2011, China State Council promulgated the development target 
of its Rare Earths industry for the next five years. China National 
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Rare Earth magnets provide 
enhanced performance to 
miniaturised technology, which has 
led to many diverse applications.
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Rare Earths used:
Neodymium (Nd2O3), Praseodymium (Pr6O11),  
Terbium (Tb4O7), Dysprosium (Dy2O3)

Association for Rare Earth Trades will be officially established in 
the second half of 2011 and will lead this plan which will include: 

•	 the alignment with targets within one to two years of 
the mining, separation/smelting and market circulation, 
suppressing disorderly exploitation of resources, environmental 
degradation, blind expansion of production and rampant 
export smuggling; 

•	 the enforcement of the new environmental protection 
regulation; 

•	 the restructuring of three to four large enterprises of the 
Chinese Rare Earths industry; and 

•	 the continuous investment in research and technology. 

CHINESE ExPORT QUOTA 
In 2010, China reduced its export quota by 37% to 30.26kt, 
triggering a sharp increase of the export license value from a 
historical $2/kg to $50/kg by the end of 2010. In 2011, China 
announced an official stabilisation of its export allowance at 
30.2kt. However, the product range subject to export license 
expanded in April 2011 to alloys containing more than 10% 

RE (excluding FeNdB alloys for magnets) which account for at 
least 2kt. Therefore, on a comparative basis, export quotas in 
2011 have seen a further reduction by approximately 7% as 
compared to 2010. As a consequence the export license has 
continued to increase up to a peak of $120 in Q3 2011, putting 
the non-Chinese RE processors in a very difficult situation for 
them to meet the growing demand of their end markets. 

PRICING 
The Rare Earths demand rebound after the financial crisis, combined 
with the tightening of export supply through the measures discussed 
above, resulted in the Mount Weld average composition price 
on a China FOB basis increasing from US$10 at the end of 
2009 to US$70 at the end of 2010 and over US$200/kg REO in 
Q3 2011. The tightening of the global supply-demand balance also 
contributed to sharp price increases within China, and the Mount 
Weld average composition price on a China domestic price basis 
increased from US$8 at the end of 2009 to US$15 at the end of 
2010 and over US$90/kg REO in Q3 2011. 

Forecasts are based on Lynas’ current expectations and are 
subject to change.

RARE EARTHS PRICES: DOMESTIC CHINA AND FOB CHINA (USD/KG REO)

QUARTER

RARE EARTH OXIDES (PURITY 99% MIN)

CHINA DOMESTIC (CIF)
AV. MT 
WELD

RARE EARTH OXIDES (PURITY 99% MIN)

CHINA EXPORT (FOB)
AV. MT 
WELDLaCe NdPr Dy Eu LaCe NdPr Dy Eu 

Q1 2010 3.3 21.0 116 381 10 4.4 25 144 479 12

Q2 2010 3.6 23.8 146 395 11 5.8 30 190 511 15

Q3 2010 3.9 27.9 201 420 13 24.2 47 268 561 33

Q4 2010 4.5 31.2 204 446 15 49.5 72 285 617 59

Q1 2011 6.6 44.7 307 502 20 76.8 117 407 690 91

Q2 2011 23.6 121.1 885 1999 62 137.3 218 967 1820 172

iPOD AND MOBILE 
TECHNOLOGY
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Board of Directors

1. NICHOLAS CURTIS AM
ExECUTIVE CHAIRMAN

Mr Curtis is the Executive Chairman of the Company. He is also Chairman of Forge Resources Limited, 
a Non-Executive Director of Conquest Mining Limited, Chairman of the private corporate advisory firm, 
Sino Resources Capital Pty Ltd, Chairman of Faces in the Street Urban Mental Health Research Institute 
at St Vincent’s Hospital Sydney, a Director of St Vincent’s Health Australia Ltd and a Director of the 
Garvan Institute of Medical Research. From August 2004 to October 2009 Mr Curtis served as Chairman 
of the Board of St Vincents & Mater Health Sydney Limited. His background is in resources, banking and 
financing based on more than 25 years as a professional in the futures, commodities and stockbroking 
industries. During the past three years Mr Curtis has not held any other listed company directorships.

2. WILLIAM (LIAM) FORDE
LEAD INDEPENDENT DIRECTOR

Mr Forde joined the Company as a Non-Executive Director in December 2007 and is the Lead 
Independent Director of the Company. Mr Forde has many years experience in senior finance 
and managerial positions in both Ireland and Australia. He is currently a director of Westpac Banking 
Corporation’s Hastings Funds Management Limited and Chairman of Hastings Management Pty Ltd. 
In addition Mr Forde is a member of several advisory boards and is a member of the Australian Institute 
of Company Directors. Mr Forde was Chief Executive Officer of the Baulderstone Hornibrook Group 
from 2002 to 2005, following 15 years as Chief Financial Officer for the Group. During the past three 
years Mr Forde has not held any other listed company directorships.

3. jACOB KLEIN
NON-ExECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr Klein is a Non-Executive Director of the Company and joined the Board on 25 August 2004. He has 
over 18 years experience in senior finance and managerial positions in both South Africa and Australia. 
He joined Macquarie Bank in 1991 and in 1995, as an Associate Director at Macquarie, he participated 
in the formation of Asia Resource Capital Limited, a joint venture between Macquarie Bank and China 
National Non-Ferrous Metal Industry Corporation (CNNC). From 1996 to June 2000 he worked for 
Sino Mining International. Mr Klein was CEO and a Director of Sino Gold Mining Limited until December 
2009 and is a member of the NSW Asia Council. Mr Klein is also Executive Chairman of Conquest Mining 
Limited and a Non-Executive Director of Oceana Gold Corporation. During the past three years Mr Klein 
has not held any other listed company directorships.

4. DAVID DAVIDSON 
NON-ExECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr Davidson is a Non-Executive Director of the Company and originally joined the Board on 28 
March 2002. He resigned from the Board on 18 August 2005 and was re-appointed as a Director 
on 8 December 2005. Mr Davidson has had a distinguished career with ICI and DuPont. An Australian, 
he has lived and worked in Europe and North America and held a number of senior executive roles 
with global responsibilities. He is a former Director of ICI America Inc. Since returning to Australia, 
Mr Davidson has been providing executive and corporate advice on organisation development and 
strategy. During the past three years Mr Davidson has not held any other listed company directorships.

The Lynas Board has the added depth of innovation, 
skill and experience to ensure we achieve our vision 
to be the global leader in Rare Earths.
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5. ZIggY SWITKOWSKI 
NON-ExECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Dr Switkowski joined the company as a Non-Executive Director in February 2011. With an Australian and 
international executive career spanning more than 25 years, ziggy has established a reputation as one of Australia’s 
most distinguished business leaders. He is the former Chairman of the Australian Nuclear Science and Technology 
Organization (ANSTO) and Chancellor of the Royal Melbourne Institute of Technology (RMIT University). ziggy is 
also a non-executive director of Suncorp-Metway, Tabcorp Holdings and Oil Search, and Chairman of Opera Australia. 
He is a former chief executive of Telstra Corporation, Optus Communications and Kodak (Australia). He has a PhD in 
nuclear physics from the University of Melbourne and is a Fellow of the Australian Academy of Technological Sciences 
and Engineering, and of the Australian Institute of Company Directors.

6. KATHLEEN CONLON 
NON-ExECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Ms Conlon was appointed as a Non-Executive Director with effect 1 November 2011. Ms Conlon is currently a 
non-executive director of CSR Limited and REA Group Limited. She also serves on the NSW Council of the Australian 
Institute of Company Directors and is a member of Chief Executive Women. Prior to her non-executive director career, 
Ms Conlon spent 20 years in professional consulting where she successfully assisted companies achieve increased 
shareholder returns through strategic and operational improvements in a diverse range of industries. She is one of the 
pre-eminent thought leaders in the area of operations and change management, both in Australia and globally. In 2003, 
Ms Conlon was awarded the Commonwealth Centenary medal for services to business leadership.

1. 2.

4. 5. 6.

3.
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Directors’ Report

DIRECTORS
The names and details of the Company’s Directors in office during the financial year and until the date of this report are as set out 
below. All Directors were in office for this entire period unless otherwise stated.

Names, Experience, and Special Responsibilities
Nicholas Curtis AM, BA (Hons)
Mr Curtis is the Executive Chairman of the Company. He is also Chairman of Forge Resources Limited, a Non-Executive Director of 
Conquest Mining Limited, Chairman of the private corporate advisory firm, Riverstone Advisory Pty Ltd and Chairman of Faces in the 
Street Urban Mental Health Research Institute at St Vincent’s Hospital Sydney. Mr Curtis served as a Director of the Garvan Institute of 
Medical Research from October 2001 to August 2011 and as a Director of St Vincent’s Health Australia Ltd from June 2004 to October 
2010. From August 2004 to October 2009 Mr Curtis served as Chairman of the Board of St Vincents & Mater Health Sydney Limited. 
His background is in resources, banking and financing based on more than 25 years as a professional in the futures, commodities and 
stockbroking industries. During the past three years Mr Curtis has not held any other listed company directorships.

On 13 June 2011, Mr Curtis was awarded an AM (Member of the Order) for his services to the community through executive roles 
supporting medical research and healthcare organisations and also for his work in fostering Australia-China relations.

William (Liam) Forde BSc (Econ), AICD
Mr Forde joined the Company as a Non-Executive Director in December 2007 and is the Lead Independent Director of the Company. 
Mr Forde has many years experience in senior finance and managerial positions in both Ireland and Australia. He is currently a director 
of Hastings Funds Management Limited and Chairman of Hastings Management Pty Ltd. In addition Mr Forde is a member of several 
advisory boards and is a member of the Australian Institute of Company Directors. Mr Forde was Chief Executive Officer of the 
Baulderstone Hornibrook Group from 2002 to 2005, following 15 years as its Chief Financial Officer for the Group. During the past 
three years Mr Forde has not held any other listed company directorships. 

Jake Klein BCom (Hons), ACA 
Mr Klein is the executive chairman of Conquest Mining Limited, an ASX listed gold mining company. Before joining Conquest Mining 
Limited, Mr Klein was President and CEO of Sino Gold Mining Limited where he managed the development of that company into 
the largest foreign participant in the Chinese gold industry. Sino Gold Mining Limited was listed on the ASX in 2002 with a market 
capitalisation of $100 million and was purchased by Eldorado Gold Corporation in late 2009 for over $2 billion. It became an ASX/S&P 
100 Company, operating two award-winning gold mines and engaging over 2,000 employees and contractors in China. 

Prior to joining Sino Gold (and its predecessor) in 1995, Mr Klein was employed at Macquarie Bank and PricewaterhouseCoopers.

In addition to being a Non-Executive Director of Lynas Corporation Limited, Mr Klein is also a Non-Executive Director of OceanaGold 
Corporation, an ASX listed company. Mr Klein is a past President of the NSW Branch of the Australia China Business Council.

David Davidson 
Mr Davidson is a Non-Executive Director of the Company and originally joined the Board on 28 March 2002. He resigned from the 
Board on 18 August 2005 and was re-appointed as a Director on 8 December 2005. Mr Davidson has had a distinguished career with 
ICI and DuPont. An Australian, he has lived and worked in Europe and North America and held a number of senior executive roles with 
global responsibilities. He is a former director of ICI America Inc. Since returning to Australia, Mr Davidson has been providing executive 
and corporate advice on organisation development and strategy. During the past three years Mr Davidson has not held any other listed 
company directorships.

In addition, Mr Davidson is a Director of several proprietary companies.

Zygmunt Switkowski PhD, FAICD, FTSE
Dr Switkowski is a Non-Executive Director of the Company and joined the Board on 1 February 2011. Dr Switkowski is Chancellor of 
RMIT University and a Non-Executive Director of Suncorp-Metway, Tabcorp Holdings and Oil Search, and Chairman of Opera Australia. 
Dr Switkowski is the former chairman of the Australian Nuclear Science and Technology Organisation, and a former chief executive of 
Telstra Corporation, Optus Communications and Kodak (Australia).

Dr Switkowski has a PhD in nuclear physics from the University of Melbourne and is a Fellow of the Australian Academy of Technological 
Sciences and Engineering, and of the Australian Institute of Company Directors.

Appointment of New Director
Kathleen Conlon
On 22 September 2011, the Company announced the appointment of Kathleen Conlon as a Non-Executive Director, with effect from 
1 November 2011. Ms. Conlon’s biography will be included in the 2012 annual report of the Company.
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COMPANY SECRETARIES

Andrew Arnold
Mr Arnold was appointed as General Counsel and Company Secretary to the Company on 23 July 2008, following 15 years as a lawyer 
at Deacons, including six years as a Partner. During that time Mr Arnold also spent two years on secondment at Riddell Williams, 
Seattle. In his role at Deacons he had been overseeing the legal work of the Company since 2001. Mr Arnold is the responsible person 
for communication with ASX in relation to listing rule matters.

Ivo Polovineo
Mr Polovineo was appointed as additional Company Secretary on 15 March 2010. He has spent over 25 years in the resource sector 
including over 20 years as Company Secretary of a number of listed companies. His last full time position was Company Secretary of 
Sino Gold Mining Limited (formerly an ASX 100 company) until December 2009. Mr Polovineo is also a Non-Executive Director of ASX 
listed Eastern Iron Limited.

Interests in the Shares and Options of the Company and Related Bodies Corporate
As at the date of this report, the interests of the Directors in the shares and options of the Lynas Corporation Limited (“the Company”) were:

ORDINARY
ShARES

OPTIONS
OvER

ORDINARY
ShARES

Nicholas Curtis 16,045,758 31,000,000

William Forde 1,001,656 4,000,000

David Davidson 700,828 3,100,000

Jacob Klein 2,082,236 3,100,000

Zygmunt Switkowski 700,828 –

Total 20,531,306 41,200,000

CORPORATE INFORMATION

Corporate Structure
Lynas Corporation Limited is a company limited by shares that is incorporated and domiciled in Australia. The Company has prepared 
a consolidated financial report incorporating the entities that it controlled during the financial year, which are outlined in the following 
illustration of the Group’s corporate structure:

100%

Lynas Malaysia  
Sdn Bhd

100%

Mt Weld  
Rare Earths Pty Ltd

100%

Lynas Africa 
Holdings Pty Ltd

100%

Lynas Services 
Pty Ltd

100%

Mt Weld  
Mining Pty Ltd

100%

Mt Weld  
Holdings Pty Ltd

83% (5 shares)

17% (1 share)Lynas Africa 
Limited

Lynas Corporation Ltd
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Nature of Operations and Principal Activities
The principal activities of the entities within the Group are:

•	 planning, design and construction and operating a Concentration Plant in Western Australia, and planning, design and construction 
of an Advanced Materials Processing Plant in Malaysia for the production and distribution of Rare Earth Oxides;

•	 exploration and development of Rare Earths deposits; and

•	 exploration for other mineral resources.

PERFORMANCE REVIEW
The Board together with management monitor the Group’s overall performance, from implementation of the mission statement and 
strategic plan through to the performance of the Company against operating and financial plans.

REVIEW AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Group Overview

CONSOLIDATED OPERATINg RESuLTS fOR ThE YEAR
2011

A$’000
2010

A$’000

Revenue 10,006 9,130 

Operating expenses (57,461) (30,650)

Depreciation expense (1,220) (1,158)

Net accounting gain/ (loss) on foreign currency valuation (8,613) 2,337 

De-recognition of assets  – (22,700)

NET LOSS BEfORE INCOME TAX (57,288) (43,041)

 

CONSOLIDATED fINANCIAL POSITION fOR ThE YEAR  

Capitalised construction costs 394,434 209,678 

Inventory 18,674 23,887 

Working capital (10,648) (11,566)

Provisions (6,937) (8,101)

Cash and cash equivalents 198,411 405,245 

Restricted cash 235,545 –

Interest bearing liabilities (212,364) –

Other investments 9,652 –

NET ASSETS 626,767 619,143 

Net increase/ (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents after net foreign exchange differences (206,834) 388,535 

The key financial events of the Group for the year are summarised below with details of each item disclosed in the financial statements. 

On 30 March 2011, the Company announced the execution of the financing, distribution & agency, and availability agreements with 
Sojitz/ JOGMEC. In addition, a fully underwritten institutional equity placement of $50 million and a share purchase plan of $25 million 
were completed, and these funds were received in early June 2011. 

For the year ended 30 June 2011, Lynas incurred a net loss before income tax of $57.2 million (2010: $43.0 million). The overall net 
assets of the Group increased by $7.6 million. 
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LOSS PER SHARE

2011 2010

Basic loss per share (cents) (3.54) (3.23)

Diluted loss per share (cents) (3.54) (3.23)

DIVIDENDS
No dividend has been recommended since the end of the financial year. 

REVIEW OF OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Rare Earths
Significant progress has been made with the construction and commissioning of Phase 1 of the Rare Earths Project, in which 11,000 
tonnes per annum of REO is expected to be produced. 

The construction of the Concentration Plant in Western Australia was completed in March 2011, and to date plant operations have 
met expectations. The grade of concentrate produced at Mt Weld is in line with ramp-up targets, and the percentage REO recovery 
is significantly above targets. 

During the June 2011 quarter an extension drilling program was completed on the western side of the Central Lanthanide Deposit and 
the current open pit at Mt Weld. A total of 154 holes and 9,561 metres were drilled to delineate the REO resource in this area to at least 
an indicated status, and to carry mining studies with the intention of including the western side of the Central Lanthanide Deposit into 
the mine planning process. 

The construction of the Advanced Materials Plant in Gebeng, Malaysia has progressed well with overall construction more than 60 
percent complete as at 30 June 2011. 

At the end of the June 2011 the total number of equipment procurement packages stood at 146, with 144 packages awarded. The final 
packages, fire hydrant hoses and office building furniture, will be awarded during the September 2011 quarter. 

In response to community requests, the Malaysian Minister of International Trade and Industry appointed an independent panel of 
international experts to conduct a review of the health, safety and environmental aspects of the Advanced Materials Plant. The expert 
panel comprised eminent representatives of the International Atomic Energy Agency (“IAEA”), and after a visit to Kuantan, the IAEA 
submitted its completed report to the Malaysian Government on 30 June 2011.

The pre-occupational licence for the advanced materials Plant remains subject to regulatory approvals; however there is a conclusive 
path forward following the release of the IAEA independent report and the Malaysian government’s clear announcement of 
implementing recommendations within the report.

The IAEA report confirmed that the Advanced Materials Plant in Malaysia, once completed, is expected to be safe and fully compliant 
with international standards. This assessment reaffirms the Company’s commitment to put the communities that it operates in, as well 
as operational safety, at the forefront in all of its activities. 

In March 2011, the Company announced the finalisation of securing the tenement of the Kangankunde Rare Earths Deposit (“KGK”) in 
Malawi. The deposit has an Inferred Resource of 107,000 tonnes of REO at an average grade of 4.24% REO using a 3.5% REO cut-off 
grade. At a 3% REO cut-off grade the resource increases to 180,000 tonnes REO and remains open at depth. Importantly, the deposit 
has extremely low natural radiation levels for a Rare Earths deposit, with an average of 11 ppm thorium oxide of REO content.

The completion of the purchase of the KGK has allowed Lynas to commence work in relation to the project. The site has been cleared, 
on-site accommodation has been repaired and refurbished, and an office in Blantyre has been established. An extensive drill program has 
been planned, aimed at not only confirming the existing resource estimate but also to investigate the potential of expanding the resource. 

The proposed work at the KGK in the upcoming months includes completion of the roads for drill access to the site, commencement 
of the 6000 meter drilling programme, reopening of the old adit under the deposit to allow sample collection and mapping, as well 
as refurbishment of the on-site office and construction of a workshop.
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REVIEW OF FINANCIAL CONDITION

Capital Structure
At the start of the year the Company had 1,655,499,093 ordinary shares on issue. During the year an additional 58,147,820 shares were 
issued as follows:

Shares on issue 30 June 2010 1,655,499,093

Shares issued during the year

Sojitz/JOGMEC facility, Placement and Share Purchase Plan – March 2011 47,297,820

Issue of new shares for consulting services in Malawi 250,000

Issue of new shares pursuant to option conversions 10,600,000

Total shares issued during the year 58,147,820

Shares on issue 30 June 2011 1,713,646,913

In addition to the ordinary shares on issue there were 82,328,918 unlisted options and performance rights on issue. Overall, the issue 
of new shares during the period resulted in an increase in issued capital of $99,771,327.

RISK MANAGEMENT
The Company takes a proactive approach to risk management. The Board is responsible for ensuring that risks, and opportunities are 
identified on a timely basis and that the Group’s objectives and activities are aligned with these risks and opportunities.

The Company believes that it is crucial for Board members to be a part of this process, and as such has established a Risk Management 
and Safety, Health, Environment & Community Committee. 

STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE
The report is based on the guidelines in The Group 100 Incorporated publication Guide to the Review of Operations and Financial Condition.

SIGNIFICANT CHANGES IN THE STATE OF AFFAIRS
The following significant changes occurred during the financial year ending 30 June 2011. 

Sojitz Facility, Sojitz Placement, Institutional Placement and Share Purchase Plan
On 24 November 2010, the Company announced that it had signed a Strategic Alliance Agreement with Sojitz Corporation (“Sojitz”) 
to secure additional Rare Earths products for the Japanese market by accelerating the expansion of the Lynas Rare Earths Project. The 
objective of the Agreement is to provide a stable and long term source of supply for the Japanese market by providing a framework for 
the Company and Sojitz to agree off-take, distribution and financing arrangements during 2011. 

The financing arrangement will allow acceleration of Phase 2 of the Rare Earths Project, expanding the Concentration Plant in Western 
Australia and the Advanced Materials Plant in Malaysia, where 22,000 tonnes of REO is expected to be produced per annum. 

The total financing package of approximately A$325 million consisted of:

•	 the provision of a loan facility for US$225 million provided for by a special purpose company (“SPC”) established by Sojitz and the 
Japan, Oil, Gas and Metals National Corporation (“JOGMEC”);

•	 the subscription by the SPC for US$25 million of new fully paid ordinary shares in the Company at a price of A$2.12 per share 
(“the Sojitz Placement”);

•	 an Institutional Placement for A$55 million of new fully paid ordinary shares in the Company at a price of $2.07 per share 
(“Institutional Placement”); and

•	 a Share Purchase Plan (“SPP”) for eligible existing shareholders for A$20 million of new fully paid ordinary shares in the Company 
at an issue price of A$2.05 per share.

The above financing package was successfully completed by early June 2011.

Processing Facilities
The Concentration Plant in Mt Weld, Western Australia was completed in March 2011 and the Company announced that the first feed 
of ore into the concentrator occurred on 14 May 2011. This is a significant milestone for the Company.
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Sales Contracts and Pricing
On 27 April 2011, the Company announced the signing of a new long term supply agreement with a major Rare Earths consumer. 
This contract is the conversion of a Letter of Intent (“LOI”) signed in September 2008. 

At 30 June 2011, the Mt Weld composite price had increased to US$204.85/ kg (US$17.42/ kg at 30 June 2010). 

The average Mt Weld Rare Earths composite price at 19 September 2011 was US$157.37/ kg.

SIGNIFICANT EVENTS AFTER THE BALANCE DATE

LOI signed for Joint Venture with Siemens for Magnet Production
On 7 July 2011, the Company announced the signing of a LOI with the German Siemens Drive Technologies Division (“Siemens”) to 
establish a joint venture company for the production of neodymium-based Rare Earths magnets. These magnets will serve Siemens’s 
production requirements for energy-efficient drive applications and wind-turbine generators.

The Company will provide raw materials for the joint venture, predominantly a combined neodymium/praseodymium metal, through 
a long term supply contract. The partnership between Siemens and the Company will secure a long-term and sustainable end-to-end 
supply chain, from mine to magnet, to end application. 

The joint venture company for magnet production will be led by Siemens, with the planned shareholding of 55% to Siemens and 45% 
to the Company. 

Letter of Award Signed with Toyo-Thai for Phase 2 Expansion
On 13 July 2011, the Company announced that its wholly owned subsidiary Lynas Malaysia Sdn Bhd had signed a Letter of Award with 
Toyo-Thai Corporation Public Company Limited (“TTCL”) for Engineering, Procurement, Construction and Commissioning Assistance for 
the Phase 2 expansion of the Advanced Materials Plant in Gebeng, Malaysia.

The Letter of Award is for a fixed price lump sum between US$180 million and US$210 million. Subject to the receipt of all relevant 
approvals, Phase 2 construction is scheduled to be completed towards the end of 2012. 

The Phase 2 expansion will increase the production capacity of the Advanced Materials Plant to 22,000 tonnes REO per annum.

Lynas Signs New Customer Contract with BASF Corporation 
On 2 September 2011, the Company announced the signing of a new long term supply agreement with BASF Corporation (BASF) 
for the supply of Rare Earths to be produced at the Advanced Materials Plant. BASF’s Fluid Catalytic Cracking business consumes 
lanthanum and the contract will secure a substantial portion of BASF’s long-term lanthanum requirements. 

SHARE OPTIONS 

Unissued Shares
As at year end the Company had on issue the following options and performance rights to acquire ordinary fully paid shares:

DESCRIPTION NuMBER EXERCISE PRICE EXPIRY DATE 

Incentive Plan options 50,000 $0.64 4 April 2012
Incentive Plan options 9,350,000 $1.01 25 June 2012
Incentive Plan options 50,000 $0.81 24 August 2012
Incentive Plan options 100,000 $0.91 2 July 2012
Incentive Plan options 500,000 $1.06 31 December 2012
Incentive Plan options 200,000 $1.09 30 April 2013
Incentive Plan options 1,000,000 $0.98 21 July 2013
Incentive Plan options 14,850,000 $0.66 24 September 2013
Incentive Plan options 2,700,000 $0.81 24 September 2013
Incentive Plan options 1,100,000 $0.16 5 January 2014
Incentive Plan options 24,500,000 $0.66 8 October 2014
Incentive Plan options 1,000,000 $0.66 1 July 2015
Incentive Plan options 23,400,000 $1.15 19 August 2015
Incentive Plan performance rights(1) 1,908,618 $0.00 19 August 2015
Incentive Plan options 1,000,000 $1.60 1 October 2015
Incentive Plan options 200,000 $2.36 13 December 2015
Incentive Plan performance rights(2) 420,000 $0.00 06 June 2016

Total 82,328,618
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PERFORMANCE RIGHTS
The performance rights issued during the financial year ended 30 June 2011 were subject to the following vesting conditions:

•	 50% were conditional on the recipient being employed by Lynas at the end of the three year vesting period.

•	 50% were conditional on both: (a) Lynas Corporation Ltd achieving net positive operating cash flow for the period 1 July 2012 
to 31 December 2012 and (b) the recipient being employed by Lynas at the end of the three year vesting period.

The fair value of the performance rights at grant date were $0.962(1) and $2.296(2) per right.

SHARES ISSUED AS A RESULT OF THE EXERCISE OF OPTIONS
During the financial year 10,600,000 options were exercised as set out in Note 21 of the Notes to Financial Statements.

INDEMNIFICATION AND INSURANCE OF DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS
During or since the financial year, the Company has paid premiums in respect of a contract insuring all Directors and Officers of Lynas 
Corporation Limited against costs incurred in defending proceedings for conduct involving:

(a) a wilful breach of duty; or

(b) a contravention of sections 182 or 183 of the Corporations Act 2001, as permitted by section 199B of the Corporations Act 2001.

The total amount of insurance contract premiums paid was $64,000. This amount is not included as part of the Directors remuneration 
in Note 30.

ENVIRONMENTAL REGULATION AND PERFORMANCE
The Consolidated Entity is bound by the requirements and guidelines of the relevant environmental protection authorities for the 
management and rehabilitation of tenements owned or previously owned by the Group. Tenements are being maintained and 
rehabilitated following these guidelines. There have been no known breaches of any of these conditions.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
In recognising the need for the highest standards of corporate behaviour and accountability, the Directors of Lynas Corporation Limited 
seek to ensure appropriate and effective corporate governance. The Company’s Corporate Governance Statement is contained in the 
following section of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ MEETINGS
The number of Directors’ meetings held during the year and the number of meetings attended by each Director was as follows:

MEETINgS Of COMMITTEES

DIRECTORS’
MEETINgS AuDIT

NOMINATION
AND

REMuNERATION

RISk
MANAgEMENT,

SAfETY, hEALTh,
ENvIRONMENT

AND COMMuNITY

Number of meetings held: 9 2 4 2

Number of meetings attended:

N. Curtis 9 – – 2

W. Forde 9 2 4 1

D. Davidson 9 1 4 2

J. Klein 9 2 – 2

Z. Switkowski 5 1 – 1
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Committee Membership
As at the date of this report, the Company has an Audit Committee, a Nomination and Remuneration Committee, and a Risk 
Management, Safety, Health, Environment and Community Committee of the Board of Directors.

Members Acting on the Committees of the Board During the Year were:

AuDIT
NOMINATION AND
REMuNERATION

RISk MANAgEMENT, SAfETY, hEALTh, 
ENvIRONMENT AND COMMuNITY

W. Forde(c) D. Davidson(c) Z. Switkowski(c) (from 18 February 2011)

J. Klein W. Forde N. Curtis

Z. Switkowski (from 18 February 2011) Z. Switkowski (from 23 June 2011) D. Davidson

D. Davidson (until 18 February 2011) J. Klein

(c) Designates the chairman of the committee.

As summarised in the Corporate Governance Statement, the Audit Committee is comprised of independent Directors.

Remarks by the Chairman of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee

Dear Shareholder,

I am pleased to present our remuneration report for 2011. I believe it reflects Lynas Corporation’s commitment to ensuring that our 
remuneration strategy aligns with our business objectives, performance and delivery of shareholder value.

The Nomination and Remuneration Committee (“the Committee”) believes that shareholder value will be best created by attracting 
the best and brightest talent; to do that the Company must be able to offer market-competitive remuneration. In addition, we consider 
that achieving our strategic business objectives in a reliable and sustainable way is best facilitated by a remuneration philosophy that 
provides rewards differentiated based on performance.

Highlights of our remuneration report for 2011 are:

•	 the Committee has a rigorous approach to linking the nature and amount of executive pay to the Company’s financial and 
operational performance. It does this by exercising its judgement for short-term incentive awards. We also use external benchmarks 
to set the total remuneration for the Executive Chairman and Key Management Personnel. Generally speaking, total remuneration 
opportunity is set at between the 50th and 75th percentiles of market rates,

•	 at the 2010 AGM the Company announced that in the future it will not offer options to Non-Executive Directors. During the financial 
year ending 30 June 2012, the only remuneration to be offered to Non-Executive Directors will be cash fees,

•	 in 2011, we began a review of the LTI plan. The next LTI grant for the Executive Chairman and key executives will include performance 
hurdles linked to TSR and project milestones. This will strengthen the link between Company performance and the rewards achieved 
by executives. 

Against the backdrop of an increased interest in the Rare Earths market, Lynas Corporation is now moving from a developmental 
phase into an operational phase. We recognise that as our business priorities continue to evolve retention of key people is likely to 
become a critical issue for success. In the current development phase, key performance indicators can change frequently and so it is 
important that the Committee be able to exercise judgement regarding reward processes and outcomes. As such, the Committee has 
ensured there is sufficient flexibility in the remuneration structure to reflect the business’s emerging priorities. The Committee uses its 
judgement based on an assessment of overall performance over the year to decide whether any STI award should be provided, taking 
into account the Company’s capacity to award incentives. 

We have also changed the structure of this year’s report, which we hope will increase the transparency of our disclosures, and 
your understanding of our remuneration objectives and policies. We welcome your feedback on how we can further improve 
the remuneration report in the future.

Yours sincerely,

David Davidson 
Chairman of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee
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REMUNERATION REPORT – AUDITED
This report sets out the remuneration arrangements of Directors and Key Management Personnel of the Company and the Group in 
accordance with the Corporations Act 2001 and its regulations. 

The Remuneration Report is set out as follows:

SECTION DESCRIPTION PAgE #

A Our Remuneration Philosophy 34

B Role of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee 35

C Our Executive Remuneration Framework 35

D Non-Executive Director Remuneration 36

E Service Agreements 37

F Linking Remuneration and Group Performance 37

G Details of Remuneration 38

H Share-Based Remuneration 39

We have defined ‘Key Management Personnel’ (“KMP”) as those people who have authority and responsibility for planning, directing 
and controlling the major activities of the Group, directly or indirectly, including any Director (whether executive or otherwise) of the 
Parent Company, and the five executives receiving the highest remuneration.

In this report, “executive” encompasses the Executive Chairman, Chief Operating Officer, Chief Financial Officer, Executive Vice 
Presidents, General Managers and the Group General Counsel and Company Secretary.

The KMP, including the five highest remunerated executives at the date of this report, are as follows: 

DIRECTORS:

N. Curtis Executive Chairman

W. Forde Lead Independent Director, Non-Executive Director

D. Davidson Non-Executive Director

J. Klein Non-Executive Director

Z. Switkowski Non-Executive Director (appointed 1 February 2011)

EXECuTIvES:

A. Arnold General Counsel and Company Secretary 

J. Brien General Manager Human Resources (resigned 4 April 2011)

G. Barr Executive Vice President People and Culture (appointed 4 April 2011)

M. James Executive Vice President – Strategy & Corporate Communications

E. Noyrez President and Chief Operating Officer 

J. G. Taylor Chief Financial Officer 

A) Our Remuneration Philosophy
Lynas Corporation’s objective is to provide maximum stakeholder benefit through the attraction, retention and motivation of a high 
quality Board and executive management team by remunerating Directors and key executives fairly and appropriately, consistent with 
relevant employment market conditions. We align rewards to sustainable value through creating links between the achievement of 
organisational goals and the non-fixed elements of individual remuneration.

To help the Company achieve this objective, the Committee links the nature and amount of the Executive Chairman and Executives’ 
pay to the Company’s financial and operational performance.

The Company also uses external benchmarks to set the total remuneration opportunity for the KMP. Generally speaking, fixed 
remuneration is set at the market median (but not below), with total possible remuneration set between the 50th and 75th percentiles. 
When comparing total remuneration to market benchmarks and reference group data as a basis on which to determine total remuneration, 
the Company considers three remuneration elements: annual fixed pay (FP), target short-term incentive (STI) and long-term incentive (LTI).
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The peer group used to benchmark remuneration consisted of 12 companies with similar operating models and size (based on Lynas’ 
projected size following completion of Phase 2 of the Rare Earths project). They were selected based on the criteria of comparable 
market capitalisation and projected revenue. Some companies fell above or below Lynas’ Phase 2 revenue estimates, however it 
is reasonably expected that as Lynas grows to its Phase 2 levels, the peer group will grow as well. The peer group should therefore 
provide a consistent view of the market for executive talent over the next few years. 

The Committee engaged Mercer to provide recommendations for the appropriate levels of total remuneration for senior executives. 
This work was completed by 30 June 2011.

B) Role of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee
The Board is responsible for determining and reviewing remuneration arrangements for Directors and key executives. Its Nomination 
and Remuneration Committee (“the Committee”) assesses, on a regular basis, the appropriateness of the nature and amount of KMP 
remuneration. In fulfilling these duties and to support effective governance processes, the Committee:

•	 consists only of independent Non-Executive Directors,

•	 has unrestricted access to management, and any relevant documents,

•	 engages external advisers for assistance (e.g. detailing market levels of remuneration).

In June 2011, PricewaterhouseCoopers was appointed as an adviser to the Committee.

Remuneration Structure
In line with best practice corporate governance, the remuneration structure for Non-Executive Directors is separate and distinct from 
that of Executives.

C) Our Executive Remuneration Framework 
Objective
The Company aims to remunerate its executives at a level commensurate with their position and responsibilities within the Company so as to:

•	 reward them for Company, business unit and individual performance against agreed targets set by reference to appropriate benchmarks;
•	 align their interests with those of our shareholders;
•	 link their reward with the Company’s strategic goals and performance; and
•	 ensure that their total remuneration is competitive by market standards.

Structure
Executive remuneration at Lynas consists of the following key elements:

•	 fixed remuneration (base salary and superannuation)
•	 variable remuneration

 – short-term incentives (STIs); and
 – long-term incentives (LTIs)

The Company provides no retirement benefits, other than statutory superannuation.

The proportion of fixed and variable remuneration is decided by the Committee after considering the overall performance of the 
Company and of individual. The detailed remuneration for the KMP for the years ended 30 June 2011 and 30 June 2010 is set out 
in Section G of this report.

Below, we explain how the different elements are calculated. 

Fixed remuneration
Fixed remuneration consists of base salary and superannuation. It is determined on an individual basis, taking into account external 
market benchmarks and individual factors such as capability, experience, responsibility and accountability. Fixed remuneration is 
positioned at the market median.

Variable remuneration
The Board exercises discretion in relation to the payment of bonuses, options and other incentive payments, based on the overall 
performance of the Company and of the individual during the year.

Short-term incentives (STIs)
The Company has no specific obligations to award STIs. Payment of such incentives is at the discretion of the Board. The Board 
generally takes into account individual performance, the Company’s financial performance and its progress in achieving its key strategic 
goals, which during the financial year ending 30 June 2011 included completion of the Concentration Plant at Mt Weld and substantial 
progress in construction of the Advanced Materials Plant at Gebeng.

During the year, the Board decided that STI awards be made only in cases of exceptional performance and such only one STI award 
was made to the KMP Group as set out in the table in section G of this report. 
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Long-term incentives (LTIs)
Options and performance rights are provided to KMP and other selected employees to provide greater alignment to our strategic 
business objectives. They have three year vesting periods, and are exercisable between three and five years after they were granted 
provided the executive is still employed with the Company, and any relevant performance conditions are achieved. 

Performance rights issued during the financial year ended 30 June 2011 were subject to the following vesting conditions: 

(i) 50% were conditional on the recipient being employed by Lynas at the end of the three-year vesting period

(ii)  50% were conditional on both: (a) Lynas Corporation Limited achieving net positive operating cash flow for the period 1 July 2012 
to 31 December 2012 and (b) the recipient being employed by Lynas at the end of the three-year vesting period. 

The Committee reviewed the LTI plan during the year, and decided that as the Company and performance transitions to the operational 
phase, the LTI should be consistent with this more advanced stage of our development. Options and performance rights to be issued 
during the financial year ended 30 June 2012 will, in addition to the condition that the recipient be employed by Lynas at the end of 
the three-year vesting period, be subject to the following stretch vesting conditions: 

(i)  50% will be conditional on the Lynas Kuantan plant having demonstrated the capacity to produce 22,000 tonnes per annum Rare 
Earth Oxides (REO) over at least a four-week period during the last calendar quarter of 2013

(ii)  50% will be conditional on the Company’s Total Shareholder Return (TSR) exceeding the 50th percentile of ASX 100 companies 
calculated over the three-year vesting period, in accordance with the following sliding scale:

 (a) If the Lynas TSR exceeds the 50th percentile, 50% of the TSR portion will vest,

 (b) If the Lynas TSR exceeds the 75th percentile, 100% of the TSR portion will vest,

 (c)  If the Lynas TSR is between the 50th percentile and the 75th percentile, a pro-rata amount of between 50% and 100% of the 
TSR portion will vest (with the relevant percentile being rounded up or down to the nearest five percent, for ease of calculation).

Policies on equity remuneration
In accordance with the Company policy that governs trading of Company shares by Directors and employees, Directors and executives 
are not permitted to hedge their options or performance rights before the options vest. 

D) Non-Executive Director Remuneration
Objective
Remuneration of Non-Executive Directors (“NEDs”) is set at a level that enables the Company to attract and retain people of the highest 
calibre at a cost which is acceptable to shareholders. In setting remuneration, the Company takes into account, among other factors:

•	 fees paid to NEDs of companies of a similar size/ industry,

•	 the time commitment required for NEDs to properly fulfil their duties,

•	 the risks and responsibilities associated with the roles,

•	 the relevant commercial and industry experience required.

When undertaking the annual review process, the Board considers advice from external consultants where required, as well as fees paid 
to NEDs of comparable companies.

Structure
The Company’s Constitution and the ASX Listing Rules specify that the maximum aggregate remuneration of NEDs must be determined 
from time to time by a general meeting. The last determination was at the AGM held on 24 November 2010, and an aggregate pool of 
$750,000 was approved. The aggregate fees for NED’s do not exceed this amount. 

Components of Non-Executive Director Remuneration
Each NED receives a fee for being a Director of the Company, and fees for committees on which they sit. 

Base Fees
NED fees are determined by the Committee and fall within the aggregate amount approved by shareholders. During the year the 
Committee engaged Egon Zender to provide recommendations for the appropriate levels for Non-Executive Directors’ fees and 
Committee fees. As a result of this review the level of NED fees and Committee fees were increased effective 1 February 2011. 

Base fees for NEDs for the financial year ended 30 June 2011 were:

•	 Lead Independent Director $110,000 per annum to 31 January 2011 – increased to $125,000 per annum from 1 February 2011.

•	 Non-Executive Director $90,000 per annum to 31 January 2011 – increased to $100,000 per annum from 1 February 2011.
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Committee Fees
Following from Egon Zehnder’s recommendations, on 1 February 2011 the Company introduced payment of fees for committee 
participation by NEDs. The annual Committee fees are as follows:

BOARD COMMITTEE
ChAIR

 $
MEMBER

$

Audit Committee 30,000 15,000

Risk and SHEC Committee 25,000 12,500

Nomination and Remuneration Committee 25,000 12,500

All NED fees including Committee fees include statutory superannuation contributions.

It is considered good governance for NEDs to have a stake in the Company, and the Board has long encouraged NEDs to hold shares 
in the Lynas. The Company announced at the 2010 AGM that it will not offer options to NEDs in the future. 

The remuneration for NEDs for the years ended 30 June 2011 and 30 June 2010 is set out in Section G of this report.

E) Service Agreements
The Committee’s policy is that only the Executive Chairman may enter into a fixed-term employment agreement with the Company. 
Executive Chairman, Mr N. Curtis has therefore signed fixed-term agreement of reasonable commercial conditions. Its key provisions are:

•	 the agreement expires on 31 July 2013,

•	 Mr Curtis may give three months written notice of his intention to resign. On resignation any unvested options may be forfeited 
subject to the discretion of the Board,

•	 the Company may terminate the agreement by giving six month’s written notice,

•	 Upon the Company terminating the agreement, the Company will pay a benefit for past services equal to the lower of:

 1) the amount permitted under Part 2D.2 of the Corporations Act 2001,

 2)  the balance of Mr Curtis’ salary over the greater of (a) one year, or (b) the remaining term of the agreement at the time of termination, 

•	 the Company may terminate the agreement at any time without notice if serious misconduct has occurred. 

In accordance with recent amendments to the Corporations Act 2001 and the formula specified above, the maximum termination 
payment payable to Mr Curtis is equal to his base salary for one year.

Employment conditions for all other KMP’s are on the following terms:

•	 each may give three month’s written notice of their intention to resign, 

•	 the Company may terminate the employment by providing six month’s written notice,

•	 on resignation or termination all unvested options may be forfeited subject to the discretion of the Board,

•	 the Company may terminate employment at any time without notice if serious misconduct has occurred.

F) Linking Remuneration and Group Performance
Before the financial year ending 30 June 2011, KMP remuneration (including any component that consisted of securities in the 
Company) was not formally linked to Group performance. The reasoning behind this approach was that as the Company was in 
development phase, it was not appropriate to link remuneration to factors such as profitability or share price. This approach has 
changed now that the Company is transitioning into its operational phase. In the financial year ending 30 June 2011, part of the LTI 
grant was subject to the achievement of a net positive operating cash flow hurdle. In the financial year ending 30 June 2012, LTI grants 
will be subject to TSR and project milestone hurdles related to REO capacity, as detailed on Section C above. 

The Board retains its discretion to assess the overall performance of the Company, and of individual performance before any STI awards 
are granted. During the year, the Board decided that STI awards be made only in cases of exceptional performance and as such, only 
one STI award was made to the KMP group as set out in the table in Section G of this report. 

For further context below we provide a comparison of KMP remuneration over the last five years against the Company’s average share 
price over the same period. The increase in remuneration from one year to the next reflects the fact that additional executives joined 
the Company to facilitate the transition from a development entity to an operating entity.
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fINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30/06/2007 30/06/2008 30/06/2009 30/06/2010 30/06/2011

Number of kMPs
Executive Directors 1 1 1 1 1
Non-Executive Directors 2 3 3 3 4
Other KMP 3 3 3 4 6 
Cash remuneration paid
Executive Directors 416,715 432,640 626,053 890,000 590,000
Non-Executive Directors 98,441 237,827 280,214 290,000 406,557
Other KMP 805,853 1,425,597 1,633,067 2,390,353 2,590,677

1,321,009 2,096,064 2,539,334 3,570,353 3,587,234
Share-based remuneration *
Executive Directors 308,333 1,366,667 1,789,338 2,472,449 3,218,720
Non-Executive Directors – – 306,000 510,933 1,337,722
Other KMP 146,026 1,177,183 2,079,313 2,146,587 3,093,634

454,359 2,543,850 4,174,650 5,129,969 7,650,076
Total remuneration 1,775,368 4,639,914 6,710,984 8,700,322 11,237,310

Annual average share price $0.662 $1.228 $0.518 $0.551 $1.655
Closing share price at financial year end $1.300 $1.300 $0.465 $0.545 $1.980

* Represents the cumulative impact of amortising the accounting value of options and performance rights over their three-year vesting period. The 
increase in 2011 represents the additional options issued during the year which related to LTI awards for the 2010 financial year. The options that 
were granted to Directors in the financial year ending 30 June 2011 were approved by shareholders at the AGM in November 2010. The Company 
announced at the AGM in November 2010 that it will not offer options to NEDs in the future.

G) Details of Remuneration

fINANCIAL YEAR 2011 

ShORT-TERM BENEfITS
POST-EMPLOYMENT 

BENEfITS

ShARE-
BASED

PAYMENTS

PERfOR-
MANCE

RELATED

NAME

CASh
SALARY

AND fEES
BONuS

PAYMENTS

NON-
MONETARY

BENEfITS

TERM-
INATION

PAYMENTS
SuPER-

ANNuATION

ShARE-
BASED

PAYMENTS
% Of

TOTAL TOTAL

Executive Director
N. Curtis 590,000 – – –  – 3,218,720 85% 3,808,720 
Non-Executive 
Directors
W. Forde 122,897 – – – 9,908 522,682 80% 655,487 
D. Davidson 59,792 – – – 50,000 407,520 79% 517,312 
J. Klein 105,625 – – – – 407,520 79% 513,145 
Z. Switkowski(1) 53,518 – – – 4,817 – 0% 58,334
Executives
A. Arnold 294,698 – – – 24,132 621,401 66% 940,232 
J. Brien(2) 187,864 – – 271,899 39,445 942,149 65% 1,441,357 
G. Barr(3) 231,565 – – – 20,841 123,307 33% 375,713 
M. James 307,177 – – – 27,646 510,736 60% 845,559 
E. Noyrez 521,147 300,000 – – 45,432 691,727 44% 1,558,306 
J. G. Taylor 268,831 – – – 50,000 204,314 39% 523,145 

Total 2,743,114 300,000 – 271,899 272,221 7,650,076  11,237,310 

(1) Appointed 1 February 2011.
(2) Resigned on 4 April 2011. On cessation of employment, Mr Brien was paid a settlement equal to 12 months annual base salary in settlement of all 

outstanding matters between Mr Brien and the Company.
(3) Appointed 4 April 2011.
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fINANCIAL YEAR 2010 

ShORT-TERM BENEfITS
POST-EMPLOYMENT 

BENEfITS

ShARE-
BASED

PAYMENTS

PERfOR-
MANCE

RELATED

NAME

CASh
SALARY

AND fEES
BONuS

PAYMENTS

NON-
MONETARY

BENEfITS

TERM-
INATION

PAYMENTS
SuPER-

ANNuATION

ShARE-
BASED

PAYMENTS
% Of

TOTAL TOTAL

Executive Director

N. Curtis 590,000 300,000 – – – 2,472,449 74% 3,362,449 

Non-Executive Directors

W. Forde 100,917 – – – 9,083 204,363 65% 314,363 

D. Davidson 38,927 – – – 51,073 153,285 64% 243,285 

J. Klein 85,665 – – – 4,335 153,285 70% 243,285 

Z. Switkowski – – – – – – – –

Executives

A. Arnold 284,404 155,000 – – 25,596 419,956 47% 884,956 

J. Brien 243,119 – – – 21,881 42,267 14% 307,267 

M. James 298,165 – – – 26,835 940,805 74% 1,265,805 

E. Noyrez(4) 210,807 – – – 18,360 284,630 55% 513,797 

J. G. Taylor 214,404 77,500 – – 95,596 53,334 12% 440,834 

M. Vaisey 269,287 – – – 20,712 330,417 56% 620,416 

M. Wolley(5) 52,752 – – 340,774 35,161 75,178 15% 503,865 

Total 2,388,447 532,500 – 340,774 308,632 5,129,969  8,700,322 

(4) Appointed 16 February 2010.
(5) Resigned on 31 August 2009.

H) Share-Based Remuneration
The following table lists any options which are still to vest, or have yet to expire.

gRANT DATE NuMBER

DATE
vESTED AND
EXERCISABLE

EXPIRY
DATE

EXERCISE
PRICE

vALuE PER
OPTION AT

gRANT DATE

04/04/2007 50,000 04/04/2010 04/04/2012 $0.64 $0.422

25/06/2007 9,350,000 25/06/2010 25/06/2012 $1.01 $0.635

20/08/2007 50,000 24/08/2010 24/08/2012 $0.81 $0.490

02/07/2007 100,000 02/07/2010 02/07/2012 $0.91 $0.760

19/03/2008 500,000 31/12/2010 31/12/2012 $1.06 $0.530

06/05/2008 200,000 30/04/2011 30/04/2013 $1.09 $0.640

21/07/2008 1,000,000 21/07/2011 21/07/2013 $0.98 $0.520

24/09/2008 14,850,000 24/09/2011 24/09/2013 $0.66 $0.330

24/09/2008 2,700,000 24/09/2011 24/09/2013 $0.81 $0.340

05/01/2009 1,100,000 05/01/2012 05/01/2014 $0.16 $0.160

08/10/2009 24,500,000 08/10/2012 08/10/2014 $0.66 $0.234

01/07/2010 1,000,000 01/07/2013 01/07/2015 $0.66 $0.234

19/08/2010 10,500,000 19/08/2013 19/08/2015 $1.15 $0.345

19/08/2010 1,908,618 19/08/2013 19/08/2015 $0.00 $0.962

01/10/2010 1,000,000 01/10/2013 01/10/2015 $1.60 $0.476

24/11/2010 12,900,000 19/08/2013 19/08/2015 $1.15 $0.660

18/05/2011 200,000 01/10/2011 31/12/2015 $2.36 $1.125

06/06/2011 420,000 06/06/2014 06/06/2016 $0.00 $2.296

Total 82,328,618
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Those options with an exercise price of $0.00 are performance rights, which are issued on the same terms as options, except that 
no additional amount is payable to exercise them.

The following table the options issued for the benefit of Directors and the KMP during the 2011 and 2010 financial years and those 
options which have vested at each respective year-end. 

30 JuNE 2011

BALANCE
AT BEgINNINg

Of PERIOD
gRANTED AS

REMuNERATION

OPTIONS
EXERCISED/
CANCELLED

NET
ChANgE

BALANCE AT
END Of
PERIOD

vESTED AT
30 JuNE 2011

A. Arnold 4,400,000 1,500,000 – 1,500,000 5,900,000 –

G. Barr 650,000 200,000 – 200,000 850,000 200,000

J. Brien 700,000 2,500,000 (200,000) 2,300,000 3,000,000 –

N. Curtis 27,000,000 9,000,000 (5,000,000) 4,000,000 31,000,000 5,000,000

D. Davidson 1,900,000 1,200,000 – 1,200,000 3,100,000 –

W. Forde 2,500,000 1,500,000 – 1,500,000 4,000,000 –

M. James 6,250,000 2,000,000 (1,000,000) 1,000,000 7,250,000 2,000,000

J. Klein 1,900,000 1,200,000 – 1,200,000 3,100,000 –

E. Noyrez 5,000,000 3,000,000 – 3,000,000 8,000,000 –

J. G. Taylor 1,000,000 1,500,000 – 1,500,000 2,500,000 –

Z. Switkowski – –  – – – –

Total 51,300,000 23,600,000 (6,200,000) 17,400,000 68,700,000 7,200,000

30 JuNE 2010

BALANCE
AT BEgINNINg

Of PERIOD
gRANTED AS

REMuNERATION

OPTIONS
EXERCISED/
CANCELLED

NET
ChANgE

BALANCE AT
END Of
PERIOD

vESTED AT
30 JuNE 2010

A. Arnold 2,000,000 2,400,000 – 2,400,000 4,400,000 –

J. Brien 700,000 – – – 700,000 –

N. Curtis 15,000,000 12,000,000 – 12,000,000 27,000,000 10,000,000

D. Davidson 800,000 1,100,000 – 1,100,000 1,900,000 –

W. Forde 1,100,000 1,400,000 1,400,000 2,500,000 –

M. James 4,750,000 1,500,000 – 1,500,000 6,250,000 3,000,000

J. Klein 800,000 1,100,000 – 1,100,000 1,900,000 –

E. Noyrez – 5,000,000 – 5,000,000 5,000,000 –

J. G. Taylor 1,000,000 – – – 1,000,000 –

M. Vaisey 2,750,000 – – – 2,750,000 1,750,000

M. Wolley 3,450,000 – (1,000,000)* (1,000,000) 2,450,000 –

Total 32,350,000 24,500,000 (1,000,000) 23,500,000 55,850,000 14,750,000

* Options cancelled.

Fair value of options 
The fair value of each option is estimated on the date the options are granted using a Black and Scholes valuation model. The following 
assumptions were considered in the valuation of options issued throughout the year:

Dividend yield Nil

Expected volatility 52.7%

Risk-free interest rate 5.25%

Life of option 5 years
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No dividends have been paid in the past and so it is not appropriate to estimate future possible dividends in arriving at the fair values. 
The life of the options is based on a five-year expiry from date of issue and is therefore not necessarily indicative of exercise patterns 
that may occur. The resulting weighted average fair values for those options issued during the year are:

NAME
NuMBER Of

OPTIONS
gRANT

DATE

fAIR vALuE
PER OPTION

AT gRANT
DATE

EXERCISE
PRICE PER

OPTION
EXPIRY

DATE

fIRST
EXERCISE

DATE

LAST
EXERCISE

DATE

A. Arnold 1,500,000 19/08/2010 $0.3450 $1.15 19/08/2015 19/08/2013 19/08/2015

G. Barr 200,000 19/08/2010 $0.9620 $0.00 19/08/2015 19/08/2013 19/08/2015

J. Brien 2,500,000 19/08/2010 $0.3450 $1.15 19/08/2015 19/08/2013 19/08/2015

N. Curtis 9,000,000 24/11/2010 $0.6600 $1.15 19/08/2015 19/08/2013 19/08/2015

D. Davidson 1,200,000 24/11/2010 $0.6600 $1.15 19/08/2015 19/08/2013 19/08/2015

W. Forde 1,500,000 24/11/2010 $0.6600 $1.15 19/08/2015 19/08/2013 19/08/2015

M. James 2,000,000 19/08/2010 $0.3450 $1.15 19/08/2015 19/08/2013 19/08/2015

J. Klein 1,200,000 24/11/2010 $0.6600 $1.15 19/08/2015 19/08/2013 19/08/2015

E. Noyrez 3,000,000 19/08/2010 $0.3450 $1.15 19/08/2015 19/08/2013 19/08/2015

J. G. Taylor 1,500,000 19/08/2010 $0.3450 $1.15 19/08/2015 19/08/2013 19/08/2015

Z. Switkowski – – – – – – –

Total 23,600,000

Those options with an exercise price of $0.00 are performance rights, which are issued on the same terms as options, except that 
no additional amount is payable to exercise them.

All options or performance rights granted for the benefit of Directors and the KMP have three-year vesting periods. The options and 
performance rights are exercisable between three and five years after the options have been granted, subject to achievement of the 
relevant performance hurdles.

COMPETENT PERSON’S STATEMENT
The information in this report that relates to Exploration Results, Mineral Resources or Ore Reserves is based on information compiled 
by Brendan Shand, who is a member of The Australasian Institute of Mining and Metallurgy. Brendan Shand is an employee of the 
Company and has sufficient experience, which is relevant to the style of mineralisation and type of deposit under consideration and 
to the activity which he is undertaking, to qualify as a Competent Person as defined in the 2004 Edition of the “Australasian Code for 
Reporting of Exploration Results, Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves”. Brendan Shand consents to the inclusion in the report of the 
matters based on his information in the form and context in which it appears.

AUDITOR’S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION 
We have obtained an independence declaration from our auditors, Ernst & Young, which follows the Directors’ Report.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Directors.

Nicholas Curtis 
Executive Chairman

Sydney    
22 September 2011
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 Corporate governance Statement

The Board of Directors of Lynas Corporation Limited is responsible for the corporate governance of the Consolidated Entity. The Board 
guides and monitors the business and affairs of Lynas Corporation Limited on behalf of the shareholders by whom they are elected and 
to whom they are accountable.

In accordance with the ASX Corporate Governance Council’s recommendations, the Corporate Governance Statement must contain 
certain specific information and also report on the Company’s adoption of the Council’s best practice recommendations on an 
exception basis, whereby disclosure is required of any recommendations that have not been adopted by the Company, together with 
the reasons why they have not been adopted. Lynas Corporation Limited’s corporate governance principles and policies are therefore 
structured with reference to the ASX Corporate Governance Council’s best practice recommendations.

Lynas Corporation Limited’s corporate governance practices were in place throughout the financial year ended 30 June 2011, and 
complied with all of the ASX Corporate Governance Council’s Principles and Recommendations except as noted below in relation 
to Recommendations 2.2 and 2.3. In addition, as noted below, the Company did not follow one aspect of the commentary that 
follows Recommendation 8.3 during the financial year ended 30 June 2011, however the Company intends to follow all aspects of 
the commentary that follows Recommendation 8.3 during the financial year ended 30 June 2012, and during subsequent financial 
years. Details of the Company’s corporate governance practices are as follows.

PRINCIPLE 1 – LAY SOLID FOUNDATIONS FOR MANAGEMENT AND OVERSIGHT 

Recommendation 1.1 – Functions reserved to the board and delegated to senior executives
The Company has established the functions reserved to the Board and the functions delegated to senior executives. The functions 
reserved to the Board include:

(1) oversight of the Company, including its control and accountability systems;

(2) appointing and removing the CEO (or equivalent), including approving remuneration of the CEO and the remuneration policy and 
succession plans for the CEO;

(3) ratifying the appointment and, where appropriate, the removal of the CFO (or equivalent) and the Secretary;

(4) input into the final approval of management’s development of corporate strategy and performance objectives;

(5) reviewing and ratifying systems of risk management and internal compliance and control, codes of conduct and legal compliance;

(6) monitoring senior management’s performance and implementation of strategy, and ensuring appropriate resources are available;

(7) approving and monitoring the progress of major capital expenditure, capital management and acquisitions and divestitures;

(8) approving and monitoring financial and other reporting;

(9) appointment and composition of committees of the Board;

(10) on recommendation of the Audit Committee, appointment of external auditors; and

(11) on recommendation of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee, initiating Board and Director evaluation.

The functions delegated to senior executives include:

(1) implementing the Company’s vision, values and business plan;

(2) managing the business to agreed capital and operating expenditure budgets;

(3) identifying and exploring opportunities to build and sustain the business;

(4) allocating resources to achieve the desired business outcomes;

(5) sharing knowledge and experience to enhance success;

(6) facilitating and monitoring the potential and career development of the Company’s people resources;

(7) identifying and mitigating areas of risk within the business;

(8) managing effectively the internal and external stakeholder relationships and engagement strategies;

(9) sharing information and making decisions across functional areas;

(10) determining the senior executives’ position on strategic and operational issues; and

(11) determining the senior executives’ position on matters that will be referred to the Board.

Recommendation 1.2 – Performance evaluation of senior executives 
The Company has detailed written Key Responsibility Areas and Key Performance Indicators for each senior executive. The performance 
of senior executives is periodically reviewed against their Key Performance Indicators, at least once every 12 months, as part of the 
Company’s formal performance review procedures. The Company has adopted a formal procedure whereby each senior executive meets 
with his/her direct supervisor to review performance against KPI’s during the review period. The results of that review are recorded in 
writing for follow up during subsequent meetings, and for internal reporting purposes. 

Induction procedures are in place to allow new senior executives to participate fully and actively in management decision making at the 
earliest opportunity.
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Recommendation 1.3 – Performance evaluation of senior executives during the financial year
An evaluation of senior executives took place during the financial year. The evaluation was in accordance with the procedure disclosed 
in  relation to Recommendation 1.2.

The matters reserved for the Board are disclosed in relation to Recommendation 1.1. In addition, these matters are summarised in the 
Company’s Board Charter, a copy of which is available on the Company’s website, www.lynascorp.com. The matters delegated to senior 
executives are disclosed in relation to Recommendation 1.1.

PRINCIPLE 2 – STRUCTURE THE BOARD TO ADD VALUE

Recommendation 2.1 – A majority of the Board should be independent Directors
Recommendation 2.1 requires a majority of the Board to be independent Directors. The Corporate Governance Council defines 
independence as being free from any business or other relationship that could materially interfere with – or could reasonably be 
perceived to materially interfere with – the exercise of unfettered and independent judgement.

The Board has a majority of independent Directors. In accordance with the definition of independence above, and the materiality 
thresholds set, David Davidson, Jake Klein, Liam Forde and Ziggy Switkowski are viewed as independent Directors. Whilst Mr Forde 
acts as Chairman (and receives fees accordingly) of the LampsOn Board which oversees the construction of the Company’s Malaysian 
Advanced Materials Plant, the Board does not view this as interfering with the exercise of unfettered and independent judgement.

Nick Curtis is the Executive Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of the Company. As the Chief Executive Officer of the Company, 
Mr Curtis is not an independent Director of the Company in accordance with the definition above.

Recommendation 2.2 – The Chair should be an independent Director
Nick Curtis is the Executive Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of the Company. Mr Curtis has a 0.94% shareholding in the Company 
and the Board does not view this as interfering with the exercise of unfettered and independent judgement. 

The Company is in development phase and the Board believes that Nick Curtis is the best person to perform both the roles of Chairman 
and Chief Executive Officer at this stage of the Company’s growth. 

The dual role of Mr Curtis is balanced by the presence of a clear majority of independent Directors on the Board. In addition Mr Forde 
acts as the lead independent Director of the Company. The role of the lead independent Director includes chairing meetings of the 
Board on matters where the chairman is unable to act in that capacity, for example due to a lack of independence.

Recommendation 2.3 – The roles of Chair and Chief Executive Officer should be separated
As disclosed in relation to Recommendation 2.2, Nick Curtis acts as both Executive Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of the 
Company. The reasons why Mr Curtis performs that dual role are disclosed in relation to Recommendation 2.2.

Recommendation 2.4 – Nomination Committee
The Board has established a Nomination and Remuneration Committee. A copy of the Charter of the Nomination and Remuneration 
Committee is available from the Company’s website, www.lynascorp.com.

The Nomination and Remuneration Committee consists only of independent Non-Executive Directors. During the period 1 July 2010 
to 23 June 2011, the members of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee were Messrs. Davidson and Forde. During the period 
23 June 2011 to 30 June 2011, the members of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee were Messrs. Davidson, Forde and 
Switkowski. Further details are provided in the Directors Meetings section of the Director’s Report. 

Recommendation 2.5 – Process for evaluating the performance of the Board
In accordance with the Charter of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee, the Committee is responsible for the:

(1) annual evaluation and review of the performance of the Board against both measurable and qualitative indicators established 
by the Committee;

(2) evaluation and review of the performance of individual Directors against both measurable and qualitative indicators established 
by the Committee;

(3) review of and making of recommendations on the size and structure of the Board; and

(4) review of the effectiveness and programme of Board meetings.

In addition, during the financial year, Mr Lynn Anderson, an independent consultant, conducted an independent evaluation and review 
of the performance of the Board, and reported to the Nomination and Remuneration Committee. 
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Recommendation 2.6 – Additional information concerning the Board and Directors
In accordance with Recommendation 2.6, the Company provides the following additional information:

(1) the skills and experience of each Director is set out in the Directors section of the Director’s Report,

(2) the period of office of each Director is as follows:

NAME TERM IN OffICE

N. Curtis 9 years

J. Klein 6 years

D. Davidson 5 years 7 months 

W. Forde 3 years 5 months 

Z. Switkowski 5 months

(3) the reasons why Messrs Klein, Davidson, Forde and Switkowski are considered to be independent Directors are disclosed in relation 
to Recommendation 2.1,

(4) there are procedures in place, agreed by the Board, to enable Directors, in furtherance of their duties, to seek independent 
professional advice at the company’s expense, 

(5) details of the names of members of the nomination and remuneration committee are disclosed in relation to Recommendation 
2.4 and attendances at meetings are set out in the Directors Meetings section of the Director’s Report,

(6) an evaluation of the performance of the Board, its committees and individual Directors took place during the financial year. 
That evaluation was in accordance with the process disclosed,

(7) the Nomination and Remuneration Committee is responsible for providing the Board with advice and recommendations regarding 
the ongoing development of:

(a) a plan for identifying, assessing and enhancing Director competencies; and

(b)  a succession plan that is designed to ensure that an appropriate balance of skills, experience and expertise is maintained 
on the Board.

the Charter of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee requires that prior to identifying an individual for nomination for 
directorship, the Committee must evaluate the range of skills, experience and expertise currently existing on the Board to ensure 
that the Committee identifies the particular skills, experience and expertise that will most effectively complement the Board’s current 
composition. If a new candidate is approved by the Nomination and Remuneration Committee, the appointment of that new candidate 
is ultimately subject to shareholder approval in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001 and the Company’s Constitution,

(8) the Company is committed to promoting a culture that embraces diversity and recognises that employees at all levels of 
the Company may have domestic responsibilities. Diversity includes, but is not limited to, gender, age, ethnicity and cultural 
background. There is a particular focus on gender diversity throughout the various levels of employment and management 
in the Company,

(9) the Company is committed to identifying programmes that assist in the development of a broader pool of skilled and experienced 
Board candidates including:

(a) initiatives focused on skills development, such as executive mentoring programmes, and

(b)  career advancement programs to develop skills and experience that prepare employees for senior management and Board positions,

(10) pursuant to Article 13.2 of the Company’s Constitution, one-third of the Directors of the Company (other than the Chief 
Executive Officer), or if their number is not a multiple of 3, then such number as is appropriate to ensure that no Director other 
than Alternate Directors and the Managing Director holds office for more than three years, must retire at each Annual General 
Meeting and being eligible may offer themselves for re-election. If a candidate is approved by the Nomination and Remuneration 
Committee for re-election, the re-election of that candidate is subject to shareholder approval in Annual General Meeting,

(11) the Board’s policy for the nomination and appointment of Directors is summarised above. Further details are set out in the Charter 
of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee. A copy of the Charter of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee is 
available from the Company’s website, www.lynascorp.com.
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PRINCIPLE 3 – PROMOTE ETHICAL AND RESPONSIBLE DECISION MAKING

Recommendation 3.1 – Code of Conduct
The Company has established a code of conduct as to the:

(1) practices necessary to maintain confidence in the Company’s integrity;

(2) practices necessary to take into account the Company’s legal obligations and the expectations of stakeholders; and

(3) responsibility and accountability of individuals for reporting and investigating reports of unethical practices.

A copy of the Code of Conduct is available from the Company’s website, www.lynascorp.com.

Recommendation 3.2 – Diversity Policy
The Company has established a policy concerning diversity. The Company recognises the need to set diversity measures in each of 
its operating locations taking into account the differing diversity issues within each geographic location in which it operates. A copy 
of the diversity policy is available from the Company’s website, www.lynascorp.com. The policy includes requirements for the Board 
to establish measurable objectives for achieving gender diversity and for the Board to assess annually both the objectives and progress 
in achieving them.

Recommendation 3.3 – Measurable Objectives for Achieving Gender Diversity
The Board has set the following measurable objectives for achieving gender diversity:

(1) ensuring that recruitment of employees and Directors is made from a diverse pool of qualified candidates. Where appropriate, 
a professional recruitment firm shall be engaged to select a diverse range of suitably qualified candidates.

(2) setting target proportions of women or other groups of individuals within areas of the Company,

(3) identifying programmes that assist in the development of a broader pool of skilled and experienced Board candidates including:

(a) initiatives focused on skills development, such as executive mentoring programmes, and

(b)  career advancement programs to develop skills and experience that prepare employees for senior management and Board positions.

(4) taking action against inappropriate workplace behaviour and behaviour that is inconsistent with the diversity objectives 
of the Company.

Given that the measurable objectives have recently been adopted by the Company, the financial year ending 30 June 2012 will 
be the first financial year during which the Company will report on progress in achieving these measurable objectives.

Recommendation 3.4 – Proportion of Women Employees
The Company provides the following statistics on gender diversity as at 31 July 2011: 

(1) proportion of women employees in the whole organisation: 18.9%

(2) proportion of women in senior management positions: 21.9%

(3) The Company announced on 22 September 2011 the appointment of Kathleen Conlon as an additional Non-Executive Director 
with effect from 1 November 2011. Following the appointment of Ms. Conlon becoming effective, the proportion of women 
on the Board will be 17%.

Recommendation 3.5 – Documents on Company website
Copies of the Code of Conduct and the Diversity Policy are available from the Company’s website, www.lynascorp.com.
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PRINCIPLE 4 – SAFEGUARD INTEGRITY IN FINANCIAL REPORTING 

Recommendation 4.1 – Audit Committee
The Company has established an Audit Committee.

Recommendation 4.2 – Structure of the Audit Committee
The Company’s Audit Committee complies with each of the requirements of Recommendation 4.2 as follows:

(1) the Audit Committee consists only of Non-Executive Directors. During the period 1 July 2010 to 18 February 2011, the members 
of the Audit Committee were Messrs. Forde, Davidson and Klein. During the period 18 February to 30 June 2011, the members 
of the Audit Committee were Messrs. Forde, Klein and Switkowski. Further details are provided in the Directors Meetings section 
of the Director’s Report,

(2) all of the members of the Audit Committee are independent Directors,

(3) the Audit Committee is chaired by Liam Forde, who is an independent Director and who is not chair of the Board,

(4) the Audit Committee has three members.

Recommendation 4.3 – Audit Committee Charter
The Company has adopted an Audit Committee Charter. A copy of the Audit Committee Charter is available from the Company’s 
website, www.lynascorp.com.

Recommendation 4.4 – Additional Information concerning the Audit Committee
In accordance with Recommendation 4.4, the Company provides the following additional information concerning the Audit Committee:

(1) during the period 1 July 2010 to 18 February 2011, the members of the Audit Committee were Messrs. Forde, Davidson and Klein. 
During the period 18 February to 30 June 2011, the members of the Audit Committee were Messrs. Forde, Klein and Switkowski. 
Details of the qualifications of the members of the Audit Committee are set out in the Directors section of the Director’s Report,

(2) two meetings of the Audit Committee were held during the financial year. All members of the Audit Committee attended 
those meetings,

(3) the Audit Committee is responsible for reviewing and recommending to the Board the appointment, remuneration and terms 
of engagement of the external auditors, 

(4) in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, if an external audit engagement partner plays a significant role in the audit of the 
Company for five successive financial years, that partner is not eligible to play a significant role in the audit of the Company for 
a later financial year unless the partner has not played a significant role in the audit of the Company for at least two successive 
financial years. 

PRINCIPLE 5 - MAKE TIMELY AND BALANCED DISCLOSURE 

Recommendation 5.1 – ASX Listing Rule Disclosure Requirements
The Company has established a written policy designed to ensure:

(1) compliance with ASX Listing Rules disclosure; and

(2) accountability at a senior executive level for that disclosure.

Recommendation 5.2 – Continuous Disclosure Policy
A copy of the Company’s continuous disclosure policy is available from the Company’s website, www.lynascorp.com.

PRINCIPLE 6 - RESPECT THE RIGHTS OF SHAREHOLDERS

Recommendation 6.1 – Shareholder Communications Policy
The Company has adopted a shareholder communications policy for:

(a) promoting effective communication with shareholders; and

(b) encouraging shareholder participation at AGMs.

A copy of the Company’s Shareholder Communications Policy is available from the Company’s website, www.lynascorp.com.

Recommendation 6.2 – Availability of Shareholder Communications Policy
As noted above, a copy of the Company’s shareholder communications policy is available from the Company’s website, www.lynascorp.com.
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PRINCIPLE 7 - RECOGNISE AND MANAGE RISK 

Recommendation 7.1 – Risk Management Policies
The Company has established policies for the oversight and management of its material business risks as follows:

(1) the Company has adopted a Risk Management Policy and a risk management framework for oversight and management of its 
material business risks. Those documents clearly describe the roles and accountabilities of the Board, the risk management, safety, 
health, environment and community committee, the audit committee and management,

(2) the risk management, safety, health, environment and community committee oversees the Company’s material business risks, 

(3) the risk management, safety, health, environment and community departments of the Company manage the Company’s material 
business risks,

(4) the Audit Committee oversees financial risks pursuant to the Audit Committee Charter. This includes internal controls to deal 
with both the effectiveness and efficiency of significant business processes, the safeguarding of assets, the maintenance of proper 
accounting records, and the reliability of financial information as well as non-financial considerations such as the benchmarking 
of operational key performance indicators,

(5) the finance department of the Company manages financial risks, 

(6) the Company has adopted the following policies for the oversight and management of material business risks: risk management 
policy, environmental policy, community policy and occupational health and safety policy.

Copies of the following documents referred to in this section are available from the Company’s website, www.lynascorp.com:

(1) Risk Management, Safety, Health, Environment and Community Committee Charter;

(2) Risk Management Policy;

(3) Audit Committee Charter;

(4) Environmental Policy;

(5) Community Policy;

(6) Occupational Health and Safety Policy.

The categories of risk managed by the Company include operational, environmental, sustainability, compliance, strategic, ethical, 
reputational, technological, quality, human capital, financial reporting and market-related risks.

Recommendation 7.2 – Risk Management and Internal Control System
The Board has required management to design and implement a risk management and internal control system to manage 
the Company’s business risks.

The Board has required management to report to it on whether those risks are being managed effectively.

Management has reported to the Board as to the effectiveness of the Company’s management of its material business risks.

Recommendation 7.3 – Statement from the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer
The Board has received assurance from the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer that the declaration in accordance 
with section 295A of the Corporations Act 2001 is founded on a sound system of risk management and internal control, and that the 
system is operating effectively in all material respects in relation to financial risks.

Recommendation 7.4 – Additional Information concerning Risk Management
In accordance with Recommendation 7.4, the Company provides the following additional information concerning risk management:

(1) the Board has received the report from management under Recommendation 7.2,

(2) the Board has received assurance from the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer under Recommendation 7.3,

(3) as noted above in relation to Recommendation 7.1, copies of the Company’s policies on risk oversight and management of material 
business risks are available from the Company’s website, www.lynascorp.com. 

PRINCIPLE 8 – REMUNERATE FAIRLY AND RESPONSIBLY 

Recommendation 8.1 – Remuneration Committee
The Company has established a Nomination and Remuneration Committee.

Recommendation 8.2 – Structure of the Remuneration Committee
The Nomination and Remuneration Committee consists only of independent Non-Executive Directors. During the period 1 July 2010 
to 23 June 2011, the members of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee were Messrs. Davidson and Forde. During the period 
23 June 2011 to 30 June 2011, the members of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee were Messrs. Davidson, Forde and 
Switkowski. Further details are provided in the Directors Meetings section of the Directors’ Report.
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The Nomination and Remuneration Committee is chaired by David Davidson, who is an independent Director and who is not chair 
of the Board.

Recommendation 8.3 – Remuneration of Executive Directors, Executives and Non-Executive Directors
The remuneration of Executive Directors and senior executives during the financial year comprised the following:

(1) fixed remuneration and superannuation payments,

(2) share options issued for the benefit of the relevant individuals pursuant to the Company’s employee share option plan.

Details of the remuneration of Executive Directors and senior executives during the financial year are set out in the Remuneration 
Report section of the Directors’ Report.

The remuneration of Non-Executive Directors during the financial year comprised the following:

(1) cash fees and superannuation payments,

(2) share options for the benefit of the relevant Non-Executive Directors pursuant to the Company’s employee share option plan.

The Company has announced that commencing with the financial year ending 30 June 2012, the Company will no longer grant share 
options to Non-Executive Directors. The remuneration of Non-Executive Directors during the financial year ending 30 June 2012 will 
comprise cash fees and superannuation payments only.

Details of the remuneration of Non-Executive Directors during the financial year are set out in the Remuneration Report section 
of the Director’s Report.

The fixed remuneration paid to Executive Directors and senior executives is clearly distinguished from the cash fees paid 
to Non-Executive Directors. 

The Company’s Nomination and Remuneration Committee took advice from an external consulting firm in determining the terms of 
options to be issued for the benefit of Non-Executive Directors during the financial year ending 30 June 2011. The Company is in project 
development mode, and therefore it is appropriate to conserve the Company’s cash resources by including options in the remuneration 
of Non-Executive Directors. In addition, the options component of remuneration provides a link to the medium-term and long-term 
strategies of growing the Company for the benefit of all shareholders. It is also noted that the issuance of options to Non-Executive 
Directors was approved by the Company’s shareholders at the Annual General Meeting held on 24 November 2010. 

The Company complies with Recommendation 8.3 by clearly distinguishing the structure of Non-Executive Directors’ remuneration 
from that of Executive Directors and senior executives. The commentary that follows each Recommendation does not form part of 
the Recommendation. The commentary is provided to, among other things, highlight factors which may be relevant to consider and to 
make suggestions for implementation. The commentary that follows Recommendation 8.3 includes the suggestion that Non-Executive 
Directors should not receive options. For the reasons discussed above, in the Company’s particular circumstances it was considered 
appropriate for options to be issued to Non-Executive Directors during the financial year ending 30 June 2011. Therefore, during the 
financial year ending 30 June 2011, the Company did not follow the suggestion in the commentary to Recommendation 8.3 that 
Non-Executive Directors should not receive options. However, the Company intends to follow all aspects of the commentary that 
follows Recommendation 8.3 during the financial year ended 30 June 2012, and during subsequent financial years.

Recommendation 8.4 – Additional Information concerning Remuneration 
In accordance with Recommendation 8.4, the Company provides the following additional information concerning remuneration:

(1) the Nomination and Remuneration Committee consists only of independent Non-Executive Directors. During the period 1 July 
2010 to 23 June 2011, the members of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee were Messrs. Davidson and Forde. During 
the period 23 June 2011 to 30 June 2011, the members of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee were Messrs. Davidson, 
Forde and Switkowski. Further details are provided in the Directors Meetings section of the Director’s Report. There were 
four formal meetings of the committee during the year, which were attended by all members. In addition, there were several 
informal meetings,

(2) directors Meetings section of the Director’s Report. There were four formal meetings of the committee during the year, which were 
attended by all members. In addition, there were several informal meetings,

(3) the Company has no schemes for retirement benefits for Non-Executive Directors, other than superannuation,

(4) a copy of the Charter of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee is available from the Company’s website, www.lynascorp.com.

In accordance with the Company’s share trading policy, Directors and employees must not at any time enter into transactions in 
associated products which limit the economic risk of participating in unvested entitlements under equity based remuneration schemes. 
A copy of the share trading policy is available from the Company’s website, www.lynascorp.com.
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2011

NOTES
2011

A$’000
2010

A$’000

REvENuE 

Interest income 3 10,006 9,130 

EXPENSES   

Salaries, employee benefits and share-based payments 4 (28,970) (16,422) 

Depreciation and amortisation 4 (1,220) (1,158) 

Other expenses from ordinary activities 4 (27,015) (9,159) 

Interest expense (775) –

OThER gAINS AND LOSSES   

Foreign exchange (losses)/gain (8,613) 2,337

Suspension costs 18 (701) (5,069) 

De-recognition of assets – (22,700) 

LOSS BEfORE INCOME TAX EXPENSE (57,288) (43,041)

INCOME TAX (EXPENSE)/BENEfIT 5 (1,798) – 

NET LOSS ATTRIBuTABLE TO MEMBERS Of LYNAS CORPORATION LIMITED (59,086) (43,041)

Exchange differences on translation of overseas subsidiaries (50,560) 26,546 

Gain in investment available for sale (net of tax) 16 5,518 –

TOTAL COMPREhENSIvE LOSS fOR ThE PERIOD (104,128) (16,495)

Basic loss per share (cents per share) 27 (3.54) (3.23)

Diluted loss per share (cents per share) 27 (3.54) (3.23)
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NOTES
2011

A$’000
2010

A$’000

CuRRENT ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents 7 198,411 405,245

Restricted cash 8 235,545 –

Trade and other receivables 9 4,566 1,052 

Prepayments 10 1,182 801 

Inventories 11 11,569 –

TOTAL CuRRENT ASSETS 451,273 407,098 

NON-CuRRENT ASSETS

Inventories 11 18,674 23,887 

Property, plant and equipment 12 361,070 178,631 

Deferred exploration, evaluation and development costs 13 22,880 23,304 

Intangible assets 14 346 315 

Other non-current assets 15 10,138 7,428 

Other investments 16 9,652 –

TOTAL NON-CuRRENT ASSETS 422,760 233,565 

TOTAL ASSETS 874,033 640,663 

CuRRENT LIABILITIES

Trade and other payables 17 27,965 13,419 

Provisions 18 2,928 4,586 

TOTAL CuRRENT LIABILITIES 30,893 18,005 

NON-CuRRENT LIABILITIES

Provisions 19 4,009 3,515 

Interest bearing liability 20 212,364 –

TOTAL NON-CuRRENT LIABILITIES 216,373 3,515 

TOTAL LIABILITIES 247,266 21,520 

NET ASSETS 626,767 619,143 

EQuITY

Issued capital 21 821,994 719,857 

Accumulated losses (199,366) (140,280)

Share-based payment reserve 24,562 14,947 

Foreign currency translation reserve (25,941) 24,619 

Investment revaluation reserve 5,518 –

TOTAL EQuITY 626,767 619,143 

 Consolidated Statement of financial Position
 AS AT 30 JUNE 2011
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Consolidated Statement of Cash flow
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2011

NOTES
2011

A$’000
2010

A$’000

CASh fLOWS fROM OPERATINg ACTIvITIES

Payments to suppliers and employees (43,253) (17,644)

Interest received 9,176 8,755

Net cash flows used in operating activities 22 (34,077) (8,889)

CASh fLOWS fROM INvESTINg ACTIvITIES

Purchase of property, plant, equipment and intangibles (193,632) (30,454)

Security bonds paid (401) (1,128)

Payment for tenement rights (2,573) (4,200)

Payment for exploration and development (97) (176)

Payment for equity investments (1,769) –

Net cash flows used in investing activities (198,472) (35,958)

CASh fLOWS fROM fINANCINg ACTIvITIES

Proceeds from issues of ordinary shares and exercising options 101,623 450,089

Restricted cash 8 (235,545) –

Equity raising establishment fees and costs (1,851) (18,546)

Proceeds from borrowings 212,364 –

Net cash flows provided by financing activities 76,591 431,543

NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASh AND CASh EQuIvALENTS (155,958) 386,696

Add opening cash brought forward 405,245 16,710

Net foreign exchange differences (50,876) 1,839

CLOSINg CASh AND CASh EQuIvALENTS 198,411 405,245

REPRESENTED BY

Cash at bank and on hand 7 37,810 40,812 

Short-term deposits 7 160,601 364,433 

TOTAL CLOSINg CASh AND CASh EQuIvALENTS  198,411 405,245
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2011

CONSOLIDATED

ISSuED
 CAPITAL

 $’000

ACCuMuLATED
 LOSSES

 $’000

fOREIgN
 CuRRENCY

 TRANSLATION
 RESERvE

 $’000

ShARE-BASED
 PAYMENT
 RESERvE

 $’000

INvESTMENT
 REvALuATION

 RESERvE
 $’000

TOTAL
 $’000

At 1 July 2010 719,857 (140,280) 24,619 14,947  – 619,143 

Loss for the year – (59,086) – – (59,086)

Other comprehensive income – – (50,560) – 5,518 (45,042)

Total comprehensive income – (59,086) (50,560) – 5,518 (104,128)

Exercise of options 3,268 – – – – 3,268 

Allotment of new shares 98,355 – – – – 98,355 

Cost of equity raising (1,851) – – – – (1,851)

Deferred tax 2,365 – – – – 2,365

Cost of share-based payments – – – 9,615 – 9,615 

At 30 June 2011 821,994 (199,366) (25,941) 24,562 5,518 626,767 

YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2010

CONSOLIDATED

ISSuED
 CAPITAL

 $’000

ACCuMuLATED
 LOSSES

 $’000

fOREIgN
 CuRRENCY

 TRANSLATION
 RESERvE

 $’000

ShARE-BASED
 PAYMENT
 RESERvE

 $’000

INvESTMENT
 REvALuATION

 RESERvE
 $’000

TOTAL
 $’000

At 1 July 2009 288,314 (97,239) (1,927) 8,890 – 198,038 

Loss for the year – (43,041) – – (43,041)

Other comprehensive income – – 26,546 – – 26,546

Total comprehensive income – (43,041) 26,546 – – (16,495)

Exercise of options 89 – – – – 89 

Allotment of new shares 450,000 – – – – 450,000 

Cost of equity raising (18,546) – – – – (18,546)

Cost of share-based payments – – – 6,057 – 6,057 

At 30 June 2010 719,857 (140,280) 24,619 14,947 – 619,143 
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Notes to the financial statements 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2011

1 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

a) Basis of preparation
The financial report of Lynas Corporation Limited for the year ended 30 June 2011 was authorised for issue in accordance with a 
resolution of the Directors on 22 September 2011.

Lynas Corporation Ltd (“The parent”) is a company limited by shares incorporated and domiciled in Australia whose shares are publicly 
traded on the Australian Securities Exchange. The nature of the operations and principal activities of the Group are described in the 
Directors’ Report.

The financial report is a general-purpose financial report, which has been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the 
Corporations Act 2001 and applicable Australian Accounting Standards. The financial report is presented in Australian dollars and all 
values are rounded to the nearest thousand dollars ($’000) unless otherwise stated under the option available to the Company under 
ASIC Class Order 98/0100. The Company is an entity to which the class order applies.

Historical cost convention
The financial report has been prepared in accordance with the historical cost convention.

Critical accounting estimates
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with Australian Accounting Standards requires the use of certain critical 
accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the Group’s accounting 
policies. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and various other factors that are believed 
to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis of making judgements.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the 
period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period or in the period of the revision and future periods if the 
revision affects both current and future periods.

Management has identified the following accounting policies for which judgements, estimates and assumptions are made:

•	 deferred exploration, evaluation and development costs;

•	 deferred stripping costs;

•	 provision for restoration, rehabilitation and closure; 

•	 share-based payments; and

•	 impairment.

Actual results may differ from these estimates under different assumptions and conditions and may materially affect financial results 
or the financial position reported in future periods. Further details of the nature of these assumptions and conditions may be found in 
the relevant notes to the financial statements. Where appropriate, prior year numbers have been reclassified for consistency with the 
current year disclosures.

b) Additional working capital facility
On 22 September 2011 the Company announced the execution of a working capital facility of AUD 125,000,000 with JP Morgan and 
Sumitomo Mitsui Banking Corporation which expires on 19 April 2013. The facility has certain conditions precedent for the drawdown 
of the facility, including obtaining all necessary licences, regulatory approvals and government consents in Australia and Malaysia. The 
Directors believe at the date of signing the financial report, the conditions precedent will be satisfied by the time the Company needs 
access to these funds. Should the conditions precedent not be satisfied within this period, the Company will require alternative funding 
in order to meet working capital requirements and complete the development of the Rare Earths Project.

c) Change in accounting policy
(i)  Changes in accounting policy and disclosures

New accounting standards and interpretations
The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous financial year except as follows:

The Group has adopted the following new and amended Australian Accounting Standards and AASB interpretations where applicable 
as at 1 July 2010.

•	 AASB 2009-5 Further Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from the Annual Improvements Project effective 
1 July 2010,

•	 AASB 2009-8 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Group Cash-settled Share-based Payment Transactions [AASB 2] 
effective 1 July 2010,
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Notes to the financial statements 
 FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2011

1 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES CONTINUED

•	 AASB 2009-10 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Classification of Rights Issues [AASB 132] effective 1 July 2010,

•	 AASB 2010-3 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from the Annual Improvements Project [AASB 3, AASB 7, 
AASB 121, AASB 128, AASB 131, AASB 132 & AASB139] effective 1 July 2010,

•	 Interpretation 19 Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with Equity Instruments effective 1 July 2010.

AASB 2009-5 Further amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from the Annual Improvements Project
The Improvements to IFRS project is an annual process that the IASB has adopted to deal with non-urgent but necessary amendments 
to IFRS. The amendments result in various accounting changes and terminology or editorial amendments. The subject of amendments 
to the standards are set out below:

•	 AASB 5 Disclosures in relation to non-current assets (or disposal groups) classified as held for sale or discontinued operations,

•	 AASB 8 Disclosure of information about segment assets,

•	 AASB 101 Current/non-current classification of convertible instruments,

•	 AASB 107 Classification of expenditures that does not give rise to an asset,

•	 AASB 117 Classification of leases of land,

•	 AASB 118 Determining whether an entity is acting as a principle or an agent,

•	 AASB 136 Clarifying the unit of account for goodwill impairment test is not larger than an operating segment before aggregation,

•	 AASB 139 Treating loan prepayment penalties as closely related embedded derivatives, and revising the scope exemption for forward 
contracts to enter into a business combination contract.

The adoption of these amendments did not have any impact on the financial position or the performance of the Group.

AASB 2009-8 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Group Cash-settled Share-based Payment Transactions [AASB 2]
The amendment clarifies that if an entity receives goods or services that are cash settled by shareholders not within the Group, they 
are outside the scope of IFRS 2. The adoption of this amendment did not have any impact on the financial position or the performance 
of the Group.

AASB 2009-10 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Classification of Rights Issues [AASB 132]
The amendment provides relief to entities that issue rights (fixed in a currency other than their functional currency), from treating the 
rights as derivatives with fair value changes recorded in profit or loss. The adoption of this amendment did not have any impact on the 
financial position or the performance of the Group.

AASB 2010-3 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from the Annual Improvements Project  
[AASB 3, AASB 7, AASB 121, AASB 128, AASB 131, AASB 132 & AASB139]
The principal amendments to the standards are set out below:

•	 limits the scope of the measurement choices of non-controlling interest to instruments that are present ownership interests and 
entitle their holders to a proportionate share of the entity’s net assets in the event of liquidation. Other components of NCI are 
measured at fair value,

•	 requires an entity (in a business combination) to account for the replacement of the acquiree’s share-based payment transactions 
(whether obliged or voluntarily), in a consistent manner i.e. allocate between consideration and post combination expenses,

•	 clarifies that contingent consideration from a business combination that occurred before the effective date of AASB 3 Revised 
is not restated,

•	 clarifies that the revised accounting for loss of significant influence or joint control (from the issue of IFRS 3 Revised) is only applicable 
prospectively.

The adoption of these amendments did not have any impact on the financial position or the performance of the Group.

Interpretation 19 Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with Equity Instruments
IFRIC 19 clarifies that equity instruments issued to a creditor to extinguish a financial liability are consideration paid in accordance with 
paragraph 41 of IAS 39 Financial Instruments; Recognition and Measurement. The equity instruments issued are measured at their fair 
value, unless this cannot be reliably measured, in which case they are measured at the fair value of the liability extinguished. Any gain 
or loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss. The adoption of this amendment did not have any impact on the financial position 
or the performance of the Group.

(ii)  Accounting Standards and Interpretations issued but not yet effective
Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations that have recently been issued or amended but are not yet effective and have not 
been adopted by the Group for the annual reporting period ending 30 June 2011 are outlined below:
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AASB 9 Financial Instruments
Phase 1 of IFRS 9 will have a significant impact on the classification and measurement of financial assets. The amendments become 
effective for the Consolidated Entity’s 30 June 2014 financial statements. The Consolidated Entity has not yet determined the potential 
impact of the amendments on the Consolidated Entity’s financial report.

AASB 2009-11 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 9 [AASB 1, 3, 4, 5, 7, 101, 102, 108, 112, 
118, 121, 127, 128, 131, 132, 136, 139, 1023 & 1038 and interpretations 10 & 12]
These amendments arise from the issuance of AASB 9 Financial Instruments that sets out requirements for the classification and 
measurement of financial assets. The requirements in AASB 9 form part of the first phase of the International Accounting Standards 
Board’s project to replace IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. This Standard shall be applied when AASB 9 
is applied. The amendments become effective for the Consolidated Entity’s 30 June 2014 financial statements. The Consolidated Entity 
has not yet determined the potential impact of the amendments on the Consolidated Entity’s financial report.

AASB 124 Related Party Disclosures (Revised)
The definition of a related party has been clarified to simplify the identification of related party relationships, particularly in relation to 
significant influence and joint control. The amendments become effective for the Consolidated Entity’s 30 June 2012 financial statements. 
The Consolidated Entity has not yet determined the potential impact of the amendments on the Consolidated Entity’s financial report.

New accounting standards and interpretations
AASB 2009-12 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards [AASBs 5, 8, 108, 110, 112, 119, 133, 137, 139, 1023 & 1031 
and Interpretations 2, 4, 16, 1039 & 1052]
This amendment makes numerous editorial changes to a range of Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations, including 
amendments to reflect changes made to the text of IFRS by the IASB. The amendments become effective for the Consolidated Entity’s 
30 June 2012 financial statements. The Consolidated Entity has not yet determined the potential impact of the amendments on the 
Consolidated Entity’s financial report.

AASB 2009-14 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Prepayments of a Minimum Funding Requirement  
[AASB Interpretation 14]
IFRIC 14 provides guidance on assessing the recoverable amount of a net pension asset. The amendment permits an entity to treat 
the prepayment of a minimum funding requirement as an asset. The amendments become effective for the Consolidated Entity’s 
30 June 2012 financial statements. The Consolidated Entity has not yet determined the potential impact of the amendments on 
the Consolidated Entity’s financial report.

AASB 1053 Application of Tiers of Australian Accounting Standards
This Standard establishes a differential financial reporting framework consisting of two tiers of reporting requirements for preparing 
general purpose financial statements:

(a) Tier 1: Australian Accounting Standards

(b) Tier 2: Australian Accounting Standards – Reduced Disclosure Requirements

The amendments become effective for the Consolidated Entity’s 30 June 2014 financial statements. The Consolidated Entity has not 
yet  determined the potential impact of the amendments on the Consolidated Entity’s financial report.

AASB 1054 Australian Additional Disclosures
This standard is as a consequence of phase 1 of the joint Trans-Tasman Convergence project of the AASB and FRSB. This standard 
relocates all Australian specific disclosures from other standards to one place and revises disclosures in certain areas. The amendments 
become effective for the Consolidated Entity’s 30 June 2012 financial statements. The Consolidated Entity has not yet determined the 
potential impact of the amendments on the Consolidated Entity’s financial report.

AASB 2010-4 Further Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from the Annual Improvements Project  
[AASB 1, AASB 7, AASB 101, AASB 134 and Interpretation 13]
Emphasises the interaction between quantitative and qualitative AASB 7 disclosures and the nature and extent of risks associated 
with financial instruments. The amendments become effective for the Consolidated Entity’s 30 June 2012 financial statements. The 
Consolidated Entity has not yet determined the potential impact of the amendments on the Consolidated Entity’s financial report.

AASB 2010-5 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards [AASB 1, 3, 4, 5, 101, 107, 112, 118, 119, 121, 132, 133, 134, 137, 
139, 140, 1023 & 1038 and Interpretations 112, 115, 127, 132 & 1042]
This Standard makes numerous editorial amendments to a range of Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations, including 
amendments to reflect changes made to the text of IFRS by the IASB. The amendments become effective for the Consolidated Entity’s 
30 June 2012 financial statements. The Consolidated Entity has not yet determined the potential impact of the amendments on the 
Consolidated Entity’s financial report.
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AASB 2010-6 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Disclosures on Transfers of Financial Assets [AASB 1 & AASB 7]
The amendments increase the disclosure requirements for transactions involving transfers of financial assets. The amendments become 
effective for the Consolidated Entity’s 30 June 2012 financial statements. The Consolidated Entity has not yet determined the potential 
impact of the amendments on the Consolidated Entity’s financial report.

AASB 2010-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 9 (December 2010) [AASB 1, 3, 4, 5, 7, 101, 
102, 108, 112, 118, 120, 121, 127, 128, 131, 132, 136, 137, 139, 1023, & 1038 and interpretations 2, 5, 10, 12, 19 & 127]
The requirements for classifying and measuring financial liabilities were added to AASB 9. The existing requirements for the 
classification of financial liabilities and the ability to use the fair value option have been retained. However, where the fair value 
option is used for financial liabilities, the change in fair value is accounted for differently. The amendments become effective for the 
Consolidated Entity’s 30 June 2014 financial statements. The Consolidated Entity has not yet determined the potential impact of the 
amendments on the Consolidated Entity’s financial report.

AASB 2010-8 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Deferred Tax: Recovery of Underlying Assets [AASB 112]
These amendments address the determination of deferred tax on investment property measured at fair value and introduce a rebuttable 
presumption that deferred tax on investment property measured at fair value should be determined on the basis that the carrying amount 
will be recoverable through sale. The amendments become effective for the Consolidated Entity’s 30 June 2013 financial statements. 
The Consolidated Entity has not yet determined the potential impact of the amendments on the Consolidated Entity’s financial report.

AASB 2011-1 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from the Trans-Tasman Convergence project  
[AASB 1, AASB 5, AASB 101, AASB 107, AASB 108, AASB 121, AASB 128, AASB 132, AASB 134, Interpretation 2, Interpretation 
112, Interpretation 113]
This Standard amendments many Australian Accounting Standards, removing the disclosures which have been relocated to AASB 1054. 
The amendments become effective for the Consolidated Entity’s 30 June 2012 financial statements. The Consolidated Entity has not yet 
determined the potential impact of the amendments on the Consolidated Entity’s financial report.

AASB 2011-2 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from the Trans-Tasman Convergence project – 
Reduced disclosure regime [AASB 101, AASB 1054]
This Standard makes amendments to the application of the revised disclosures to Tier 2 entities, that are applying AASB 1053. The 
amendments become effective for the Consolidated Entity’s 30 June 2014 financial statements. The Consolidated Entity has not yet 
determined the potential impact of the amendments on the Consolidated Entity’s financial report.

IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements
IFRS 10 establishes a new control model that applies to all entities. It replaces parts of IAS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial 
Statements dealing with the accounting for consolidated financial statements and SIC-12 Consolidation – Special Purpose Entities. 
The amendments become effective for the Consolidated Entity’s 30 June 2014 financial statements. The Consolidated Entity has not 
yet determined the potential impact of the amendments on the Consolidated Entity’s financial report. 

IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements
IFRS 11 replaces IAS 31 Interests in Joint Ventures and SIC-13 Jointly-Controlled Entities – Non-monetary Contributions by Ventures. 
IFRS 11 uses the principle of control in IFRS 10 to define joint control, and therefore the determination of whether joint control exists 
may change. In addition IFRS 11 removes the option to account for Jointly-Controlled Entities (JCEs) using proportionate consolidation. 
The amendments become effective for the Consolidated Entity’s 30 June 2014 financial statements. The Consolidated Entity has not yet 
determined the potential impact of the amendments on the Consolidated Entity’s financial report. 

IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities 
IFRS 12 includes all disclosures relating to an entity’s interests in subsidiaries, joint arrangements, associates and structures entities. 
New disclosures have been introduced about the judgements made by management to determine whether control exists, and to require 
summarised information about joint arrangements, associates and structured entities and subsidiaries with non-controlling interests. 
The amendments become effective for the Consolidated Entity’s 30 June 2014 financial statements. The Consolidated Entity has not 
yet determined the potential impact of the amendments on the Consolidated Entity’s financial report. 

IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement 
IFRS 13 establishes a single source of guidance under IFRS for determining the fair value of assets and liabilities. The amendments 
become effective for the Consolidated Entity’s 30 June 2014 financial statements. The Consolidated Entity has not yet determined 
the potential impact of the amendments on the Consolidated Entity’s financial report. 
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d) Principles of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements are those of the Consolidated Entity, comprising Lynas Corporation Limited (“the Parent 
Company”) and all entities that Lynas Corporation Limited controlled from time to time during the year and at reporting date.

Information from the financial statements of subsidiaries is included from the date the Parent Company obtains control until such time 
as control ceases. Where there is loss of control of a subsidiary, the consolidated financial statements include the results for the part 
of the reporting period during which the Parent Company has control.

Subsidiary acquisitions are accounted for using the purchase method of accounting.

The financial statements of subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting period as the Parent Company, using consistent accounting 
policies. Adjustments are made to bring into line any dissimilar accounting policies that may exist.

All intercompany balances and transactions, including unrealised profits arising from intra-Group transactions, have been eliminated 
in full. Unrealised losses are eliminated unless costs cannot be recovered.

e) Foreign currencies
Translation of Foreign Currency Transactions
Both the functional and presentation currency of Lynas Corporation Limited and its Australian subsidiaries is the Australian dollar (A$). 
The functional currency of Lynas Malaysia Sdn Bhd is the Malaysian Ringgit (MYR) and the functional currency of Lynas Africa Limited 
is the United States Dollar (USD).

Transactions in foreign currencies of entities within the Consolidated Entity are converted to the functional currency at the rate of 
exchange ruling at the date of the transaction.

Foreign currency monetary items that are outstanding at the reporting date (other than monetary items arising under foreign currency 
contracts where the exchange rate for that monetary item is fixed in the contract) are translated using the spot rate at the end of the 
financial year.

All resulting exchange differences arising on settlement or re-statement are recognised as revenues and expenses for the financial year.

Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value 
was determined. 

As at the reporting date the assets and liabilities of these overseas subsidiaries are translated into the presentation currency of Lynas 
Corporation Limited at the rate of exchange ruling at the balance sheet date and the income statements are translated at the weighted 
average exchange rates for the period. The exchange differences arising on the re-translation are taken directly to a separate component 
of equity.

On disposal of a foreign entity, the deferred cumulative amount recognised in equity relating to that particular foreign operation 
is recognised in the income statement.

f) Cash and cash equivalents
Cash on hand and in banks and short-term deposits are stated at nominal value.

For the purposes of the cash flow statements, cash includes cash on hand and in banks, and money market investments with an original 
maturity date of three months or less, net of outstanding bank overdrafts.

g) Receivables
Receivables are recognised and carried at amortised cost. An estimate for doubtful debts is made when collection of the full amount 
is no longer probable. Bad debts are written off when identified. Funds on deposit are measured at nominal value.

h) Investments and other financial assets
Interests in listed securities are initially recognised at fair value. At each balance sheet date they are adjusted to fair value with any 
changes in value recognised direct to equity. Dividend income is recognised in the statement of financial performance when received. 
Investments in controlled entities are carried at the lower of cost and recoverable amount.

i) Impairment of assets
At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether there is any indication that an asset may be impaired. Where an indicator of 
impairment exists, the Group makes a formal estimate of recoverable amount. Where the carrying amount of an asset exceeds 
its recoverable amount the asset is considered impaired and is written down to its recoverable amount.

Notes to the financial statements 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2011
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Recoverable amount is the greater of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. It is determined for an individual asset, unless the 
asset’s value in use cannot be estimated to be close to its fair value less costs to sell and it does not generate cash inflows that are 
largely independent of those from other assets or Groups of assets, in which case, the recoverable amount is determined for the 
cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects 
current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset.

An assessment is also made at each reporting date as to whether there is any indication that previously recognised impairment losses 
may no longer exist or may have decreased. If such indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated. 

A previously recognised impairment loss is reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the asset’s 
recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognised. If that is the case the carrying amount of the asset is increased 
to its recoverable amount. That increased amount cannot exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of 
depreciation, had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. Such reversal is recognised in profit or loss unless the 
asset is carried at revalued amount, in which case the reversal is treated as a revaluation increase. After such a reversal the depreciation 
charge is adjusted in future periods to allocate the asset’s revised carrying amount, less any residual value, on a systematic basis over its 
remaining useful life.

j) Property, plant and equipment
Cost: All classes of property, plant and equipment are measured at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment charges.

Depreciation: Depreciation is provided on a straight-line basis on all property, plant and equipment.

2011 2010

Leasehold improvements: The lease term The lease term

Leasehold land: The lease term The lease term

Plant and equipment:

Furniture and fittings 5 years 5 years

Computer hardware and software 3 years 3 years

The assets’ residual values, useful lives and amortisation methods are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate at each financial year end.

k) Leases
Leases are classified at their inception as either operating or finance leases based on the economic substance of the agreement so as 
to reflect the risks and benefits incidental to ownership.

Operating leases
The minimum lease payments of operating leases, where the lessor effectively retains substantially all of the risks and benefits 
of ownership of the leased item, are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis.

Contingent rentals are recognised as an expense in the financial year in which they are incurred.

l) Exploration, evaluation, development and restoration costs
Exploration and Evaluation Costs
Costs arising from exploration and evaluation are accounted for in accordance with the ‘area of interest’ method. Exploration and 
evaluation expenditure is capitalised provided the rights of tenure of the area of interest is current and either:

•	 the exploration and evaluation activities are expected to be recouped through successful development or alternatively, by sale; or

•	 where exploration and evaluation activities have not, at reporting date, reached a stage to allow a reasonable assessment 
regarding the existence of economically recoverable reserves, and active and significant operations in, or relating to, the area 
of interest are continuing

When the technical feasibility and commercial viability of extracting a mineral resource have been demonstrated then any capitalised 
exploration and evaluation expenditure is reclassified as capitalised mine development. Prior to reclassification, capitalised exploration 
and evaluation expenditure is assessed for impairment.

Costs carried forward in respect of an area of interest that is abandoned are written off in the year in which the decision to abandon is made.
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Development Costs
Development expenditure represents the costs incurred in preparing the mine at Mt Weld for production, and includes stripping and 
waste removal costs incurred before production commences. The costs are capitalised to the extent that they are expected to be 
recouped through successful exploitation of the related mining leases. Once production commences, these costs are amortised using 
the units of production method based on the estimated economically recoverable reserves to which they relate or are written off if 
the mine property is abandoned. 

Stripping Costs
In mining operations, it is necessary to remove overburden and other barren waste materials to access ore from which minerals can 
economically be extracted. The process of mining overburden and waste materials is referred to as stripping. The Group defers stripping 
costs incurred both prior to and during production.

Stripping ratios are a function of the quantity of ore mined compared with the quantity of overburden, or waste required to be removed 
to mine the ore. Deferral of these costs is made where appropriate, when actual stripping ratios for each campaign vary from average 
life of mine ratios. Deferral of costs is not made when the waste to ore ratio is expected to be consistent throughout the life of mine.

Costs which have been previously deferred (deferred overburden removal costs) are recognised in profit or loss on a unit of 
production basis utilising average stripping ratios. Changes in estimates of average stripping ratios are accounted for prospectively 
from the date of the change.

As it is not possible to separately identify cash inflows relating to deferred overburden removal costs, such assets are grouped with other 
assets of a cash generating unit for the purposes of undertaking impairment assessments, where necessary, based on future cash flows 
for the operation as a whole.

Amortisation
Costs on productive areas are amortised over the life of the area of interest to which such costs relate on the production output basis. 
Unamortised costs are reviewed at each reporting date to determine the amount (if any) that is no longer recoverable and any amount 
identified is written off.

Restoration, Rehabilitation and Closure Costs
The Group is required to decommission and rehabilitate mines and processing sites at the end of their productive lives to a condition 
acceptable to the relevant authorities. The costs include obligations relating to reclamation, waste site closure, plant closure, platform 
removal and other costs associated with the restoration of the site.

The expected cost of any approved decommissioning or rehabilitation programme, discounted to its net present value, is provided for 
when the related environmental disturbance occurs. The cost is capitalised when it gives rise to future benefits, whether the rehabilitation 
activity is expected to occur over the life of the operation or at the time of closure. The capitalised cost is amortised over the life of the 
operation and the increase in the net present value of the provision for the expected cost is included in financing expenses. Expected 
decommissioning and rehabilitation costs are based on the discounted value of the estimated future cost of detailed plans prepared for 
each site. Where there is a change in the expected decommissioning and restoration costs, the value of the provision and any related 
asset are adjusted and the effect is recognised in profit and loss on a prospective basis over the remaining life of the operation.

m) Inventories
Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value. The costs incurred in bringing each product to its present location 
and conditions are accounted for as follows:

Stockpile Ore
•	 cost of direct material and labour and a proportion of amortised development and stripping costs. To the extent ore inventories 

are not expected to be processed within 12 months, they are classified as non-current.

Chemicals
•	 cost of chemicals and associated freight charges.

Work in progress
•	 cost of concentrate in progress and cost is determined primarily on the basis of average costs.

Others
•	 cost of spare parts and consumables.
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n) Intangibles
Capitalised software is initially accounted for at cost. Following initial recognition, the assets are carried at cost less any accumulated 
depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses. The amortisation period is three years. Capitalised software is tested for 
impairment whenever there is an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired.

o) Trade and other payables
Liabilities for trade creditors and other amounts are carried at cost which is the fair value of the consideration to be paid in the future 
for goods and services received, whether or not billed to the Consolidated Entity. Liabilities for trade creditor amounts represent 
liabilities for goods and services provided to the Group prior to the end of the financial year and which are unpaid. The amounts are 
unsecured and are usually paid within 30 days of recognition.

Payables to related parties are recognised at the principal amount. Interest, when charged by the lender, is recognised as an expense 
on an accrual basis.

Deferred cash settlements are carried at the present value of the outstanding consideration payable on the acquisition of an asset 
discounted at prevailing commercial borrowing rates.

p) Interest-bearing liabilities and borrowings
All loans and borrowings are initially recognised at the fair value of the consideration received less directly attributable transactions costs.

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised costs using the effective interest 
rate method. Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are included as part of the carrying amount of the loans and borrowings.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has the unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 
12 months after the balance sheet date.

q) Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the economic entity has a legal, equitable or constructive obligation to make a future sacrifice of 
economic benefits to other entities as a result of past transactions or other past events, it is probable that a future sacrifice of economic 
benefits will be required and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

A provision for dividends is not recognised as a liability unless the dividends are declared, determined or publicly recommended on or 
before the reporting date.

If the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are discounted using a current pre-tax rate that reflects the risks specific 
to the liability. When discounting is used, the increase in the provision due to the passage of time is recognised as a borrowing cost.

r) Issued capital
Issued and paid up capital is recognised at the fair value of the consideration received by the Group.

Any transaction costs arising on the issue of ordinary shares are recognised directly in equity as a reduction of the share proceeds received.

s) Revenue recognition
Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the entity and the revenue can be reliably 
measured. The following specific recognition criteria must also be met before revenue is recognised:

Sale of goods
Revenue received from the sale or disposal of products, material or services during the exploration, evaluation or development phases 
of operations is offset against deferred expenditure in respect of the area of interest or mineral resource concerned.

•	 interest – recognised using the effective interest rate method,

•	 rent – revenue is recognised when the right to receive the rent payment is obtained.

t) Share-based payment transactions
The Group provides benefits to Directors and employees of the Group in the form of share-based payment transactions, whereby 
employees render services in exchange for shares or rights over shares (‘equity-settled transactions’). The Executive and Employee 
Option Plan is in place to provide these benefits. Options granted under this vest over a three year period and have no attaching market 
or performance conditions.

The cost of these equity-settled transactions is measured by reference to the fair value at the date at which they are granted. The fair 
value is determined by an external valuer using a Black and Scholes valuation model.
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The cumulative expense recognised for equity-settled transactions at each reporting date until vesting reflects (i) the extent to which 
the vesting period has expired and (ii) the number of awards that, in the opinion of the Directors, will ultimately vest. This opinion is 
formed based on the best available information at each reporting date. No adjustment is made for the likelihood of market performance 
conditions being met as the effect of these conditions is included in the determination of fair value at grant date.

The income statement charge or credit for a period represents the movement in cumulative expense recognised at the beginning and 
end of that period. No expense is recognised for awards that do not ultimately vest, except for awards where vesting is conditional upon 
a market condition.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as a minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms had not been 
modified. In addition, an expense is recognised for any increase in the value of the transaction as a result of the modification, as 
measured at the date of modification. Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it had vested on the date of 
cancellation, and any expense not yet recognised for the award is recognised immediately. However, if a new award is substituted for 
the cancelled award, and designated as a replacement award on the date that it is granted, the cancelled and new award are treated 
as if they were a modification of the original award, as described above. The dilutive effect, if any, of outstanding options is reflected 
as additional share dilution in the computation of earnings per share.

u) Taxes
Income Taxes
Tax-effect accounting is applied using the balance sheet method where deferred income tax is provided on all temporary differences 
at the balance sheet date between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.

The carrying amount of deferred income tax assets is reviewed at each balance sheet date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer 
probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred income tax asset to be utilised.

Unrecognised deferred income tax assets are reassessed at each balance sheet date and are recognised to the extent that it has become 
probable that future taxable profit will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the year when the asset is realised 
or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset only if a legally enforceable right exists to set off current tax assets against 
current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets and liabilities relate to the same taxable entity and the same taxation authority.

Goods and Services Tax (GST)
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of GST except:

•	 where the GST included on a purchase of goods and services is not recoverable from the taxation authority, in which case the GST 
is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense item as applicable; and

•	 receivables and payables are stated with the amount of GST included.

The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as part of receivables or payables in the 
balance sheet.

Cash flows are included in the cash flow statement on a gross basis and the GST component of cash flows arising from investing 
and financing activities, which is recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority, are classified as operating cash flows.

Commitments and contingencies are disclosed net of the amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority.

v) Employee benefits
Provision is made for employee benefits accumulated as a result of employees rendering services up to the reporting date. 
These benefits include wages and salaries, superannuation, annual leave and long service leave.

Liabilities arising in respect of wages and salaries, superannuation, annual leave, and any other employee benefits expected to be settled 
within 12 months of the reporting date are measured at their nominal amounts based on remuneration rates which are expected to be 
paid when the liability is settled. All other employee benefit liabilities are measured at the present value of the estimated future cash 
outflow to be made in respect of services provided by employees up to the reporting date. In determining the present value of future 
cash outflows, the market yield as at the reporting date on national government bonds, which have terms to maturity approximating 
the terms of the related liability, are used. Expected salary increases and assumptions on the likely period of service are incorporated 
into the calculations.
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w) Government grants
Government grants are recognised when there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and all attaching conditions have 
been complied with.

When the grant relates to an expense item, it is recognised as income over the periods necessary to match the grant on a systematic 
basis to the costs that it is intended to compensate. They are not credited directly to shareholders equity. When the grant relates to 
an asset, the fair value of the grant is released to the income statement over the expected useful life of the relevant asset.

x) Earnings per share
Basic EPS is calculated as net profit attributable to members, adjusted to exclude costs of servicing equity (other than dividends) 
and preference share dividends, divided by the weighted average number of ordinary shares, adjusted for any bonus element.

Diluted EPS is calculated as net profit attributable to members, adjusted for:

•	 costs of servicing equity (other than dividends) and preference share dividends;

•	 the after-tax effect of dividends and interest associated with dilutive potential ordinary shares that have been recognised 
as expenses; and

•	 other non-discretionary changes in revenues or expenses during the period that would result from the dilution of potential 
ordinary shares.

Divided by the weighted average number of ordinary shares and dilutive potential ordinary shares, and adjusted for any bonus element.

y) Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs are recognised as expenses in the period in which they are incurred, except where they are included in the costs of 
qualifying assets. A qualifying asset is an asset that necessarily takes a substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use or 
sale. The capitalisation rate used to determine the amount of borrowing costs to be capitalised is the weighted average interest rate 
applicable to the entity’s outstanding borrowings during the period.

z) Operating Segments
An operating segment is a component of an entity that engages in business activities from which it may earn revenues and incur 
expenses (including revenues and expenses relating to transactions with other components of the same entity), whose operating results 
are regularly reviewed by the entity’s chief operating decision maker to make decisions about resources to be allocated to the segment 
and assess its performance and for which discrete financial information is available. This includes start-up operations which are yet to 
earn revenues. Management also considers other factors in determining operating segments such as the existence of a line manager 
and the level of segment information presented to the board of Directors.

Operating segments have been identified based on the information provided to the chief operating decision makers – being the 
executive management team.

Operating segments that meet the quantitative criteria as prescribed by AASB 8 are reported separately. However, an operating 
segment that does not meet the quantitative criteria is still reported separately where information about the segment would be useful 
to users of the financial statements.

aa) Adoption of new accounting standards
The Group has reviewed new Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations that have been issued but are not yet effective. 
The Company has not adopted any new accounting policies or applied any new accounting standards in the year ended 30 June 2011. 
Management does not expect any such standard to have a material impact on the Group.

ab) Statement of compliance
The financial report complies with Australian Accounting Standards, as issued by the Australian Accounting Standards Board and 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board.

New and revised standards and interpretations applicable for the year commencing 1 July 2010 have been reviewed and it was 
determined that changes were not required to the existing accounting policies adopted by the Group. 

Australian Accounting Standards and interpretations that have recently been issued or amended, but are not yet effective, have not 
been adopted by the Company for the reporting period 30 June 2011. The Directors have assessed the impact of these new or amended 
standards and interpretations and do not consider that these will materially impact the Group.
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2 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise receivables, payables, cash and short-term deposits.

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks; market risk (including currency risk and fair value interest rate risk), 
credit risk, liquidity risk and cash flow interest rate risk. The Group’s overall risk management program focuses on the unpredictability 
of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the financial performance of the Group. 

Risk Management is carried out under the direction of the CFO in accordance with policies approved by the Board of Directors. 

a) Foreign currency risk
Foreign currency risk arises when future commercial transactions and recognised assets and liabilities are denominated in a currency 
that is not the entity’s functional currency. 

The Group does not make use of derivative financial instruments to hedge foreign exchange risk arising from normal operations.

The following table illustrates the Group’s exposure to foreign currencies and highlights the sensitivity allowing for movements 
of +10% and -10% on the AUD/USD and AUD/MYR exchange rate at balance date.

2011
A$’000

2010
A$’000

financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents  

USD 30,082 33,681

AUD 86,131 11,917

MYR 82,092 359,566

Other 106 80

Restricted cash

USD 195,545 –

AUD 40,000 –

Total financial assets 433,956 374,931 

financial liabilities

Interest bearing liability   

USD 212,364 –

Total financial liabilities 212,364 – 

Sensitivity analysis

Post Tax Profit – higher/(Lower)

AUD/USD +10% (928) (2,358)

AUD/USD -10% 928 2,358

AUD/MYR +10% (5,746) (22,882)

AUD/MYR -10% 5,746 22,882

b) Interest rate risk
The Group’s current exposure to interest rate risk is the risk in the movement in variable rates relevant to cash deposits, 
which are not hedged.

The following table illustrates the Group’s exposure to interest rate movements on its financial assets and financial liabilities, 
and sensitivity analysis showing the impact of an interest rate increase or decrease of 100 basis points.
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2 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES CONTINUED

INTEREST BEARINg (fLOATINg)

A$’000 2011 2010

financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents 198,411 405,245 

Restricted cash 235,545 –

Security deposits 3,731 3,330

Total financial assets 437,687 408,575 

financial liabilities

Interest bearing liability 212,364 –

Total financial liabilities 212,364 –

Net exposure to floating interest rates 225,323 408,575 

Sensitivity analysis

Post Tax Profit – higher/(Lower)

+1% (100 basis points) 1,577 2,860 

-1% (100 basis points) (1,577) (2,860)

Equity – higher/(Lower)  

+1% (100 basis points) – –

-1% (100 basis points) – –

c) Credit risk
Credit risk arises from the financial assets/liabilities of the Group, which comprise cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash, trade and 
other receivables, security deposits and interest bearing liability. 

There are trade and other receivables of $4.6million of the Consolidated Entity that are neither past due or nor impaired. The table 
provided under item d) Liquidity risk, illustrates the maturities of the Group’s financial assets and liabilities. 

The Group’s exposure to credit risk arises from potential default of the counter party, with the maximum exposure equal to the carrying 
amount of these instruments. 

The Group trades only with recognised, creditworthy third parties, and as such collateral is not requested nor is it the Group’s policy 
to securitise its trade and other receivables. 

In addition, receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis with the result that the Group’s exposure to bad debts is not significant.
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2 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES CONTINUED

d) Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is managed to ensure that the Group has sufficient assets to meet liabilities as they fall due by maintaining sufficient 
reserves of cash and drawdown of debt facilities to meet forecast cash outlays. Short-term cash flows are re-estimated for the Group 
on a monthly basis with long-term cash flows re-estimated on a quarterly basis.

The fair value of the Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities approximate their carrying amounts.

A summary of cash position less liabilities is shown below:

 
LESS ThAN 12 MONThS 1-5 YEARS OvER 5 YEARS

A$’000 2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010

financial assets

Unrestricted cash 198,411 405,245 – – – –

Trade and other receivables 4,566 1,052 – – – –

Prepayments 1,182 801 – – – –

Restricted cash 235,545 – – – – –

Investment available for sale 9,652 – – – – –

Total financial assets 449,356 407,098 – – – –

financial liabilities   

Trade and other payables 27,965 13,419 – – – –

Interest bearing liabilities – – 156,684 – 86,752 –

Total financial liabilities 27,965 13,419 156,684 – 86,752 –

NET POSITION 421,391 393,679 (156,684) – (86,752) –

e) Fair value risk
The fair value of the Level 1 investment available for sale is calculated using the active quoted market price. 

Quoted market price represents the fair value determined based on quoted prices in active markets as at the reporting date without 
any  deduction for transaction costs. 

f) Capital management
The Group considers its capital to comprise of its ordinary share capital net of accumulated losses. 

In managing its capital, the Group’s primary objective is to maintain a sufficient funding base to enable the Group to meet its working 
capital and strategic investment needs. 

In making decisions to adjust its capital structure to achieve these aims, either through altering its dividend policy, new share issues, 
or consideration of debt, the Group considers not only its short-term position but also its long-term operational and strategic objectives. 
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3 REVENUE

2011
A$’000

2010
A$’000

Interest income 10,006 9,130

Total revenue 10,006 9,130

4 EXPENSES

2011
A$’000

2010
A$’000

Salaries, employee benefits and share-based payments

Salaries and employee costs 17,044 9,090 

Superannuation 943 488 

Recruitment and relocation costs 1,368 787 

Share-based payment expense 9,615 6,057 

Total salaries, employee benefits and share-based payments 28,970 16,422 

Depreciation and amortisation of non-current assets

Leasehold land 292 652

Leasehold improvements 21 12 

Buildings 7 – 

Plant and equipment 511 296 

Subtotal 831 960

Intangibles 125 96 

Tenement rights 264 102 

Subtotal 389 198

Total depreciation and amortisation of non-current assets 1,220 1,158 

Other expenses

Accounting and tax consulting 348 329 

Technical consulting 1,791 541 

Management consulting 4,947 2,358

Legal expenses 938 191

Operating lease expenses 1,393 765

Share registry and listing fees 1,077 402

Travel and accommodation 3,143 2,155

IT expenses 1,373 341

Marketing expenses 662 207

Production costs 5,221 201

Safety, health, environment and community costs 2,251 269

Other 3,871 1,400

Total other expense 27,015 9,159
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5 INCOME TAX

2011
A$’000

2010
A$’000

The prima facie tax, using tax rates applicable in the country of operation,  
on loss differs from the income tax provided in the financial statements as follows:

Operating loss before income tax 57,288 43,041

Prima facie tax benefit on loss from ordinary activities at the Company’s  
statutory income tax rate of 30% (2010: 30%) 17,186 12,912

Adjustments in respect of current income tax charge of previous years (7,204) (4,743) 

Income tax benefit not recorded(a) (9,982) (8,169) 

Income tax (benefit)/expense on interest income incurred by foreign subsidiary 1,798 –

Income tax (benefit)/expense 1,798 –

Deferred tax liabilities:

Investment available for sale 2,365 –

gross deferred tax liability 2,365 –

Deferred tax asset offset (2,365) –

Net deferred tax liability – –

Deferred tax assets:

Costs of equity raising – current year 555 –

Costs of equity raising – previous years 1,810 –

gross deferred tax asset 2,365 –

Deferred tax liability offset (2,365) –

Net deferred tax asset – –

(a)  Net future income tax benefit is not brought to account as an asset unless realization of the benefit is virtually certain.

Tax Losses
The Group has carry forward capital tax losses that arose in Australia of $2,330,089 (2010: $2,330,089) and are available indefinitely 
for offset against future capital gains of a similar nature subject to continuing to meet relevant statutory tests.

The Group has carry forward revenue tax losses that arose in Australia of $100,265,780 (2010: $79,722,411) and are available 
indefinitely for offset against future revenue gains of a similar nature subject to continuing to meet relevant statutory tests.

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent necessary to offset deferred tax liabilities. No deferred tax asset is recognised 
on the balance sheet at 30 June 2011 for any of the remaining carry forward losses.

Tax Consolidation
Lynas Corporation Limited and its 100% owned Australian subsidiaries have formed a tax consolidated group. Members of the Group 
have entered into a tax sharing arrangement in order to allocate current and deferred taxes to the wholly-owned subsidiaries on 
a pro-rata basis.

The agreement provides for the allocation of income tax liabilities between the entities should the head entity default in its tax 
payment obligations. At the balance date, the possibility of default is remote. The head entity of the tax consolidated group 
is Lynas Corporation Limited.
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6 DIVIDENDS PAID

No dividend has been recommended or declared since the end of the previous financial year.

7 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

2011
A$’000

2010
A$’000

Cash at bank and on hand 37,810 40,812 

Short-term deposits 160,601 364,433 

198,411 405,245 

8 RESTRICTED CASH

2011
A$’000

2010
A$’000

Restricted cash(i) 235,545 –

235,545 –

(i) The restricted cash represents loan funds received from the SPC established by Sojitz and JOGMEC, and from the Sojitz Equity Placement. 
These funds are to be used only for capital expenditure on Phase 2 of the Rare Earths Project which is expected to be completed by the end 
of 2012. Further details relating to funds received from the loan facility can be found in Note 20. 

9 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (CURRENT)

2011
A$’000

2010
A$’000

Other receivables 3,893 592

GST receivable 673 460

4,566 1,052

10 PREPAYMENTS (CURRENT)

2011
A$’000

2010
A$’000

Prepaid insurance 165 319

Other prepaid expenses 1,017 482

1,182 801
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11 INVENTORIES

2011
A$’000

2010
A$’000

Current
Stockpile ore 4,117 –
Chemicals 7,094 –
Work in progress 358 –

11,569 –
Non-current
Stockpile ore 17,102 19,470
Chemicals – 4,417
Spare parts and consumables 1,572 –

18,674 23,887

12 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

2011
A$’000

2010
A$’000

Projects under construction 
Advanced Materials Plant (Gebeng, Malaysia) 245,109 110,755
Concentration Plant (Mt Weld, WA) 85,894 35,969
Other capitalised project costs 177 6 

331,180 146,730
Leasehold land(i)

At cost 27,169 31,450 
Accumulated amortisation (839) (652)

26,330 30,798
Leasehold improvements

At cost 249 229 
Accumulated amortisation (170) (149)

79 80 
Buildings

At cost 208 –
Accumulated amortisation (7) –

201 – 
furniture and fittings

At cost 2,900 2,054 
Accumulated depreciation (1,478) (1,133)

1,422 921 
Plant and machinery

At cost 1,221 – 
Accumulated depreciation (89) –

1,132 – 
Motor vehicles

At cost 818 133 
Accumulated depreciation (92) (31)

726 102

Total property, plant and equipment 361,070 178,631

(i)  Consistent with normal land-holding structures in Malaysia, Leasehold Land represents the cost of the leases for the land at Gebeng where the Advanced 
Materials Plant is being constructed. The land is in two leasehold titles and the expiry dates are 3 December 2099 and 30 October 2106 respectively. 
Leasehold Land is amortised over the period of the lease, and the Company is in the process of consolidating the land into one leasehold title.
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12 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT CONTINUED

Reconciliation
Reconciliations of the carrying amounts of property, plant and equipment at the beginning and end of the current and previous 
financial years.

OPENINg
 BALANCE

A$’000
ADDITIONS

A$’000

DE-
RECOgNITION 

Of ASSETS
A$’000

DEPRECIATION
 AND

AMORTISATION
 fOR YEAR

A$’000
TRANSfERS

A$’000

fOREIgN
 EXChANgE

 IMPACT
A$’000

CLOSINg
 BALANCE

A$’000

2011        

Advanced Materials 
Processing Plant 110,755 149,234 – – – (14,880) 245,109

Concentration Plant 35,969 49,925 – – – – 85,894

Other capitalised 
projects 6 171 – – – – 177

Leasehold land 30,798 – – (292) – (4,176) 26,330

Leasehold 
improvements 80 20 – (21) – – 79

Building – 208 – (7) – – 201

Furniture and fittings 921 873 – (369) – (3) 1,422

Plant and machinery – 1,221 – (80) – (9) 1,132

Motor vehicles 102 817 – (62) – (131) 726

 178,631 202,469 – (831) – (19,199) 361,070

OPENINg
 BALANCE

A$’000
ADDITIONS

A$’000

DE-
RECOgNITION

Of ASSETS(i)

A$’000

DEPRECIATION
 AND

AMORTISATION
 fOR YEAR

A$’000
TRANSfERS

A$’000

fOREIgN
 EXChANgE

 IMPACT
A$’000

CLOSINg
 BALANCE

A$’000

2010

Advanced Materials 
Processing Plant 97,671 31,022 (22,700) – – 4,762 110,755

Concentration Plant 22,119 13,850 – – – – 35,969

Other capitalised 
projects 109 – – – – (103) 6

Leasehold land 30,692 – – (652) – 758 30,798

Leasehold 
improvements 49 43 – (12) – – 80

Furniture and fittings 793 608 – (278) (202) – 921

Motor vehicles 70 50 – (18) – – 102

 151,503 45,573 (22,700) (960) (202) 5,417 178,631

(i) A comprehensive review was completed in the prior year to assess whether all of the capitalised project costs in relation to the Advanced 
Material Plant in Gebeng, Malaysia were still expected to provide a future economic benefit or whether some of the capitalised costs should 
be de-recognised based on developments in the prior financial year.

Based on this analysis the Company identified costs of $22.7 million which were no longer expected to render any future economic benefit. 
These costs primarily represent issues around the change in 2009 in the engineering, design and construction management contractor 
which, due the complicated nature of the transition after project suspension, resulted in significant rework and duplicated costs.
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13 DEFERRED EXPLORATION, EVALUATION AND DEVELOPMENT COSTS

Exploration, evaluation and development costs carried forward in respect of areas of interest and Rare Earths processing facilities:

2011
A$’000

2010
A$’000

Capitalised exploration expenditure 2,049 2,846 

Capitalised development expenditure 16,753 16,380 

Deferred stripping asset 4,078 4,078 

22,880 23,304 

Reconciliation

Reconciliations of the carrying amounts of deferred exploration, evaluation and development  
costs at the beginning and end of the current and previous financial years.

Costs brought forward 23,304 25,465 

Expenditure incurred during the year 898 176 

Write down(i) (949) –

Foreign exchange movement (373) (2,337)

22,880 23,304 

(i)  A comprehensive review was completed in the current year to assess whether all of the capitalised exploration, evaluation and development costs 
previously capitalised were still expected to provide a future economic benefit. Based on this analysis the Group identified costs of $949,000 which 
were no longer expected to render any future economic benefit and these costs were written off in the current financial year.

14  INTANGIBLE ASSETS

2011
A$’000

2010
A$’000

Computer software licenses

At cost 758 606 

Accumulated amortisation (412) (291)

346 315 

Reconciliation

Reconciliations of the carrying amounts of intangibles at the beginning  
and end of the current and previous financial years.

Intangibles

Opening balance 315 15 

Additions 156 396 

Amortisation for year (125) (96)

346 315 
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15 OTHER NON-CURRENT ASSETS

2011
A$’000

2010
A$’000

Tenement rights

At cost 6,774 4,200 

Accumulated amortisation (367) (102)

6,407 4,098 

Security deposits

At cost 3,731 3,330 

3,731 3,330 

Total other non-current assets 10,138 7,428

Security deposits relate to cash provided for security bonds issued to secure the mining  
tenements at Mount Weld. The weighted average interest rate per annum was 3.5%.

Reconciliation

Reconciliations of the carrying amounts of other non-current assets at the beginning  
and end of the current and previous financial years.

Tenement rights

Opening balance 4,098  –

Additions(i) 2,573 4,200 

Amortisation for year (264) (102)

6,407 4,098 

Security deposits

Opening balance 3,330 2,202 

Additions 401 1,128 

3,731 3,330 

(i) Additions of $2,573 during the year relate to the acquisition of a mining tenement in Malawi.

16 OTHER INVESTMENTS

Non-current other investment comprises the following and is classified as available-for-sale:

2011
A$’000

2010
A$’000

Listed stock:

Northern Minerals Limited (ASX: NTU)   

Cost 1,769 –

Mark-to-market movement (gross of tax) 7,883 –

9,652 – 

Northern Minerals Limited is a listed company in the Australian Securities Exchange. The fair value the investment is based on quoted 
market prices as at 30 June 2011.
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17  TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (CURRENT)

2011
A$’000

2010
A$’000

Trade creditors and accruals 27,268 12,354 

Other creditors 697 1,065 

27,965 13,419 

Trade creditors are non-interest bearing and are normally settled on 30 day terms. Other creditors are non-interest bearing and have 
an average term of 30 days. The carrying value of trade and other creditors approximates the fair value.

18  PROVISIONS (CURRENT)

2011
A$’000

2010
A$’000

Employee benefits  997  528 

Suspension costs 1,916 4,058

Other provisions 15 –

2,928 4,586

In February 2009, the Company placed the Rare Earths Project into suspension and at 30 June 2011,  
a provision of $1,916,000 has been carried forward to meet specific delay claims from vendors  
and contractors.

Movements in provision for suspension costs

Carrying amount at beginning 4,058 5,303

Increase in provision 701 5,069

Utilisation (2,333) (6,174)

Foreign exchange impact (510) (140)

Carrying amount at end 1,916 4,058

19  PROVISIONS (NON-CURRENT)

2011
A$’000

2010
A$’000

Long service leave 335 239 

Restoration, rehabilitation and closure 3,649 3,276 

Other 25 –

4,009 3,515 

Restoration, rehabilitation and closure costs reflect the estimated amounts that will be incurred, and the 
net exposure to future costs for the closure of the Mt Weld operations, based on disturbance to date.

Movements in provision for restoration, rehabilitation and closure

Carrying amount at beginning 3,276 5,613 

Increase in provision 373 –

Utilisation – (2,337)

Carrying amount at end 3,649 3,276 
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20 INTEREST BEARING LIABILITY

The interest bearing liability is the Sojitz loan facility for US$225 million (AU$212.4 million) provided by the SPC. The proceeds of the 
loan facility will be used solely to fund the completion of Phase 2 of the Rare Earths Project. 

Interest on the principal accrues daily on the basis of the actual number of days based on a 360-day year. The rate of interest for each 
interest period is the LIBOR published quarterly rate plus a margin of 2.75%. 

Principal will be repaid in five equal instalments with the first principal repayment scheduled on 31 March 2015, and the last principal 
repayment scheduled on 31 March 2017. 

21  ISSUED CAPITAL

2011
A$’000

2010
A$’000

Ordinary shares fully paid 821,994 719,857

MOvEMENTS IN ShARES ON ISSuE

2011
NuMBER Of

 ShARES
’000

2011
A$’000

Beginning of the financial year 1,655,499 719,857 

Issued during the year   

Issue of shares pursuant to option conversion 10,600 3,268

Equity raising 47,548 98,355 

Cost of equity raising – (1,851) 

Deferred tax – 2,365

Total share issues during the year 58,148 102,137 

End of financial year 1,713,647 821,994 
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21  ISSUED CAPITAL CONTINUED

Reconciliation of options on issue

uNLISTED ShARE 
OPTIONS

30 JuNE
 2010 ISSuED EXERCISED

EXPIRED/
 CANCELLED

30 JuNE
 2011

EXERCISE
 PRICE EXPIRY

Incentive plan options 7,850,000  – (7,850,000)  –  – $0.11 30 Jun 11

Incentive plan options 50,000  – (50,000)  –  – $0.13 11 Oct 11

Incentive plan options 700,000  – (700,000)  –  – $0.52 29 Mar 12

Incentive Plan options 50,000  –  –  – 50,000 $0.64 4 Apr 12

Incentive Plan options 11,150,000  – (1,800,000)  – 9,350,000 $1.01 25 Jun 12

Incentive Plan options 50,000  –  –  – 50,000 $0.91 24 Aug 12

Incentive Plan options 100,000  –  –  – 100,000 $0.81 2 Jul 12

Incentive Plan options 200,000  – (200,000)  –  – $1.08 15 Oct 12

Incentive Plan options 500,000  –  –  – 500,000 $1.06 31 Dec 12

Incentive Plan options 200,000  –  –  – 200,000 $1.09 30 Apr 13

Incentive Plan options 1,000,000  –  –  – 1,000,000 $0.98 21 Jul 13

Incentive Plan options 14,850,000  –  –  – 14,850,000 $0.81 24 Sep 13

Incentive Plan options 2,700,000  –  –  – 2,700,000 $0.66 24 Sep 13

Incentive Plan options 1,100,000  – – – 1,100,000 $0.16 5 Jan 14

Incentive Plan options 24,500,000 – – 24,500,000 $0.66 8 Oct 14

Incentive Plan options – 1,000,000 – – 1,000,000 $0.66 1 Jul 15

Incentive Plan options – 10,500,000 – – 10,500,000 $1.15 19 Aug 15

Incentive Plan options – 12,900,000 – – 12,900,000 $1.15 19 Aug 15

Incentive Plan rights – 1,908,618 – – 1,908,618 $0.00 19 Aug 15

Incentive Plan options – 1,000,000 – – 1,000,000 $1.60 1 Oct 15

Incentive Plan options – 200,000 – – 200,000 $2.36 13 Dec 15

Incentive Plan rights – 420,000 – – 420,000 $0.00 6 Jun 16

Total 65,000,000 27,928,618 (10,600,000) – 82,328,618 

Terms and conditions of contributed equity:
Ordinary shares: Ordinary shares have the right to receive dividends as declared and, in the event of winding up the Company, 
to participate in the proceeds from the sale of all surplus assets in proportion to the number of and amounts paid up on shares held. 
Ordinary shares entitle their holder to one vote, either in person or by proxy, at a meeting of the Company.

Options and performance rights: Option and performance rights holders have no right to receive dividends nor are they entitled 
to vote at a meeting of the Company.
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22 NOTE TO THE STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

Reconciliation of the net loss after tax to the net cash flows from operations

2011
A$’000

2010
A$’000

Net loss (59,086) (43,041)

Non-cash items  

Depreciation and amortisation of non-current assets 1,220 1,158 

Suspension costs 701 5,069 

Share-based employee remuneration 9,615 6,057 

Foreign exchange (gains)/losses 8,613 (2,337)

De-recognition of assets – 22,700 

Changes in assets and liabilities   

(Increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables (3,514) (906)

(Increase)/decrease in inventory (6,356) (2,877)

(Increase)/decrease in prepayments (381) 97 

Increase/(decrease) in trade and other creditors 14,546 5,545 

Increase/(decrease) in employee entitlements 565 (354)

Net cash flow used in operating activities (34,077) (8,889)

23 EXPENDITURE COMMITMENTS

2011
A$’000

2010
A$’000

(a) Exploration commitments

not later than one year 407 250

later than one year and not later than five years 1,385 1,097

later than five years 1,692 3,550

3,484 4,897

As a condition of the mining tenements held by Mt Weld Mining Pty Ltd, the Group is required to 
spend a minimum amount on the development of those tenements. The commitment represents 
that minimum commitment over the life of the tenement licenses.

(b) Capital commitments

not later than one year 166,600 111,680

166,600 111,680

The Group has issued contracts and orders for the procurement of equipment and services in relation  
to the development of the Concentration Plant at Mt Weld and the Advanced Materials Processing 
Plant in Malaysia. At 30 June 2011 the value of the uncommitted expenditure totalled $73.9 million.  
It is anticipated that this expenditure will all be made within 12 months.

(c) Operating lease commitments

not later than one year 1,760 1,801

later than one year and not later than five years 1,256 2,196

3,016 3,997

The Group has contracts for several operating leases for the business premises occupied by the Company in Sydney, Perth, Laverton, 
Beijing in China, and Gebeng in Malaysia. The Group also has several operating leases for motor vehicles and mobile plant and equipment.
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24 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS AND SUPERANNUATION COMMITMENTS

2011
A$’000

2010
A$’000

The aggregate employee benefit liability is comprised of:

Current

Accrued salaries, wages and on-costs 199 168 

Accrued annual leave 997 528 

1,196 696 

Non-current   

Provision for long service leave 335 239 

335 239 

1,531 935 

25  SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

Employee share option plan
An employee share option plan has been established whereby the Company may, at the discretion of Directors, grant options over the 
ordinary shares of the Company for the benefit of Directors, executives and certain employees of the Consolidated Entity. The options 
issued for nil consideration, are granted in accordance with performance guidelines established by the Directors of the Company, 
although the management of the Company retains the final discretion on the issue of the options. The options are issued for a term 
of five years and are exercisable beginning on the third anniversary of the date of grant. The Directors, at their discretion, may cancel 
options during the vesting period, if employment is terminated with the Company. The options cannot be transferred and will not be 
quoted on the ASX. 

Performance rights
As part of the Company’s long term employee incentive plan, performance rights are granted to selected employees as a component 
of their remuneration. 2,328,618 performance rights were granted during the financial year and they represent the right to receive a 
specified number of ordinary shares in the Company. The performance rights have a three year vesting period and are subject to the 
following conditions:

•	 50% of the performance rights vest if the employee remains with the Company till the end of a three year vesting period,

•	 50% of the performance rights will vest provided the following conditions are satisfied:

1. the Company achieving net positive operating cash flow for the period 1 July 2012 to 31 December 2012,

2. the employee remaining employed by the Company at the end of the vesting period. 

Information with respect to the number of options and performance rights granted to Directors, Key Management Personnel and other 
employees under the employee share incentive scheme are as follows:

2011
NuMBER Of

 OPTIONS
 ‘000

2010
 NuMBER Of

 OPTIONS
 ‘000

Balance at beginning of year 65,000 42,050 

Options and performance rights issued 27,929 24,700 

Options cancelled –  (1,250)

Options exercised or lapsed (10,600) (500)

Balance at end of year 82,329 65,000 

Exercisable at end of year 10,500 19,800 
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25  SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS CONTINUED

Options held at the beginning of the reporting period:

NuMBER Of OPTIONS
 ‘000 gRANT DATE vESTINg DATE EXPIRY DATE

WEIghTED AvERAgE
 EXERCISE PRICE

7,850 30 Jun 2006 30 Jun 2009 30 Jun 2011 $0.11

50 11 Oct 2006 11 Oct 2009 11 Oct 2011 $0.13

700 29 Mar 2007 29 Mar 2010 29 Mar 2012 $0.52

50 4 Apr 2007 4 Apr 2010 4 Apr 2012 $0.64

11,150 25 Jun 2007 25 Jun 2010 25 Jun 2012 $1.01

100 2 Jul 2007 2 Jul 2010 2 Jul 2012 $0.91

50 20 Aug 2007 24 Aug 2010 24 Aug 2012 $0.81

200 15 Oct 2007 15 Oct 2010 15 Oct 2012 $1.08

500 19 Mar 2008 31 Dec 2010 31 Dec 2012 $1.06

200 6 May 2008 30 Apr 2011 30 Apr 2013 $1.09

1,000 21 Jul 2008 21 Jul 2011 21 Jul 2013 $0.98

2,700 24 Sep 2008 24 Sep 2011 24 Sep 2013 $0.81

14,650 24 Sep 2008 24 Sep 2011 24 Sep 2013 $0.66

1,100 5 Jan 2009 5 Jan 2012 5 Jan 2014 $0.16

200 10 Jul 2009 24 Sep 2011 24 Sep 2013 $0.85

24,500 8 Oct 2009 8 Oct 2012 8 Oct 2014 $0.66

65,000

Options and performance rights granted for the benefit of employees during the reporting period:

NuMBER Of OPTIONS
 ‘000 gRANT DATE vESTINg DATE EXPIRY DATE

WEIghTED AvERAgE
 EXERCISE PRICE

1,000 1 Jul 2010 1 Jul 2013 1 Jul 2015 $0.66

10,500 19 Aug 2010 19 Aug 2013 19 Aug 2015 $1.15

12,900 24 Nov 2010 19 Aug 2013 19 Aug 2015 $1.15

1,909 19 Aug 2010 19 Aug 2013 19 Aug 2015 $0.00

1,000 1 Oct 2010 1 Oct 2013 1 Oct 2015 $1.60

200 18 May 2011 1 Oct 2011 31 Dec 2015 $2.36

420 6 Jun 2011 6 Jun 2014 6 Jun 2016 $0.00

27,929

Options expired, cancelled, vested and exercised during the reporting period:

Number of employee options exercised   10,600,000

Number of employee options vested   10,250,000
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25  SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS CONTINUED

Total options held as at the end of the reporting period:

NuMBER Of OPTIONS
 ‘000 gRANT DATE vESTINg DATE EXPIRY DATE

WEIghTED AvERAgE
 EXERCISE PRICE

50 4 Apr 2007 4 Apr 2010 4 Apr 2012 $0.64

9,350 25 Jun 2007 25 Jun 2010 25 Jun 2012 $1.01

50 20 Aug 2007 24 Aug 2010 24 Aug 2012 $0.81

100 2 Jul 2007 2 Jul 2010 2 Jul 2012 $0.91

500 19 Mar 2008 31 Dec 2010 31 Dec 2012 $1.06

200 6 May 2008 30 Apr 2011 30 Apr 2013 $1.09

1,000 21 Jul 2008 21 Jul 2011 21 Jul 2013 $0.98

14,650 24 Sep 2008 24 Sep 2011 24 Sep 2013 $0.66

200 10 Jul 2009 24 Sep 2011 24 Sep 2013 $0.66

2,700 24 Sep 2008 24 Sep 2011 24 Sep 2013 $0.81

1,100 5 Jan 2009 5 Jan 2012 5 Jan 2014 $0.16

24,500 8 Oct 2009 8 Oct 2012 8 Oct 2014 $0.66

1,000 1 Jul 2010 1 Jul 2013 1 Jul 2015 $0.66

10,500 19 Aug 2010 19 Aug 2013 19 Aug 2015 $1.15

12,900 24 Nov 2010 19 Aug 2013 19 Aug 2015 $1.15

1,909 19 Aug 2010 19 Aug 2013 19 Aug 2015 $0.00

1,000 1 Oct 2010 1 Oct 2013 1 Oct 2015 $1.60

200 18 May 2011 1 Oct 2011 13 Dec 2015 $2.36

420 6 Jun 2011 6 Jun 2014 6 Jun 2016 $0.00

82,329

Options granted for the benefit of Directors, executives and employees are issued to the trustee of the Lynas Employee Share Trust  
(the “Trust”). The relevant Directors, executives and employees are issued an equivalent number of share units in the Trust.

During the year, the Company issued 250,000 shares to a consultant in Malawi in return for services provided to the Company. 
The shares were valued at $1.89 per share, which was the fair value at grant date.

26  CONTINGENT LIABILTIES AND CONTINGENT ASSETS

The Company had no contingent liabilities or contingent assets at 30 June 2011.
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27 EARNINGS PER SHARE

The following reflects the income and share data used in the calculations of basic and diluted loss per share:

2011
A$’000

2010
A$’000

Net loss attribute to ordinary shareholders (59,086) (43,041)

Loss used in calculating basic and diluted loss per share (59,086) (43,041)

2011
NuMBER 

Of ShARES
’000

2010
NuMBER 

Of ShARES
’000

Weighted average number of ordinary shares used in calculating basic loss per share: 1,668,999 1,332,579

Effect of dilutive securities:

The number of options which are potential ordinary shares that are not dilutive and hence  
not used in the valuation of the diluted loss per share 82,129 9,700

Adjusted weighted average number of ordinary shares used in calculating diluted loss per share 1,668,999 1,332,579

Basic loss per share (cents per share) (3.54) (3.23)

Diluted loss per share (cents per share) (3.54) (3.23)

Information concerning the classification of securities
Options and performance rights
Options and performance rights granted to employees under the Lynas Corporation Limited Employee Option Plan are considered to 
be potential ordinary shares and have been included in the determination of diluted earnings per share to the extent to which they are 
dilutive. The options have not been included in the determination of basic earnings per share. 

28 SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

LOI signed for Joint Venture with Siemens for Magnet Production
On 7 July 2011, the Company announced the signing of a Letter of Intent (“LOI”) with the German Siemens Drive Technologies Division 
(“Siemens”) to establish a joint venture company for the production of neodymium based Rare Earths magnets. These magnets will 
serve Siemens’s production requirements for energy-efficient drive applications and wind-turbine generators.

The Company will provide raw materials for the joint venture, predominantly a combined neodymium/praseodymium metal, through 
a long-term supply contract. The partnership between Siemens and the Company will secure a long-term and sustainable end-to-end 
supply chain, from mine to magnet, to end application. 

The joint venture company for magnet production will be led by Siemens with the planned shareholding to be 55% Siemens and 45% 
to the Company. 

Letter of Award Signed with Toyo-Thai for Phase 2 Expansion
On 13 July 2011, the Company announced that its wholly owned subsidiary Lynas Malaysia Sdn Bhd has signed a Letter of Award with 
Toyo-Thai Corporation Public Company Limited (“TTCL”) for Engineering, Procurement, Construction and Commissioning Assistance for 
the Phase 2 expansion of the Advanced Materials Plant in Gebeng, Malaysia.

The Letter of Award is for a fixed price lump sum to be agreed between US$180 million and US$210 million. Subject to the receipt of 
all relevant approvals, Phase 2 construction is scheduled to be completed towards the end of 2012. 

The Phase 2 expansion will increase the production capacity of the Advanced Materials Plant to 22,000 tonnes REO per annum.
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28 SUBSEQUENT EVENTS CONTINUED

Lynas Signs New Customer Contract with BASF Corporation 
On 2 September 2011, the Company announced the signing of a new long-term supply agreement with BASF Corporation (BASF) 
for the supply of Rare Earths to be produced at the Advanced Materials Plant. BASF’s Fluid Catalytic Cracking business consumes 
lanthanum and the contract will secure a substantial portion of BASF’s long-term lanthanum requirements. 

Working Capital Debt Facility – Documents Executed
On 22 September 2011, the Company announced that final documentation has now been executed for a working capital debt facility 
in an amount of A$125 million. The facility has a term of approximately 18 months. The lenders are JP Morgan Chase Bank, N.A. and 
Sumitomo Mitsui Banking Corporation.

29  AUDITORS REMUNERATION

2011
A$

2010
A$

Amounts received or due and receivable by Ernst & Young (Australia) for:

(i)  an audit or review of the financial report 177,204 134,702 

(ii)  tax related services 15,813 103,250 

(iii)  transaction and accounting advisory services 6,500 22,866 

199,517 260,818 

Amounts received or due by Ernst & Young (Malaysia) and Ernst & Young (Malawi) for:

(i)  an audit or review of the financial report 55,196 16,084 

(ii)  other services provided 151,255 3,481 

206,451 19,565 

405,968 280,383 
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30 DIRECTORS AND KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL

a) Compensation of Directors and Key Management Personnel

2011
A$

2010
A$

Cash, salary and fees 2,743,114 2,388,447

Bonus payments 300,000 532,500

Termination payments 271,899 340,774

Superannuation 272,221 308,632

Share-based payments 7,650,076 5,129,969

11,237,310 8,700,322

b) Number of options held for the benefit of Directors and Key Management Personnel 

30 JuNE 2011

BALANCE AT
 BEgINNINg 

Of PERIOD

gRANTED AS
 REMuNER-

ATION

OPTIONS
 EXERCISED/
 CANCELLED

NET
 ChANgE

BALANCE AT
 END Of
 PERIOD

vESTED AT
 30 JuNE 2011

A. Arnold 4,400,000 1,500,000 – 1,500,000 5,900,000 –

G. Barr 650,000 200,000 – 200,000 850,000 200,000

J. Brien 700,000 2,500,000 (200,000) 2,300,000 3,000,000 –

N. Curtis 27,000,000 9,000,000 (5,000,000) 4,000,000 31,000,000 5,000,000

D. Davidson 1,900,000 1,200,000 – 1,200,000 3,100,000 –

W. Forde 2,500,000 1,500,000 – 1,500,000 4,000,000 –

M. James 6,250,000 2,000,000 (1,000,000) 1,000,000 7,250,000 2,000,000

J. Klein 1,900,000 1,200,000 – 1,200,000 3,100,000 –

E. Noyrez 5,000,000 3,000,000 – 3,000,000 8,000,000 –

J. G. Taylor 1,000,000 1,500,000 – 1,500,000 2,500,000 –

Z. Switkowski – –  – – – –

Total 51,300,000 23,600,000 (6,200,000) 17,400,000 68,700,000 7,200,000

30 JuNE 2010

BALANCE AT
 BEgINNINg

 Of PERIOD

gRANTED AS
 REMuNER-

ATION

OPTIONS
 EXERCISED/
 CANCELLED

NET
 ChANgE

BALANCE AT
 END Of
 PERIOD

vESTED AT
 30 JuNE 2010

A. Arnold 2,000,000 2,400,000  – 2,400,000 4,400,000  –

J. Brien 700,000  –  –  – 700,000  –

N. Curtis 15,000,000 12,000,000  – 12,000,000 27,000,000 10,000,000 

D. Davidson 800,000 1,100,000  – 1,100,000 1,900,000  –

W. Forde 1,100,000 1,400,000  – 1,400,000 2,500,000  –

M. James 4,750,000 1,500,000  – 1,500,000 6,250,000 3,000,000 

J. Klein 800,000 1,100,000  – 1,100,000 1,900,000  –

E. Noyrez  – 5,000,000  – 5,000,000 5,000,000  –

J. G. Taylor 1,000,000  –  –  – 1,000,000  –

M. Vaisey 2,750,000  –  –  – 2,750,000 1,750,000 

M. Wolley 3,450,000  – (1,000,000)* (1,000,000) 2,450,000  –

Total 32,350,000 24,500,000 (1,000,000) 23,500,000 55,850,000 14,750,000 

* Options cancelled.
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30 DIRECTORS AND KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL CONTINUED

c) Number of shares held by Directors and Key Management Personnel 

30 JuNE 2011

BALANCE AT
 BEgINNINg 

Of PERIOD

RECEIvED
 DuRINg YEAR
 ON EXERCISE
 Of OPTIONS

OThER
 ChANgES

 DuRINg
 ThE YEAR

BALANCE AT 
END Of PERIOD

A. Arnold 1,000  – – 1,000 

G. Barr 2,000  – 828 2,828 

N. Curtis 23,045,758  – (7,000,000) 16,045,758 

D. Davidson 935,000  – (234,172) 700,828 

W. Forde 1,000,000  – 1,656 1,001,656 

M. James 599,000 1,000,000 (447,942) 1,151,058 

J. Klein 2,080,580  – 1,656 2,082,236 

E. Noyrez  –  –  –  –

J. G. Taylor 49,836  – 22,137 71,973 

Z. Switkowski – – 700,828 700,828

Total 27,713,174  1,000,000 (6,955,009) 21,758,165

30 JuNE 2010

BALANCE AT
 BEgINNINg 

Of PERIOD

RECEIvED
 DuRINg YEAR
 ON EXERCISE
 Of OPTIONS

OThER
 ChANgES

 DuRINg
 ThE YEAR

BALANCE AT 
END Of PERIOD

A. Arnold  –  – 1,000 1,000 

J. Brien  –  –  –  –

N. Curtis 27,156,478  – (4,110,720) 23,045,758 

D. Davidson 935,000  –  – 935,000 

W. Forde 250,000  – 750,000 1,000,000 

M. James 650,000  – (51,000) 599,000 

J. Klein 1,580,580  – 500,000 2,080,580 

E. Noyrez  –  –  –  –

J. G. Taylor  –  – 49,836 49,836 

M. Vaisey 500,000  – 450,000 950,000 

Total 31,072,058  – (2,410,884) 28,661,174 

d) Loans to Directors and Key Management Personnel 
There were no loans made to specified Directors or specified KMP during the year, and there were no loans outstanding at 30 June 2011.

e) Other transactions with Directors and Key Management Personnel
There were no other transactions with Directors and KMP.
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31 RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES

Ultimate Parent
Lynas Corporation Limited is the ultimate Parent Entity of the Group.

Wholly-owned Group transactions
Loan
Loans are made by the Parent Company to wholly-owned subsidiaries. The loans are made in the ordinary course of business, 
and are unsecured and interest free with no fixed term of repayment.

As at 30 June 2011 the total amount owing by wholly-owned subsidiaries to the Parent Company was $231,717,278 (2010: 
$78,800,895). This amount is at call and interest free and is not expected to be repaid during the next 12 months. 

32 SEGMENT INFORMATION

Identification of reportable segments
The Group has identified its operating segments based on the internal reports that are reviewed and used by the Executive Chairman 
and the executive management team (the chief operating decision makers) in assessing performance and determining the allocation 
of resources. 

The focus of the Group’s current activities is in the construction of the Rare Earths processing facilities and the operating cost centres 
identified by management are by geographic location. The reportable operating segments identified by management are Malaysia, 
Western Australia and other, which primarily includes costs incurred as part of the head office and Lynas Africa. Financial information 
about these segments is communicated to the executives.

Discrete pre-tax financial information, being expenditure incurred year to date and from the start date, about each of these segments 
is reported to the executive team on at least a monthly basis.

Accounting policies
Segment revenue and expenses are those that are directly attributable to a segment and the relevant portion that can be allocated 
to the segment on a reasonable basis.

The accounting policies used by the Company in reporting segments internally are the same as those contained in Note 1.

The only intersegment transactions within the Group are intersegment loans and receivables. Loans are initially recognised at the 
consideration received excluding transaction costs. Intersegment loans receivable and loans payable that earn or incur non-market 
interest are not adjusted to fair value based on market interest rates.

The segment results include the capitalised allocation of overhead that can be directly attributed to an individual business segment. 

The following items and associated assets and liabilities are not allocated to segments as they are not considered part of the core 
operations of any segment:

•	 finance income;

•	 finance costs; and

•	 net accounting gains on convertible notes.
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32 SEGMENT INFORMATION CONTINUED

MALAYSIA
WESTERN 

AuSTRALIA OThER CONSOLIDATED

A$’000 2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010

INCOME STATEMENT

Segment revenue – – – – – – – –

Segment expenses (13,067) (42,353) (14,712) (2,344) (39,515) (7,474) (67,294) (52,171)

Segment result (13,067) (42,353) (14,712) (2,344) (39,515) (7,474) (67,294) (52,171)

Interest income 10,006 9,130 

Consolidated Entity loss 
from ordinary activities 
before income tax expense (57,288) (43,041)

ASSETS

Current assets 94,824 220,114 5,635 678 350,814 186,306 451,273 407,098 

Non-current assets 272,232 146,186 129,220 77,303 21,308 10,076 422,760 233,565 

Total assets 367,057 366,300 134,854 77,981 372,122 196,382 874,033 640,663 

LIABILITIES

Liabilities (14,368) (9,033) (15,500) (10,379) (217,398) (2,108) (247,266) (21,520)

Intercompany assets/(liabilities) (55,806) (4,665) (140,606) (74,141) 196,412 78,806 – –

Total liabilities (70,174) (13,698) (156,106) (84,520) (20,986) 76,698 (247,266) (21,520)

NET ASSETS 296,883 352,602 (21,252) (6,539) 351,136 273,080 626,767 619,143 

CASh fLOW INfORMATION

Net cash flow from operating activities (6,667) (3,577) (14,401) (2,670) (13,009) (2,642) (34,077) (8,889)

Net cash flow from investing activities (200,020) 104,337 (263,066) (140,232) 264,614 (63) (198,472) (35,958)

Net cash flow from financing activities – – – – 76,591 431,543 76,591 431,543 
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33  PARENT ENTITY INFORMATION

INfORMATION IN RELATION TO LYNAS CORPORATION LIMITED
AT 30 JuNE 2011

2011
A$’000

2010
A$’000

Current asset 345,533 186,307 

Total assets 839,476 621,252 

Current liabilities – 1,870 

Total liabilities 212,364 2,109 

Issued capital 821,994 719,857 

Retained earnings (219,445) (115,661)

Share-based payment reserve 24,563 14,947 

Total shareholders’ equity 627,112 619,143 

Loss of the parent entity (132,817) (16,495)

Total comprehensive loss of the parent entity (132,817) (16,495)

Details of any contractual commitments by the parent entity  
for the acquisition of property, plant or equipment 5,443 2,959 
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Directors’ Declaration

In accordance with a resolution of the Directors of Lynas Corporation Limited, I state that:

In the opinion of the Directors:

(a) the financial statements and notes of the Consolidated Entity are in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, including:

 (i)  giving a true and fair view of the Consolidated Entity’s financial position as at 30 June 2010 and of its performance for the 
year ended on that date; and

 (ii)  complying with Australian Accounting Standards (including the Australian Accounting Interpretations) and the Corporations 
Regulations 2001; 

(b) the financial statements and notes also comply with International Financial Reporting Standards as disclosed in note 1(ab); 

(c)  there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Consolidated Entity will be able to pay its debts as and when they become due 
and payable, 

(d)  this declaration has been made after receiving the declarations required to be made to the Directors in accordance with section 
295A of the Corporations Act 2001 for the financial year ending 30 June 2011. 

On behalf of the Board

N. Curtis
Executive Chairman
Sydney 

22 September 2011
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ASX Additional information

Additional information required by the Australian Securities Exchange Ltd and not shown elsewhere in this report. The information 
is current as at 21 September 2011.

(a)  Distribution of ordinary shares
The number of shareholders, by size of holding, of ordinary shares is:

Ordinary shares

 NuMBER Of hOLDERS NuMBER Of ShARES

1 – 1,000 5,435 3,517,913 

1,001 – 5,000 11,865 34,899,368 

5,001 – 10,000 5,674 43,861,500 

10,001 – 100,000 7,147 196,263,106 

100,001 and over 701 1,435,305,026 

Total on Register 30,822 1,713,846,913 

The number of shareholders holding less than a marketable parcel of shares 1,228 251,129 

(b)  Distribution of Options/Performance Rights 
The numbers of holders, by size of holding, in each class of unlisted options are:

 
vARIOuS DIRECTORS

 AND EMPLOYEES

1 – 1,000 – 

1,001 – 5,000 – 

5,001 – 10,000 – 

10,001 – 100,000 25 

100,001 and over 33 

Total 58 
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(c)  Twenty largest shareholders
The names of the twenty largest holders of quoted shares are:

LISTED ORDINARY ShARES

hOLDER NAME NuMBER Of ShARES
PERCENTAgE Of

 ORDINARY ShARES

1. HSBC CUSTODY NOMINEES (AUSTRALIA) LIMITED 403,806,576 23.561

2.  JP MORGAN NOMINEES AUSTRALIA LIMITED <CASH INCOME A/C> 248,823,836 14.518

3. J P MORGAN NOMINEES AUSTRALIA LIMITED 178,717,900 10.428

4.  NATIONAL NOMINEES LIMITED 149,382,705 8.716

5. CITICORP NOMINEES PTY LIMITED 89,145,387 5.201

6 HSBC CUSTODY NOMINEES (AUSTRALIA) LIMITED–GSCO ECA 68,646,586 4.005

7. MR CONGLIN YUE 11,000,000 0.642

8. JAPAN AUSTRALIA RARE EARTHS BV 10,972,275 0.640

9. NYCO PTY LIMITED <N A CURTIS SUPER FUND A/C> 9,902,673 0.578

10. LANDO PTY LTD <JOHN LOOSEMORE FAMILY A/C> 9,400,000 0.548

11. AMP LIFE LIMITED 8,793,180 0.513

12. ABN AMRO CLEARING SYDNEY NOMINEES PTY LTD <CUSTODIAN A/C> 8,129,264 0.474

13. HSBC CUSTODY NOMINEES (AUSTRALIA) LIMITED – A/C 2 7,600,618 0.443

14.  ALIANA PTY LTD <MARK SUHR SUPER FUND A/C> 7,130,000 0.416

15.  LYNAS CORPORATION EMPLOYEE SHARE PLAN PTY LTD 6,931,606 0.404

16.  SILMAR PTY LIMITED <SUPER FUND ACCOUNT> 5,742,406 0.335

17.  QUEENSLAND INVESTMENT CORPORATION 5,235,314 0.305

18.  COGENT NOMINEES PTY LIMITED 4,557,513 0.266

19.  MERRILL LYNCH (AUSTRALIA) NOMINEES PTY LIMITED 4,252,292 0.248

20.  TECR PTY LTD 2,142,828 0.125

 Total 1,240,312,959 72.365
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(d)  Substantial shareholders
The names of substantial shareholders who have notified the Company in accordance with section 671B of the Corporation Act 2001 are:

 NuMBER Of ShARES

1. Morgan Stanley Investment Management Inc 138,017,267

2. Mitsubishi UFJ Financial Group. Inc(1) 136,463,302 

(1)  A substantial portion of these Lynas shares represent a deemed relevant interest which arises by virtue of Mitsubishi UFJ Financial Group, Inc having 
voting power of over 20% in Morgan Stanley Investment Management Inc.

(e)  Voting rights
All ordinary shares (whether fully paid or not) carry one vote per share without restriction.

(f)  Schedule of interests in mining tenements

LOCATION TENEMENT PERCENTAgE hELD

Mt Weld Rare Earths Project

Mt Weld M38/58 100

Mt Weld M38/59 100

Mt Weld M38/326 100

Mt Weld M38/327 100

kangankunde Rare Earths Project

Kangankunde, Malawi ML 0122/2003 100
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Appendix A – Closed group class order disclosures

Closed group class order disclosures
The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of Lynas Corporation Limited and the subsidiaries listed in the 
following table:

NAME
COuNTRY Of 

INCORPORATION 

% EQuITY INTEREST INvESTMENT A$’000

2011 2010 2011 2010

Lynas Services Pty Ltd Australia 100 100 29,759 –

Mt Weld Holdings Limited Australia 100 100 – –

Mt Weld Mining Pty Ltd Australia 100 100 140,606 73,988

Mt Weld Rare Earths Pty Ltd Australia 100 100 – –

Lynas Malaysia Sdn Bhd Malaysia 100 100 55,806 4,918

Lynas Africa Holdings Pty Ltd Australia 100 – – –

Lynas Africa Limited Malawi 100 – – –

226,171 73,906

Entities subject to class order relief
Pursuant to Class Order 98/1418, relief has been granted to Lynas Services Pty Ltd, Mt Weld Holdings Limited, Mt Weld Rare Earths Pty 
Ltd and Mt Weld Mining Pty Ltd from the Corporations Act 2001 requirements for the preparation, audit and lodgement of their financial 
reports.

As a condition of the Class Order, Lynas Corporation Limited, Lynas Services Pty Ltd, Mt Weld Holdings Limited, Mt Weld Rare Earths 
Pty Ltd and Mt Weld Mining Pty Ltd (the “Closed Group”), entered into a Deed of Cross Guarantee on 27 April 2010. The effect of the 
deed is that Lynas Corporation Limited has guaranteed to pay any deficiency in the event of winding up of the controlled entity or if 
they do not meet their obligations under the terms of overdrafts, loans, leases or other liabilities subject to the guarantee. 

The consolidated income statement and balance sheet of the entities that are members of the Closed Group are as follows:

Consolidated statement of comprehensive income

CLOSED gROuP

 
2011

A$’000
2010

A$’000

Net loss for the period 166,144 19,028

Retained earnings at the beginning of the period 99,574 80,546

Retained earnings at the end of the period 265,718 99,574
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Appendix A – Closed group class order disclosures

Consolidated statement of financial position

CLOSED gROuP

 
2011

A$’000
2010

A$’000

CuRRENT ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents 112,899 185,515 

Restricted cash 235,545 – 

Trade and other receivables 1,590 982 

Prepayments 564 488 

Inventories 5,110 5,110

TOTAL CuRRENT ASSETS 355,708 192,095 

NON-CuRRENT ASSETS

Inventories 18,674 14,360 

Property, plant and equipment 87,904 36,926 

Deferred exploration, evaluation and development costs 19,957 20,381 

Intangible assets 329 295 

Other non-current assets 7,435 7,384 

Other investments 387,658 378,006 

Impairment – intercompany (64,080) (1,748) 

TOTAL NON-CuRRENT ASSETS 457,877 455,604 

TOTAL ASSETS 813,585 647,699 

CuRRENT LIABILITIES

Trade and other payables 15,423 8,303 

Provisions 985  670 

TOTAL CuRRENT LIABILITIES 16,408 8,973 

NON-CuRRENT LIABILITIES

Provisions 3,974 3,515 

Interest bearing liability 212,364 – 

TOTAL NON-CuRRENT LIABILITIES 216,338 3,515 

TOTAL LIABILITIES 232,746 12,488 

NET ASSETS 580,839 635,211 

EQuITY

Issued capital 821,994 719,837 

Accumulated losses (265,718) (99,574) 

Share-based payment reserve 24,563 14,948 

TOTAL EQuITY 580,839 635,211
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glossary

Catalytic Converter A device otherwise known as a ‘Cat’ fitted in the exhaust system of vehicles to reduce the 
emission of harmful gases to the atmosphere. Rare Earths are crucial to the catalytic activity and 
thermal stability of the Cat. A Cat consists of a ceramic structure coated with a mixture of Rare 
Earths and a precious metal such as platinum.

Central Lanthanide Deposit (CLD) High grade deposit of Rare Earths overlying the centre of the Mount Weld carbonatite.

Concentration Plant The Concentration Plant is the facility which employs flotation to process the Run Of Mine 
(ROM) Ore to produce “concentrate”. The higher Rare Earths Oxide (REO) grade concentrate is 
shipped to the Lynas Advanced Materials Plant for further processing.

Cracking A process where Rare Earths concentrate is reacted with sulphuric acid at high temperature which 
‘cracks’ the minerals thus making the Rare Earths amenable to chemical processing. This process 
also referred to as Sulphuric Acid Bake (SAB).

Duncan Deposit The Mineral Resource estimate for the deposit with a higher distribution of Heavy Rare Earths, 
formerly known as the Southern Zone, has increased three-fold to 7.62 million tonnes at a grade 
of 4.8% REO for a total of 366,000 tonnes REO, and has been renamed the Duncan Deposit.

fluid Cracking Catalysts Fluid Cracking Catalysts (FCC) are used in the refining operation of crude oil and is the major 
contributor to “value-add” in the refining process. The process enables the transformation of 
heavy molecules into lighter compounds that make up gasoline and other fuels such as gas, 
jet fuel and diesel.

JORC Code The Australasian Code for Reporting of Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves (the ‘JORC Code’ 
or ‘the Code’) which sets out minimum standards, recommendations and guidelines for Public 
Reporting of exploration results, Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves in Australasia.

LAMPSOn team An alliance between Lynas and the Engineering, Procurement and Construction Management 
(EPCM) contractor, UGL, for the Lynas Advanced Materials Plant (LAMP) was formed this year 
and is known as the LAMPSOn team. The LAMPSOn team has the responsibility for completion 
of the LAMP on time and within budget in the third quarter of 2011.

Lynas Advanced Materials 
Plant (LAMP)

The LAMP is the facility for the cracking and separation of Mount Weld concentrate into 
Rare Earths elements.

Neo Magnet A neodymium iron boron permanent magnet that is manufactured by either polymer bonding 
of neodymium iron boron metal, and where the magnet shape can be easily formed by injection 
or compression moulding (Bonded) or pressing the powder to a shape followed by high 
temperature sintering to form the magnet (Sintered).

Phosphors A phosphor is any material that, when stimulated by electromagnetic radiation, emits visible light.

Rare Earths Name commonly used for the 15 naturally occurring lanthanide elements from lanthanum  
(atomic number 57) to lutetium (atomic number 71) plus yttrium (atomic number 39). 

Rare Earths Direct® or RED Lynas’ trademark representing the value propositions of the RED Model.

REO Acronym for Rare Earths Oxides which is the common form for expressing the Rare Earths 
composition of materials other than metals.

RfSu programme Lynas’ Ready For Start-Up programme consists of 144 internal projects in preparation for 
commencement of operations. The project management of each project is in accordance with 
best practice and monitored closely by our Project Management Office to ensure projects meet 
their objectives in a timely and efficient manner.

Run Of Mine (ROM) Ore Run Of Mine (ROM) Ore is the valuable Rare Earths containing material which can be mined 
and processed in the Concentration Plant.

SEg An intermediate mixed Rare Earths product containing samarium, europium, gadolinium and 
other heavier Rare Earths suitable for use by Rare Earths separation plants for the manufacture 
of individual compounds.

Separation A process of solvent extraction (or liquid-liquid extraction) that is employed to separate 
the Rare Earths from impurities and to separate the Rare Earths into groups of Rare Earths 
elements and individual elements.

Sustainable Development Lynas is committed to Sustainable Development. Sustainable Development is commonly defined 
as development that meets our needs without compromising the needs of future generations. 
Our commitment to Sustainable Development will be equally focused in three key areas – 
Environmental, Community and Economic Development.

Zero harm Lynas is committed to providing and maintaining a safe working environment and preventing 
injury, illness and impairment to the health of its employees, business partners and the 
community. We will continually strive to achieve our goal of Zero Harm by focusing on 
three key areas – Caring Leadership, Safe Behaviour and the Continuous Improvement of 
Management Systems.
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